CcreiD Capital Regional District Victore, BG VBW 1R7

Making a difference...together

Notice of Meeting and Meeting Agenda
Capital Regional District Board

Wednesday, November 13, 2024 1:00 PM 6th Floor Boardroom
625 Fisgard Street
Victoria, BC

The Capital Regional District strives to be a place where inclusion is paramount and all people are
treated with dignity. We pledge to make our meetings a place where all feel welcome and respected.

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. TERRITORIAL ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

3. ELECTION OF CRD BOARD CHAIR

4. ELECTION OF CRD BOARD VICE CHAIR

5. RECESS FOR MEETING OF THE CAPITAL REGION HOUSING CORPORATION
BOARD AND THE CAPITAL REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT BOARD

6. INAUGURAL ADDRESS OF THE CHAIR

7. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

8. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

8.1. 24-1155 Minutes of the October 9, 2024 Capital Regional District Board Meeting

Recommendation: That the minutes of the Capital Regional District Board meeting of October 9, 2024 be
adopted as circulated.

Attachments: Minutes - October 9, 2024

9. PRESENTATIONS/DELEGATIONS
9.1. Presentations

9.2. Delegations

9.21. 24-1186 Delegation - Marcie McLean; Councillor, District of Highlands: Re:
Agenda ltem 10.3. Request to Amend Remuneration for Elected
Officials of the Salt Spring Electoral Area
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9.2.2. 24-1187 Delegation - Michael Kilpatrick; Representing Mayne Island Invasive
Fallow Deer Committee: Re: Agenda Item 10.4. Motion with Notice:
Advocacy on Fallow Deer Issue (Director Brent)

10. CONSENT AGENDA

10.1. 24-1087 Fire Safety Act - Designation of Fire Safety Inspectors and Fire
Investigators

Recommendation: The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That the positions identified in Appendix A be designated as fire safety inspectors and
fire investigators for the electoral areas within the CRD.

(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: Fire Safety Act-Designation Fire Safety Inspectors & Investigators

Appendix A: Table of Designations
Appendix B: Fire Safety Act Q&A September 17, 2024

10.2. 24-1088 Community Emergency Preparedness Fund Grant: Volunteer &
Composite Fire Department Equipment & Training 2024 Application

Recommendation: The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That staff be instructed to apply for, negotiate, and if successful, enter into an
agreement, and do all such things necessary for accepting grant funds and overseeing
grant management for the proposed project.

(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: CEPF Grant: Vol & Comp Fire Dpt Equip't & Training 2024 App
Appendix A: UBCM Vol & Composite Fire Dpt Equip't & Training 2024 App

10.3. 24-1167 Request to Amend Remuneration for Elected Officials of the Salt Spring
Electoral Area

Recommendation: The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That the remuneration for the Salt Spring Island Electoral Area Director and
Commissioners of the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission be retained at
the current remuneration level, and that this be evaluated in 2026 as scheduled and as
part of the regular remuneration review for the 2027-2030 Board term.
(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: Req. to Amend Remun. for EO of the SSI| EAs

Appendix A: Board Remun. & Expense Policy

10.4. 24-1032 Motion with Notice: Advocacy on Fallow Deer Issue (Director Brent)

Recommendation: The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That the CRD Board write to the Province urging they provide sustained funding for
control of the invasive fallow deer decimating island environments and economies.
(NWA)

Capital Regional District Page 2 Printed on 11/12/2024


https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11608
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11531
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3345bf7f-3c23-4da6-836b-da1ff0d90e74.pdf
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=68f76a25-9b9f-4e29-b4dd-db4181c59064.pdf
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8527501b-a831-40cb-9e0d-4a6be1b51852.pdf
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11532
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f261fabb-fbf5-41d7-883f-784077f9f3e1.pdf
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8133062c-a5f5-4cb1-b4c8-b3447134b8ed.pdf
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11588
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f3b29d43-a2a3-462d-bc2d-3590d90c0309.pdf
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8c8f77f2-25c0-4a7b-8ff8-d9198a47aa36.pdf
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11476

Capital Regional District Board Notice of Meeting and Meeting November 13, 2024
Agenda

10.5. 24-1031 Motion with Notice: Boarding House Building Inspection Policy in the
Electoral Areas (Director Holman)
Recommendation: The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That staff report to the Electoral Areas Committee regarding a building inspection policy

with respect to boarding houses in electoral areas.
(NWA)

10.6. 24-943 Regulating Curbside Organics Collection

Recommendation: The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District
Board:
That staff continue implementing the organics diversion strategy as currently outlined in
the 2021 Solid Waste Management Plan.
(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: Requlating Curbside Organics Collection
Appendix A: Previous Staff Report (October 18, 2023)

Appendix B: Options for Organics Diversion and Collection

10.7. 24-960 Regional Canada Goose Management Service - Activities Update

Recommendation: The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District
Board:
That staff be directed to develop increased service levels for consideration in the 2026
service planning process.
(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: Regional Canada Goose Management Service - Activities Update
Appendix A: 2024 CRD Egg Addling Report (September 2024)
Appendix B: 2024 CRD Moult Survey Report (September 2024)

10.8. 24-1021 Motion with Notice: Recycle BC Soft Plastics Multi-family Residences
Pilot Program (Director Caradonna)

Recommendation: The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District
Board:
1. Given that RecycleBC has opted to expand a pilot program to undertake
home-based collection of soft plastics at select multi-family residences across the
region;
That CRD staff report back on the potential to partner with RecycleBC on this program,
and to report more generally on the costs, implications, and potential benefits of the
CRD incorporating home-based collection of soft plastics into the CRD's recycling
program over time.
(NWA)

[At the October 16, 2024 Environmental Services Committee meeting, a motion arising
was carried as follows:]

The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District
Board:

2. That staff provide a report on which private haulers do collect soft plastics from
multi-family buildings.

(NWA)
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10.9.

10.10.

10.11.

10.12.

24-874

Recommendation:

Attachments:

24-923

Recommendation:

Attachments:

24-1078

Recommendation:

Attachments:

24-926

Recommendation:

Attachments:

Capital Regional District External Grants Update
There is no recommendation. This report is for information only.

Staff Report: CRD External Grants Update

Appendix A: External Grants Dashboard

Appendix B: Grant Alerts

2025 Budget for the Royal Theatre Service and the McPherson
Playhouse Service

The Royal and McPherson Theatres Services Advisory Committee recommends the
Finance Committee recommend to the Capital Regional District Board:

1. That the maximum allowable contribution amount of $596,000 be approved for the
Royal Theatre Service; and

(WP- Oak Bay, Saanich, Victoria)

2. That the maximum allowable contribution amount of $750,000 be approved for the
McPherson Playhouse Service.

(WP- Victoria)

Staff Report: RMTSAC Budget 2025

Appendix A: 2023 Audited Financial Statements for the RMTS
Appendix B: 2023 Annual Report for the RMTS

Appendix C: 2025 Budget for the Royal Theatre Service

Appendix D: 2025 Budget for the McPherson Playhouse Service

Provincial Rental Protection Fund Overview and Analysis
There is no recommendation. This report is for information only.

Staff Report: Provincial Rental Protection Fund Overview & Analysis

Development Permit with Frontage Exemption for Lot 1, District Lot 17,
Renfrew District, Plan VIP57304 - 17176 Osprey Place

The Land Use Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That Development Permit with Frontage Exemption DV000075, for Lot 1, District Lot
17, Renfrew District, Plan VIP57304, to authorize a three-lot subdivision and to reduce
the statutory frontage requirement for proposed Lot 3 from 59.97 m (10% of the lot
perimeter) to 16.3 m (2.7% of the lot perimeter), be approved.

(NWP - Voting Block A: JDF EA, Colwood, Langford (Goodmanson), Metchosin,
Sooke)

Staff Report: Development Permit with Frontage Exemption DV0O00075

Appendix A: Subject Property Map

Appendix B: Plan of Proposed Subdivision
Appendix C: Permit DV000076

Appendix D: Riparian Development Permit Guidelines
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10.13. 24-1091 Options for Full Regional and Sub-Regional Performing Arts Facilities
Services

Recommendation: [Atthe November 6, 2024 Performing Arts Facilities Select Committee meeting, the
recommendation was amended to include a mix of regional and sub-regional models
with each option and the potential to report back sooner.]

The Performing Arts Facilities Select Committee recommends to the CRD Board:

1. That staff initiate an RFP to engage a consultant for the purposes of undertaking a
cost-benefit analysis of the five proposed service options, with the freedom to
recommend a mix of regional and sub-regional models within each option, in terms of
their sustainability and direct value proposition to each participating jurisdiction and to
the region as a whole.

2. That the resulting report from this analysis be presented to the CRD Performing Arts
Facilities Select Committee in the first half of 2025 or sooner with recommendations on
next steps.

(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: Regional and Sub-Regional Service Options

Appendix A: Concept Paper on New Service Options

Appendix B: Financial Estimates on Service Options

Appendix C: Presentation on Service Options

10.14. 24-1015 Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan Amendment and
Rezoning Application RZ000284

Recommendation: The Planning and Protective Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional
District Board:
That proposed Bylaw No. 4598, "Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan Bylaw
No. 5, 2018, Amendment Bylaw No. 2, 2024" and Bylaw No. 4599, "Juan de Fuca Land
Use Bylaw, 1992, Amendment No. 162, 2024" be considered in relation to the 2018
Regional Growth Strategy (Bylaw No. 4017) and be accepted in accordance with the
requirements of section 445 of the Local Government Act.
(NWP, All except SGI & SSI)

Attachments: Staff Report: Shirley-Jordan River OCP Amend't & Rezoning App RZ000284
Appendix A: Staff Report to the JAF LUC (October 15, 2024)
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10.15. 24-1024 Motion with Notice: Peninsula and Area Agricultural Commission
(Director Windsor)

Recommendation: [Atthe October 16, 2024 Planning and Protective Services Committee meeting, the
motion was amended to add the following words ", and that staff report back to the
Planning and Protective Services Committee." The motion, as amended, now reads as:
The Planning and Protective Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional
District Board:
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Capital Regional District explores assuming
responsibility of the Peninsula and Area Agricultural Commission as a regional
committee, and that staff report back to the Planning and Protective Services
Committee.
A motion to postpone consideration of the motion was then carried as follows:]

That the item be postponed until after the Alternative Approval Process for the
Foodlands Access Service is completed.

(NWA)
Attachments: Memo: Notice of Motion
10.16. 24-988 Mountain Forest Regional Park - Interim Management Guidelines

Recommendation: The Regional Parks Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That the Mountain Forest Regional Park Interim Management Guidelines be adopted.
(WP - All)

Attachments: Staff Report: Mountain Forest Regional Park - Interim Management Guidelines

Appendix A: Mountain Forest Regional Park — Interim Management Guidelines

10.17. 24-989 Water Safety Pilot Program at Thetis Lake and Elk/Beaver Lake
Regional Parks - Summer 2024 Update

Recommendation: The Regional Parks Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That the Water Safety Program be continued at Elk/Beaver Lake Regional Park and
Thetis Lake Regional Park for the foreseeable future.
(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: Water Safety Pilot Program Update

Appendix A: Personal Flotation Device and Life Ring Loaner Stations

10.18. 24-944 2024 Saanich Peninsula Liquid Waste Management Plan - Technical
Advisory Committee - Terms of Reference Update
Recommendation: That the Saanich Peninsula Wastewater Commission recommends to the Capital
Regional District Board:
That the updated Terms of Reference for the Saanich Peninsula Liquid Waste

Management Plan Technical Advisory Committee be approved as presented.
(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: 2024 Saanich Peninsula Liquid Waste Management Plan - Technic

Appendix A: 2019 TOR for the Saanich Peninsula Liguid Waste Management P|

Appendix B: Updated TOR for the Saanich Peninsula Liguid Waste Managemer

11. ADMINISTRATION REPORTS
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11.1. 24-1178 AAP Requirements for Bylaw No. 4575 - Biodiversity and Environmental
Stewardship Coordination Establishing Bylaw No. 1, 2023

Recommendation: 1. That in accordance with section 86(3) of the Community Charter, the date of January
15, 2025 be confirmed as the deadline by which elector responses, under the regional
alternative approval process for CRD Bylaw No. 4575, must be submitted to the Capital
Regional District by qualified electors within the Capital Regional District;

2. That the attached Synopsis of Bylaw No. 4575 (Appendix B), Notice of Alternative
Approval Process (Appendix C), Elector Response Form (Appendix D), and AAP
communication channels (Appendix F) be approved; and

3. That the total number of registered electors within the service area is 331,937 and
that 10% of that number is 33,194 electors.

(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: AAP Requirements for Bylaw No. 4575 Biodiversity and Environme
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4575 at Third Reading

Appendix B: Synopsis of Bylaw No. 4575
Appendix C: Notice of AAP for Bylaw No. 4575

Appendix D: Elector Response Form for Bylaw No. 4575
Appendix E: Previous Staff Report dated November 15, 2023

Appendix F: AAP Communication Channels for Bylaw No. 4575

11.2. 24-1179 AAP Requirements for Bylaw No. 4602 - Foodlands Access Service
Establishment Bylaw No. 1, 2024

Recommendation: 1. That in accordance with section 86(3) of the Community Charter, the date of January
15, 2025 be confirmed as the deadline by which elector responses, under the regional
alternative approval process for CRD Bylaw No. 4602, must be submitted to the Capital
Regional District by qualified electors within the Capital Regional District;

2. That the attached Synopsis of Bylaw No. 4602 (Appendix B), Notice of Alternative
Approval Process (Appendix C), Elector Response Form (Appendix D), and AAP
communication channels (Appendix F) be approved; and

3. That the total number of registered electors within the service area is 331,937 and
that 10% of that number is 33,194 electors.

(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: AAP Requirements for Bylaw No. 4602 Foodlands Access Service
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4602 at Third Reading

Appendix B: Synopsis of Bylaw No. 4602
Appendix C: Notice of AAP for Bylaw No. 4602

Appendix D: Elector Response Form for Bylaw No. 4602
Appendix E: Previous Staff Report dated September 11, 2024

Appendix F: AAP Communication Channels for Bylaw No. 4602

11.3. 24-1146 Short-term Biosolids Management Plan - November Update
Recommendation: There is no recommendation. This report is for information only.

Attachments: Staff Report: Short-term Biosolids Management Plan - November Update
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11.4. 24-1074 Bylaw Nos. 4627, 4628 and 4629: Updates to Water Supply, Bulk Water
Fees and Charges and Water Distribution Bylaws

Recommendation: 1. That Bylaw No. 4627, "Bulk Water Rates Bylaw, 1977, Amendment Bylaw No. 44,
2024", be introduced and read a first, second and third time; and
(WP - All except SGI & SSI)
2. That Bylaw No. 4627 be adopted.
(WP - All except SGI & SSI, 2/3rds on adoption)
3. That Bylaw No. 4628, "Water Distribution Local Service Conditions, Fees and
Charges Bylaw No. 1, 2013, Amendment Bylaw No. 14, 2024", be introduced and read
a first, second and third time; and
(WP - Central Saanich, North Saanich & Sidney)
4. That Bylaw No. 4628 be adopted.
(WP - Central Saanich, North Saanich & Sidney, 2/3rds on adoption)
5. That Bylaw No. 4629, "Water Supply Local Service Area Fee and Charge Bylaw No.
1, 1997, Amendment Bylaw No. 26, 2024", be introduced and read a first, second and
third time; and
(WP - Colwood, Highlands, Langford, Metchosin, Sooke, View Royal, JDF)
6. That Bylaw No. 4629 be adopted.
(WP - Colwood, Highlands, Langford, Metchosin, Sooke, View Royal, JDF, 2/3rds on
adoption)

Attachments: Staff Report: Bylaws 4627, 4628 & 4629 Water Fee Distribution
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4627
Appendix B: Bylaw No. 4628
Appendix C: Bylaw No. 4629
Appendix D: Bylaw No. 4628 Red Line Version

12. REPORTS OF COMMITTEES

Finance Committee

12.1. 24-1093 Bylaw No. 4645: 2024 to 2028 Financial Plan Bylaw, 2024, Amendment

No. 5, 2024
Recommendation: The Finance Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

1. That Bylaw No. 4645, "2024 to 2028 Financial Plan Bylaw, 2024, Amendment Bylaw
No. 5, 2024", be introduced and read a first, second and third time; and
(WA)
2. That Bylaw No. 4645 be adopted.
(WA, 2/3rds on adoption)

Attachments: Staff Report: Bylaw No. 4645: 2024-28 Fin Plan Amend No. 5
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4645, with Schedules
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12.2. 24-899 Bylaw No. 4643: Revenue Anticipation (General Purpose) Bylaw No. 1,
2024

Recommendation: The Finance Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That Bylaw No. 4643, "Revenue Anticipation Borrowing (General Purpose) Bylaw No.
1, 2024", be introduced and read a first, second and third time; and
(WA)
2. That Bylaw No. 4643 be adopted.
(WA, 2/3rds on adoption)

Attachments: Staff Report: Bylaw No. 4643 Revenue Anticipation

Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4643

12.3. 24-910 Bylaw Nos. 4637 and 4638: Amendments to Operating Reserve Fund
Bylaws Nos. 4146 and 4102

Recommendation: The Finance Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That Bylaw No. 4637, "Capital Regional District Electoral Area Services Operating
Reserve Fund Bylaw No. 1, 2016, Amendment Bylaw No. 5, 2024", be introduced and
read a first, second and third time; and
(WA)
2. That Bylaw No. 4637 be adopted.
(WA, 2/3rds on adoption)
3. That Bylaw No. 4638, "Capital Regional District Regional Services Operating
Reserve Fund Bylaw No. 1, 2016, Amendment Bylaw No. 5, 2024", be introduced and
read a first, second and third time; and
(WA)
4. That Bylaw No. 4638 be adopted.
(WA, 2/3rds on adoption)

Attachments: Staff Report: BLs 4637 & 4638 Amend ORF BLs 4146 & 4102

Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4637
Appendix B: Bylaw No. 4638

12.4. 24-915 Bylaw No. 4635: Amendment to Capital Reserve Bylaw No. 3995

Recommendation: The Finance Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That Bylaw No. 4635, "Fire Protection Services Reserve Fund Bylaw No. 1, 2015,
Amendment Bylaw No. 1, 2024", be introduced and read a first, second and third time;
and
(WA)
2. That Bylaw No. 4635 be adopted.
(WA, 2/3rds on adoption)

Attachments: Staff Report: BL 4635: Amd. to Capital Reserve BL 3995
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4635
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12.5. 24-940 Bylaw Nos. 4632 and 4633: Capital Reserve Fund Bylaws

Recommendation: The Finance Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That Bylaw No. 4632, "Emergency Response Telephone Extended Service Capital
Reserve Fund Bylaw No. 1, 2024", be introduced and read a first, second and third
time; and
(WA)
2. That Bylaw No. 4632 be adopted.
(WA, 2/3rds on adoption)
3. That Bylaw No. 4633, "Juan de Fuca Community Parks Service Capital Reserve
Fund Bylaw No. 1, 2024", be introduced and read a first, second and third time; and
(WA)
4. That Bylaw No. 4633 be adopted.
(WA, 2/3rds on adoption)

Attachments: Staff Report: BLs 4632 & 4633: Cap. Reserve Fund Bylaws
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4632
Appendix B: Bylaw No. 4633

12.6. 24-916 Bylaw No. 4618: Temporary Borrowing (Regional Trails) Bylaw No. 1,
2024

Recommendation: The Finance Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That Bylaw No. 4618, "Temporary Borrowing (Regional Trails) Bylaw No. 1, 2024",
be introduced and read a first, second and third time; and
(WA)
2. That Bylaw No. 4618 be adopted.
(WA, 2/3rds on adoption)

Attachments: Staff Report: Bylaw 4618 Temp Borrowing Regional Trails
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4618

12.7. 24-912 Bylaw No. 4634: Recreation Services in the District of Sooke and the
Juan de Fuca Electoral Area Loan Authorization Bylaw No. 1, 2024

Recommendation: The Finance Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That Bylaw No. 4634, "Sooke and Electoral Area Recreation and Facilities Service
2025 Capital Project Loan Authorization Bylaw No. 1, 2024", be introduced and read a
first, second and third time;
(WA)
2. That participating area approval be obtained for the entire proposed service area by
alternative approval process; and
(NWA, 2/3rds on AAP)
3. That Bylaw No. 4634 be forwarded to the Inspector of Municipalities for approval.
(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: Bylaw 4634 Rec Services Sooke JdF Loan Authorization
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4634
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12.8. 24-1145 Motion Arising Clarification from the 2025 Provisional Financial Plan

Recommendation: [At the October 30, 2024 Capital Regional District Board Provisional Budget meeting,
the below motion arising was referred to the Finance Committee to bring back options
to clarify the wording of the below motion and report back to the Capital Regional
District Board for consideration:

"To direct staff to report back on options to reduce the budget lift for 2026 by 1% at the
next strategic priorities session."

At the November 6, 2024 Finance Committee meeting, the attached staff report
presented 4 options for rewording the motion which the Committee deliberated but did
not recommend any motion directing a 1% reduction for the Board's consideration;
however, the following motion arising was carried:]

The Finance Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That a report providing options and detailing implications for undertaking CRD service
reviews be provided to the May Strategic Priorities meeting or earlier.

(NWA)

Attachments: Staff Report: Motion Arising Clarification-2025 Provisional Fin Plan

Appendix A: 2025 Operating Expenditures and Req

Juan de Fuca Land Use Committee
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12.9. 24-959 Zoning Bylaw & Official Community Plan Amendment Application for Lot
A Section 4 Renfrew District Plan EPP131465; PID: 032-229-046

Recommendation: The Land Use Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That the referral of proposed Bylaw No. 4598, "Shirley - Jordan River Official
Community Plan Bylaw No. 5, 2018, Amendment Bylaw No. 2, 2024"; and proposed
Bylaw No. 4599, "Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992, Amendment Bylaw No. 162,
2024"; to the Shirley-Jordan River Advisory Planning Commission; Pacheedaht First
Nation; T'Sou-ke First Nation; CRD departments; BC Hydro; BC Parks; District of
Sooke; Island Health; Ministry of Forests - Archaeology Branch; Ministry of Water, Land
and Resource Stewardship - Water Protection Section; Ministry of Transportation &
Infrastructure; RCMP; and Sooke School District # 62 be approved and comments be
received;
(NWP - Voting Block A: JDF EA, Colwood, Langford (Goodmanson), Metchosin,
Sooke)
2. That proposed Bylaw No. 4598 be read a first and second time;
(NWP - Voting Block A: JDF EA, Colwood, Langford (Goodmanson), Metchosin,
Sooke)
3. That proposed Bylaw No. 4599 be read a first and second time;
(NWP - Voting Block A: JDF EA, Colwood, Langford (Goodmanson), Metchosin,
Sooke)
4. That in accordance with the provisions of Section 469 of the Local Government Act,
the Director of the Juan de Fuca Electoral Area, or Alternate Director, be delegated
authority to hold a Public Hearing with respect to Bylaw No. 4598 and Bylaw No. 4599;
5. That prior to the adoption of proposed Bylaw No. 4599, the landowner provides an
amenity contribution by registering a statutory right-of-way adjacent to West Coast
Road in favour of the Capital Regional District for the purpose of establishing a public
trail; and that staff be directed to ensure that all conditions are satisfied towards
completion and registration.
(NWP - Voting Block A: JDF EA, Colwood, Langford (Goodmanson), Metchosin,
Sooke)

Attachments: Staff Report: Zoning Bylaw & Official Community Plan Amendment Application F

Appendix A: Location, Zoning, and DPA Map

Appendix B: Proposed Amendments to the C-1A Zone

Appendix C: Updated Concept Plan
Appendix D: Plan of Subdivision SU000770

Appendix E: Environmental Assessment

Appendix F: Groundwater Reports

Appendix G: Bylaw No. 4598 — Proposed Amendments to the OCP

Appendix H: Bylaw No. 4599 — Proposed Amendments to the C-1A

Appendix |: Referral Comments

Appendix J: Project Details

Regional Parks Committee
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12.10. 24-987 Bylaw No. 4640: Amendment to the Capital Regional District Parks
Services and Facilities Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 3675

Recommendation: [Atthe October 23, 2024 Regional Parks Committee meeting, the committee first raised
a motion arising to revise the gradual pay parking increases at Thetis Lake and Sooke
Potholes in proposed Bylaw No. 4640 in 2025 to $5 daily and $40 per season, and in
2026 to $6 daily and $50 per season. The Committee then passed the recommendation
for readings and adoption of the attached Appendix A (Revised): Bylaw No. 4640:]

The Regional Parks Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That Bylaw No. 4640, "Capital Regional District Regional Parks Services and
Facilities Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 1, 2010, Amendment Bylaw No. 11, 2024", be
introduced and read a first, second and third time; and

(WP - All)

2. That Bylaw No. 4640 be adopted.

(WP - All, 2/3rds on adoption)

Attachments: Staff Report: Bylaw No. 4640 - Amendment to Bylaw No. 3675
Appendix A (Revised): Bylaw No. 4640
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4640

13. BYLAWS

13.1. 24-1107 Adoption of Bylaw No. 4596 - Saanich Peninsula Wastewater Services
Loan Authorization Bylaw No. 1, 2024

Recommendation: That Bylaw No. 4596 - "Saanich Peninsula Wastewater Services Loan Authorization
Bylaw No. 1, 2024" be adopted.
(WA)

Attachments: Bylaw No. 4596
14. NOTICE(S) OF MOTION
15. NEW BUSINESS

16. MOTION TO CLOSE THE MEETING

16.1. 24-1160 Motion to Close the Meeting

Recommendation: 1. That the meeting be closed for Legal Update in accordance with Section 90(1)(i) of
the Community Charter. [1 item]
2. That the meeting be closed for Proposed Service in accordance with Section 90(1)(k)
of the Community Charter. [1 Item]
3. That such disclosures could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the
Regional District. [1 ltem]
4. That the meeting be closed for Intergovernmental Negotiations in accordance with
Section 90(2)(b) of the Community Charter. [3 items]

17. RISE AND REPORT

18. ADJOURNMENT
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Votinq Key:

NWA - Non-weighted vote of all Directors

NWP - Non-weighted vote of participants (as listed)
WA - Weighted vote of all Directors

WP - Weighted vote of participants (as listed)
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Making a difference...together

Meeting Minutes

Capital Regional District Board

Wednesday, October 9, 2024 1:05 PM 6th Floor Boardroom
625 Fisgard Street
Victoria, BC

PRESENT

DIRECTORS: C. Plant (Chair), M. Little (Vice Chair), P. Brent, S. Brice, J. Brownoff (1:08 pm)(EP),

J. Caradonna, C. Coleman, Z. de Vries, B. Desjardins (EP), S. Goodmanson, G. Holman, P. Jones,

S. Kim (for M. Alto)(EP), D. Kobayashi, C. McNeil-Smith, K. Murdoch, D. Murdock (1:12 pm), J. Rogers
(for S. Tobias), L. Szpak, M. Tait (EP), D. Thompson, A. Wickheim, K. Williams, R. Windsor

STAFF: T. Robbins, Chief Administrative Officer; N. Chan, Chief Financial Officer; A. Fraser, General
Manager, Integrated Water Services; K. Lorette, General Manager, Planning and Protective Services;
K. Morley, General Manager, Corporate Services; R. Smith, Acting General Manager, Parks, Recreation
& Environmental Services; D. Elliott, Senior Manager, Regional Housing; M. Lagoa, Deputy Corporate
Officer; S. Orr, Senior Committee Clerk (Recorder)

EP - Electronic Participation
Regrets: Directors M. Alto, S. Tobias

The meeting was called to order at 1:02 pm.

1. TERRITORIAL ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

A Territorial Acknowledgement was provided in a preceding meeting.

2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

MOVED by Director Thompson, SECONDED by Director Kobayashi,

That agenda item 6.5. be moved to be considered as agenda item 8.1.b., item
6.6. be moved to be considered as agenda item 8.1.c. and that the agenda be
approved as amended.

CARRIED

3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

3.1. 24-952 Minutes of the September 11, 2024 Capital Regional District Board
Meeting

MOVED by Director Coleman, SECONDED by Director Brent,

That the minutes of the Capital Regional District Board meeting of September 11,
2024 be adopted as circulated.

CARRIED
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4. REPORT OF THE CHAIR

Chair Plant stated that the City of Langford's appointment to the CRD Board
made their appointment to the CRD Boards for two years for Director Szpak
and two years for incoming Director Harder. Director Szpak's last day will be
October 31, 2024 and he thanked her for her service. Chair Plant stated he is
not seeking re-election as Board Chair in November and that he has served as
Board Chair for six years and it has been a rewarding experience. He thanked
directors and staff for their professionalism, dedication, and friendship. He looks
forward to joining the directors around the table under the leadership of a new
chair.

Director Brownoff joined the meeting electronically at 1:08 pm.
Director Murdock joined the meeting in person at 1:12 pm.
MOVED by Director Little, SECONDED by Director Murdoch,
That the meeting be recessed.

CARRIED

The meeting went into recess at 1:24 pm.

The meeting reconvened at 1:27 pm.

5. PRESENTATIONS/DELEGATIONS

5.1. Presentations

There were no presentations.

5.2. Delegations

5.21. 24-1004 Delegation - Jonathan O'Riordan; Representing Mt. Work Coalition: Re:
Agenda Item: 7.3. Short-term Biosolids Management Plan - October
Update

J. O'Riordan spoke to Item 7.3.

6. CONSENT AGENDA

MOVED by Director McNeil-Smith, SECONDED by Director Coleman,
That consent agenda items 6.1. through 6.4. and 6.7. through 6.19. be approved.
CARRIED

6.1. 24-936 Liquid Waste Management Plan Engagement Plan
This report was received for information.

6.2. 24-957 Core Area Wastewater Service Esquimalt Nation Capacity Allocation
Request

This report was received for information.

Capital Regional District Page 2 Printed on 11/8/2024


https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11448
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11380
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11401

Capital Regional District Board Meeting Minutes October 9, 2024

6.3. 24-882 BC Active Transportation Grant - Infrastructure Grant Application - SSI -
Rainbow Road Pedestrian and Bike Path

1) That the Rainbow Road pedestrian and bike path be considered a priority
project.

2) That an application to the Province of British Columbia Active Transportation -
Infrastructure Grant Program for up to $315,000 be progressed for the purpose of
construction of the Rainbow Road Path on Salt Spring Island.

3) That the funding provided through the British Columbia Active Transportation
Infrastructure Grant Program will be supported with up to $135,000 budgeted
from the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission’s Financial Plan; and
4) That staff be instructed to apply for, negotiate, and if successful, enter into an
agreement and do all such things necessary for accepting Active Transportation
Infrastructure grant funds and overseeing grant management for the proposed
project.

CARRIED

6.4. 24-994 BC Active Transportation Grant - Infrastructure Grant Application - Pender
Island, Schooner Way - School Trail

1) That the shovel ready Schooner Way-School Trail on Pender Island be
considered a priority project.

2) That an application to the Province of British Columbia Active Transportation -
Infrastructure Grant Program for $500,000 be progressed for the purpose of
construction of Phase 2 of the Schooner Way-School Trail on North Pender Island
within the required timeline.

3) That the funding provided through the British Columbia Active Transportation -
Infrastructure Grant Program will be supported with contributions from the
Pender Island Parks and Recreation Commission’s Financial Plan; and

4) That staff be instructed to apply for, negotiate, and if successful, enter into an
agreement and do all such things necessary for accepting Active Transportation -
Infrastructure Grant funds and overseeing grant management for the proposed
project.

CARRIED

6.7. 24-851 New Hartland Policies - Quarterly Update

This report was received for information.

6.8. 24-865 Update on Corporate Greenhouse Gas Emissions Targets

This report was received for information.

6.9. 24-870 Climate Budgeting Update

That staff be directed to:

1. Work internally on the elements of Climate Budgeting to understand what new
governance mechanisms would look like in practice.

2. Develop public communications materials, based on the latest greenhouse gas
inventory data, for use by the CRD and local governments that more clearly
communicate the urgency of this policy issue; and

3. Utilize Climate Budgeting approaches in the CRD’s next climate action strategy
planning cycle.

CARRIED
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6.10. 24-873 Solid Waste Disposal: Hartland Landfill Tonnage Report - July 2024
This report was received for information.

6.11. 24-836 Legislative and General Government, Facilities Management Services -
2025 Operating and Capital Budgets

To ask staff to report to Committee of the Whole on October 30th meeting
regarding possible cost-savings in the entire Provisional 2025 budget.
CARRIED

6.12. 24-939 Upcoming Alternative Approval Processes and Communication Options

That staff be directed to include a communications plan in the AAP Requirements
Report that is approved by the Board prior to the commencement of each AAP

process.
CARRIED
6.13. 24-867 Capital Regional District Accessibility Plan
That the Capital Regional District Accessibility Plan be approved.
CARRIED
6.14. 24-942 Regional Resident Survey Progress Report

This report was received for information.

6.15. 24-880 Motion with Notice: Chair Elections (Director Alto)

Whereas annual elections for local government leadership can be disruptive to
operational and strategic decision-making, resolved that the CRD advocate to the
Minister of Municipal Affairs to make changes to the Local Government Act to
allow for 2-year terms for Regional District Board Chairs and Vice-chairs.
CARRIED

6.16. 24-860 Designation of Watershed Security Officers

Appoint Nathan Prenger as Watershed Security Officer for the purpose of Section
233 of the Local Government Act and Section 28(3) of the Offence Act, and in
accordance with Capital Regional District Bylaw No. 2681.

CARRIED

6.17. 24-868 Safety on Multi-Use Trails

1. That staff engage a consultant to develop a study to build on previous efforts
and provide recommendations to further enhance safety on the CRD’s multi-use
trails in light of the evolving characteristics of trail users, including the increasing
prevalence of motorized personal mobility devices, such as e-bikes.

2. That staff report back to the Regional Parks Committee on the findings of the
safety study through bi-annual Regional Trestle Renewal, Trail Widening and
Lighting Project updates.

CARRIED

Capital Regional District Page 4 Printed on 11/8/2024


https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11317
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11280
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11383
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11311
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11386
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11324
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11304
https://crd.ca.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=11312

Capital Regional District Board Meeting Minutes October 9, 2024

6.18. 24-757 Motion with Notice: Island View Beach Regional Park Boat Launch
(Director Windsor)

Be it resolved that staff reexamine and report to the Regional Parks Committee
on the feasibility of reconstructing the marine access ramp at Island View Beach
regional park as a regional asset including all necessary steps (permits, etc) and
consulting Tsawout First Nation and other relevant stakeholders.

CARRIED

6.19. 24-955 2024 Committee and External Membership Appointments - Update #5

This report was received for information.

7. ADMINISTRATION REPORTS

71. 24-964 CAO Quarterly Progress Report No. 3, 2024

T. Robbins presented Item 7.1. for information.

7.2. 24-937 CRD Evolves 2024-2025

T. Robbins presented Item 7.2. for information.

7.3. 24-935 Short-term Biosolids Management Plan - October Update

R. Smith presented Item 7.3. for information.

Discussion ensued regarding:

- alternative plans if primary operator is not available

- short-term storage issues in rainy weather

- planned annual maintenance cycles related to market driven limitations

- storage capacity of contractors facility in Richmond

- procurement process for thermal processing and options for multiple waste
streams and integrated resource management

7.4. 24-903 Bylaw No. 4644: 2024 to 2028 Financial Plan Bylaw, 2024, Amendment
No. 4, 2024

N. Chan spoke to Item 7.4.

MOVED by Director Brice, SECONDED by Director Jones,

1. That Bylaw No. 4644, “2024 to 2028 Financial Plan Bylaw, 2024, Amendment
Bylaw No. 4, 2024”, be introduced and read a first, second, and third time.
CARRIED

MOVED by Director Brice, SECONDED by Director Jones,
2. That Bylaw No. 4644 be adopted.
CARRIED

8. REPORTS OF COMMITTEES
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Electoral Areas Committee

8.1. 24-827 Bylaw No. 4631: Tax Exemption (Permissive) Bylaw, 2024

MOVED by Director Brent, SECONDED by Director Holman,

1. That Bylaw No. 4631, “Tax Exemption (Permissive) Bylaw, 2024”, be
introduced and read a first, second and third time.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Brent, SECONDED by Director Holman,
2. That Bylaw No. 4631 be adopted.
CARRIED

8.1.b. 24-892 Motion with Notice: SSI Electoral Area Director and Local Community
Commissioners Remuneration (Director Holman)

Discussion ensued regarding:

- future implications of changes to remuneration

- change in Electoral Area Director workload since commission establishment
- clarification of the proposed income amounts

MOVED by Director Brent, SECONDED by Director Holman,

WHEREAS the newly-established Salt Spring Island Local Community
Commission (LCC) has now assumed responsibility for the administration of most
local Salt Spring services that were formerly the sole responsibility of the local
CRD Director;

THEREFORE be it resolved that staff report back to the Electoral Areas Committee
on the policy implications on the remuneration for the Salt Spring Island CRD
Director and LCC Commissioners being revised to better reflect the shift in
responsibilities, by reducing the Director’s annual remuneration by $10,000 per
year and increasing LCC Commissioner annual remuneration by $2,500 per year,
starting in 2025.

MOVED by Director de Vries, SECONDED by Director Caradonna,

That the main motion be amended by:

- add the words "options and" after the word "policy”

- adding the word "including” before the words "by reducing”

CARRIED

Opposed: Brownoff, Coleman, Desjardins, Jones, Kobayashi, Murdoch, Rogers,
Williams, Windsor

The question was called on the main motion as amended:

WHEREAS the newly-established Salt Spring Island Local Community
Commission (LCC) has now assumed responsibility for the administration of most
local Salt Spring services that were formerly the sole responsibility of the local
CRD Director;

THEREFORE be it resolved that staff report back to the Electoral Areas Committee
on the policy options and implications on the remuneration for the Salt Spring
Island CRD Director and LCC Commissioners being revised to better reflect the
shift in responsibilities, including by reducing the Director’s annual remuneration
by $10,000 per year and increasing LCC Commissioner annual remuneration by
$2,500 per year, starting in 2025.

CARRIED
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8.1.c. 24-893 Motion with Notice: Advocacy to Province for Rural Housing Stream
(Director Brent)

MOVED by Director Brent, SECONDED by Director Holman,

WHEREAS housing needs are critical in rural communities and coastal islands,
and rural housing projects which have applied for BC Housing support have not
received it;

THEREFORE the CRD Board resolves to send a letter to the Premier and Minister
of Housing, after the election, calling on the Province to consider creating a rural
housing stream and supports to facilitate construction of projects suited with the
unique constraints of rural housing.

CARRIED

Juan de Fuca Land Use Committee

8.2. 24-842 Zoning Bylaw Amendment Application for That Part of Section 90, Renfrew
District, Shown Outlined in Red on Plan 913R Lying to the South of the
Southerly Boundary of Plan 503RW and to the West of a Boundary Parallel
to and Perpendicularly Distant 575 Feet from the Easterly Boundary of that
Part of Said Section Shown Outlined in Red on Said Plan 913R, Except
Part in Plan VIP80043 (PID: 009-592-130) - 9285 Invermuir Road

MOVED by Director Wickheim, SECONDED by Director Kobayashi,

1. That the referral of proposed Bylaw No. 4616, "Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw,
1992, Amendment Bylaw No. 166, 2024", to the Shirley-Jordan River Advisory
Planning Commission; CRD departments; Pacheedaht First Nation; T’'Sou-ke First
Nation; BC Hydro; District of Sooke; Island Health; Ministry of Forests -
Archaeology Branch; Ministry of Forests - Water Protection Section; Ministry of
Water, Land and Resource Stewardship; Ministry of Transportation &
Infrastructure; RCMP; and Sooke School District #62 be approved and the
comments received.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Wickheim, SECONDED by Director Kobayashi,

2. That proposed Bylaw No. 4616 be introduced and read a first, second and third
time.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Wickheim, SECONDED by Director Kobayashi,

3. That adoption of proposed Bylaw No. 4616 be withheld pending receipt by the
CRD of a Preliminary Layout Review from the Ministry of Transportation and
Infrastructure for subdivision application SU000766.

CARRIED
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8.3. 24-841 Zoning Bylaw Amendment Application That Part of Lot 2, Section 60,
Renfrew District, Plan 6764 Lying to the South of the 66 Foot Road
Dedicated by Said Plan (PID: 003-175-201) - 9333 Invermuir Road

MOVED by Director Wickheim, SECONDED by Director Kobayashi,

1. That the referral of proposed Bylaw No. 4615, "Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw,
1992, Amendment Bylaw No. 165, 2024", to the Shirley-Jordan River Advisory
Planning Commission; CRD departments; Pacheedaht First Nation; T’'Sou-ke First
Nation; BC Hydro; District of Sooke; Island Health; Ministry of Forests -
Archaeology Branch; Ministry of Forests - Water Protection Section; Ministry of
Water, Land and Resource Stewardship; Ministry of Transportation &
Infrastructure; RCMP; and Sooke School District #62 be approved and the
comments received.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Wickheim, SECONDED by Director Kobayashi,

2. That proposed Bylaw No. 4615 be introduced and read a first, second and third
time.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Wickheim, SECONDED by Director Kobayashi,

3. That adoption of proposed Bylaw No. 4615 be withheld pending receipt by the
CRD of a Preliminary Layout Review from the Ministry of Transportation and
Infrastructure for subdivision application SU000763.

CARRIED

9. BYLAWS

There were no bylaws for consideration.

10. NOTICE(S) OF MOTION

10.1. 24-1020 Notice of Motion: Recycle BC Soft Plastics Multi-family Residences Pilot
Program (Director Caradonna)

Director Caradonna proposed the following Notice of Motion for consideration at
the next meeting of the Environmental Services Committee:

“Given that RecycleBC has opted to expand a pilot program to undertake
home-based collection of soft plastics at select multi-family residences across
the region;

That CRD staff report back on the potential to partner with RecycleBC on this
program, and to report more generally on the costs, implications, and potential
benefits of the CRD incorporating home-based collection of soft plastics into the
CRD'’s recycling program over time.”
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10.2. 24-1022 Notice of Motion: Peninsula and Area Agricultural Commission (Director
Windsor)

Director Windsor proposed the following Notice of Motion for consideration at
the next meeting of the Planning and Protective Services Committee:

"THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Capital Regional District explores
assuming responsibility of the Peninsula and Area Agricultural Commission as
a regional committee.”

11. NEW BUSINESS

There was no new business.

12. MOTION TO CLOSE THE MEETING

121. 24-953 Motion to Close the Meeting

Meeting went into Recess

MOVED by Director Little, SECONDED by Director Murdoch,

1. That the meeting be closed for Appointments in accordance with Section 90(1)
(a) of the Community Charter.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Little, SECONDED by Director Murdoch,

2. That the meeting be closed for Labour Relations in accordance with Section
90(1)(c) of the Community Charter.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Little, SECONDED by Director Murdoch,

3. That the meeting be closed for Land Acquisition in accordance with Section
90(1)(e) of the Community Charter.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Little, SECONDED by Director Murdoch,

4. That such disclosures could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of
the Regional District.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Little, SECONDED by Director Murdoch,

5. That the meeting be closed for the Legal Update in accordance with Section
90(1)(i) of the Community Charter.

CARRIED

MOVED by Director Little, SECONDED by Director Murdoch,

6. That the meeting be closed for Intergovernmental Negotiations in accordance
with Section 90(2)(b) of the Community Charter.

CARRIED

The Capital Regional District Board moved to the Closed Session at 2:31 pm.
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13. RISE AND REPORT

The Capital Regional District Board rose from the closed session at 4:44 pm
without report.

14. ADJOURNMENT

MOVED by Director Little, SECONDED by Director McNeil-Smith,

That the October 9, 2024 Capital Regional District Board meeting be adjourned at
4:44 pm.

CARRIED

CHAIR

CERTIFIED CORRECT:

CORPORATE OFFICER
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REPORT TO ELECTORAL AREAS COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2024

SUBJECT: Fire Safety Act— Designation of Fire Safety Inspectors and Fire Investigators

ISSUE SUMMARY

To designate positions to serve as fire safety inspectors and fire investigators for the Capital
Regional District (CRD) in accordance with the Fire Safety Act (FSA).

BACKGROUND

The FSA, which received Royal Assent in 2016, was finally brought into force as of August 1,
2024, superseding and replacing the Fire Services Act. Under the FSA, the CRD must designate
fire safety inspectors and investigators. As of August 1, 2024 there is a one-year transition period
for the CRD to train designated inspectors and investigators before they will be required to meet
the standards established by the Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC).

The FSA obliges the CRD to provide border-to-border fire inspection capabilities and fire
investigation services which is a new requirement for all regional districts.

The FSA:

e does not provide a mechanism for regional districts that would entitle them to bypass the
ordinary obligation under the Local Government Act to establish a service area to
authorize, requisition for and provide a new service.

e does not currently recognize improvement districts for the purposes of the FSA.
Improvement Districts have requested the ability to appoint investigators and inspectors.
An update from the OFC is expected toward the end of this year.

Designation of Fire Inspectors

The CRD Board, as a local authority, must “designate in writing persons or a class of persons as
fire inspectors to conduct fire safety inspections”. Any person or class of persons so designated
must meet the “applicable standards established by the fire commissioner”. For a regional district,
the designations that it makes must, in aggregate, cover the entirety (geographically) of the
unincorporated areas for which it is responsible.

Under section 9 of the FSA, any person designated as a Fire Inspector may undertake a fire
safety inspection “for the purpose of determining compliance with the FSA or regulations in the
following circumstances”:

on receiving a complaint;

if believed advisable by the Fire Inspector, without receiving a complaint;

on the request of an owner or occupier of premises; and

as part of any compliance monitoring program that may be established by a regional
district.
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Designation of Fire Investigators

The CRD Board, as a local authority, must “designate in writing persons or a class of persons as
fire investigators to conduct fire investigations”. Any person or class of persons designated must
meet the “applicable standards established by the fire commissioner”. For a regional district, the
designations that it makes must, in aggregate, cover the entirety (geographically) of the
unincorporated areas for which it is responsible.

Under section 26 of the FSA, fire investigators are granted broader powers than fire inspectors.
They may enter property or premises at any time in connection with an investigation, including
land or premises where the fire has occurred, or which are proximate to the incident, to conduct
the investigation. Fire investigators have a wide range of authority in connection with their
investigations, as detailed in the FSA.

Challenges for the CRD

1. The FSA fails to recognize that regional districts:
e generally, do not have border-to-border fire service areas;
e must create a service area to authorize, requisition for and fund a service; and
e are not permitted to have service area residents subsidize the provision of services to non-
service area residents.

2. The FSA does not currently define an improvement district as a “local authority” — as such,
the fire service areas covered by improvement districts may technically be treated as falling
within the responsibility of the relevant regional district. This information will be updated by
the OFC toward the end of this year.

Appointment Process

The designation of fire inspectors and fire investigators in existing local fire service areas can be
done by Board policy as the service authorizations include “fire prevention” services.

As such, the CRD may:

e designate a fire services manager (or fire services coordinator or regional fire chief), as
both a Fire Inspector and Fire Investigator to provide such services within each fire service
area in the regional district; and/or

e designate one or more positions within each regional district fire department as a Fire
Inspector and Fire Investigator within the relevant service area protected by that fire
department.

Service Levels

For most regional districts, “Fire Inspection Services” will comprise of (and be limited to)
inspections on complaint. This approach is also known as providing “reactive” inspection services.

Municipal local authorities are required to deliver “proactive” inspection services. Under the FSA,
a local authority that provides proactive inspection programs are now required to implement
“compliance monitoring” programs.

The CRD Board can elect to increase service levels and provide “proactive” inspection or
“‘compliance monitoring” services. For reasons of firefighter safety some CRD fire chiefs have
expressed support to commence the delivery of “proactive” inspection services within their
respective local fire service areas.
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Staff will report back in Q2 2025 regarding recommended inspection service levels for each of the
11 CRD Local Fire Service Areas.

Funding Options

While it is possible for a regional district to designate a regional fire services manager (or similar
position) as being a Fire Inspector and Fire Investigator on a border-to-border basis, it is not clear
at this time how that role will be funded outside of the established CRD local fire service areas.

Staff are investigating and will report back on the following two possibilities for addressing this
situation:

1. Establish an overarching service area (similar to that typically created for regional district
emergency program services) to fund the provision of these services. This new service
area:

a) could cover all the unincorporated areas of the regional district; or
b) only cover those portions that lie outside of existing fire service areas as existing
budgets can be used with local fire service areas

2. Effect a region-wide designation for the fire services manager (or similar position) and, by
bylaw, levy a cost-recovery fee for each fire safety inspection and fire investigation against
relevant property owners living outside of an existing fire service area.

ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1

The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That the positions identified in Appendix A be designated as fire safety inspectors and fire
investigators for the electoral areas within the CRD.

Alternative 2
That this report be referred back to staff for additional information based on Electoral Areas
Committee direction.

IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

If the CRD designated personnel are unavailable or require support, the CRD may initiate a
request for support from OFC at no cost to the CRD. The OFC has stated that this arrangement
will be evaluated on an ongoing basis.

At this time, it is not clear how inspection and investigation services will be funded outside of
established local fire services areas. Staff will report back in Q2 2025 with funding options.

Service Delivery Implications

The biggest challenge for the CRD arises from those areas that lie outside of an existing local fire
service area. The stated current policy of the OFC is that it will perform inspections or undertake
fire investigations in unincorporated areas of regional districts, however that does not relieve the
CRD of the obligation to make the appropriate designations under the FSA.

It also puts the CRD at risk should the policy initiative be altered or reversed by the OFC at some

point in the future. Staff will report back in Q2 2025 regarding the provision of inspection and
investigation services outside of the 11 CRD Local Fire Service Areas.
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CONCLUSION

The CRD Board, as a local authority, must “designate in writing persons or a class of persons as
fire inspectors to conduct fire safety inspections”. This report is intended to comply with the FSA
deadline to designate inspectors and investigators within the CRD. The obligation to provide
border-to-border fire inspection capabilities and fire investigation services presents some
challenges as at this time it is not clear how these new services will be funded outside of
established local fire services areas.

RECOMMENDATION

The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That the positions identified in Appendix A be designated as fire safety inspectors and fire
investigators for the electoral areas within the CRD.

Submitted by:|Shawn Carby, Senior Manager, Protective Services

Concurrence: |Kevin Lorette, P. Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services
Concurrence: |Kristen Morley, J.D., General Manager, Corporate Services & Corporate Officer
Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENTS

Appendix A — Table of Designations
Appendix B — Fire Safety Act Q&A September 17, 2024
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Appendix A

Designation of Fire Inspectors and Fire Investigators for the Capital Regional District

effective November 13, 2024

Position Scope Inspector and
Investigator Role

Manager, Fire Services All Electoral Areas Primary

Fire Services Coordinator (Contractor) | All Electoral Areas Secondary

Fire Smart Coordinator (Contractor) All Electoral Areas Secondary

Otter Point Fire Chief Juan de Fuca Secondary

East Sooke Fire Chief Juan de Fuca Secondary
Pender Island Fire Department * Southern Gulf Island Secondary
Galiano Island Fire Chief Southern Gulf Island Secondary

* Subject to an agreement between CRD and the Pender Island Fire Protection Society
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Appendix B

Fire Safety Act
Questions and Answers
Date Revised: September 17, 2024
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Change Summary

Note: Changes as of September 17, 2024, are reflected in highlight. Only significant
changes have been highlighted.

Date Version Question Number Change

August 19, 2024 #14 Update: Second bullet
added to provide
additional information
about the designation
template and clarified
that the template does
not need to be returned
to the Office of the Fire
Commissioner (OFQ).
August 19, 2024 #15 New: Addresses if a local
authority can designate a
contractor to be a fire
inspector or fire
investigator. Also advises
that the Fire Safety Act
Inspector Standard and
the Fire Safety Act
Investigator Standard
and associated PLARS are
on the OFC's website.
August 19, 2024 #16 New: Outlines if an
improvement district can
designate fire inspectors
or fire investigators.
August 19, 2024 #18 New: Provides a brief
response to address if a
local authority needs to
adjust their bylaws to
designated fire
inspectors and/or fire
investigators.

August 19, 2024 #24 New: Addresses if there
is a requirement for a




regional district to
identify a public building.

August 19, 2024

#27

Update: Added/adjusted
copy for clarity.

August 19, 2024

#28

Update: Clarified that
this question was related
to an independent fire
department, not a
volunteer fire
department.

August 19, 2024

#30

Update: Advises that the
Fire Safety Act Inspector
Standard and the Fire
Safety Act Investigator
Standard and associated
PLARS are on the OFC’s
website.

August 19, 2024

#32

Update: Advises that the
Fire Safety Act Inspector
Standard and the Fire
Safety Act Investigator
Standard and associated
PLARS are on the OFC’s
website.

August 19, 2024

#43

Update: Added last
bullet for clarity.

August 19, 2024

#45

Updated: Clarified that
local assistant to the fire
commissioner (LAFC)
training and transfers
and renewals will no
longer be done as of
August 1, 2024, and
added clarity regarding
the return of the LAFC
badges.

August 19, 2024

#47

Update: Added last
bullet for clarity.




August 19, 2024

#48

New: Outlines if Local
Assistants to Fire
Commissioner can still
complete fire inspections
and fire investigations.
Also advises that the Fire
Safety Act Inspector
Standard and the Fire
Safety Act Investigator
Standard and associated
PLARS are on the OFC's
website.

August 19, 2024

#49

New: Addresses
insurance company
reporting.

September 17, 2024

#22

Added clarity on what
Federal buildings
could/could not be
inspected.

September 17, 2024

#45

Added request to include
a letter that reflects the
LAFC name and badge
number and the sending
department’'s name when
return a badge.




Background

This Question and Answer (Q&A) document is a living document and will be
updated regularly. The Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) will endeavour to
notify partners when the Q&A is updated. However, we suggest that you check
back regularly for updates.

The OFC has attempted to place the subject matter in the appropriate category.
However, given that there is crossover, please review the entire document.

If you have a question that is not included in this Q&A, please email it
to: OFC@gov.bc.ca

The Fire Safety Act (FSA) legislation can be located here.

The Office of the Fire Commissioner

1. What is the role of the Office of the Fire Commissioner?

e The Office of the Fire Commissioner’'s (OFC) mandate is to minimize the loss
of life, injury, and damage to property from fire by administering and
enforcing British Columbia’s fire safety legislation and regulations.

e The OFC leads provincial fire prevention and fire reporting programs,
promotes fire safety awareness and establishes minimum training
standards for fire inspectors, fire investigators and fire services personnel.
The OFC also provides structure fire expertise and coordinates fire services
during emergencies.

e The Fire Safety Act (FSA) establishes the powers and duties of the fire
commissioner who is responsible for administering the FSA and its
regulations.

e The fire commissioner must also establish standards for fire inspectors and
fire investigators, who are required to be designated by the local authority
under the FSA.

2. What is the role of the Office of the Fire Commissioner, fire service
advisors?


mailto:OFC@gov.bc.ca
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/16019

e The Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) has regionally located fire service
advisors throughout the province.

o Fire service advisors are knowledgeable fire safety experts who can assist
with any aspect of the Fire Safety Act (FSA).

e They are also delegated by the fire commissioner as fire inspectors and fire
investigators under the FSA and are appropriately trained to the published
standard for each function - meaning they may conduct inspections and
investigations in any area of the province when requested.

o All OFC fire service advisors have worked in the fire services field for several
years and have established collaborative working relationships with fire
services personnel throughout the province.

e The OFCis committed to maintaining a collaborative approach to the
development of a single standard of fire safety, as intended under the FSA.

e The local authority can reach out to their regional fire service advisor for
support with any matter under the FSA.

e To locate the fire service advisor for your area, visit: Request technical
assistance or fire investigation support - Province of British Columbia

(gov.bc.ca)

3. What is the Office of the Fire Commissioner’s contact information?
e The contact information for the Office of the Fire Commissioner is:
o Main phone number: 1-888-988-9488

o After hours emergency: 1-800-663-3456
o Email: OFC@gov.bc.ca

Definitions under the Fire Safety Act

4. How are municipalities and regional districts identified under the Fire
Safety Act?
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e The following definitions are used under the Fire Safety Act to define
municipalities and regional districts:

e Local authority means:

o (a) the council of a municipality;
o (b)the board of a regional district;
o (c) any authority prescribed by regulation;

e Monitoring entity means the council of a municipality.

5. How is a premises defined under the Fire Safety Act?
e Premises means any of the following:

o (a) a private dwelling;

o (b)a public building;

o (c)the parcel of land on which a private dwelling or public building is
located;

o (d) a motor vehicle within the meaning of the Motor Vehicle Act,
railway vehicle, aircraft, vessel or other means of transportation.
6. How is a private dwelling defined under the Fire Safety Act?

o A private dwelling means the following:
o (a)a structure that is occupied as a private residence;

o (b)if only part of a structure is occupied as a private residence, that
part of the structure;

o (c) any other structure located on the parcel of land on which a
private residence is located, except for a structure

» (i) to which the public is ordinarily invited or permitted access,
or

» (ii) that is used for commercial, industrial or institutional
purposes.

7. How is a public building defined under the Fire Safety Act?



e A public building means the following:
o (a) a building other than a building that is a private dwelling;

o (b) a structure

» (i) to which the public is ordinarily invited or permitted access,
or

= (i) that is used for commercial, industrial or institutional
purposes;

o (c) afacility, including a storage yard or tank farm.

8. What is risk-based compliance monitoring?

e Risk-based compliance monitoring applies to all monitoring entities, which
under the Fire Safety Act is defined as municipalities.

e Risk-based compliance monitoring means that proactive inspections will be
conducted, and higher risk public buildings will be inspected more
frequently in municipalities.

e High-risk buildings include public buildings such as bars, apartments, hotels,
college residences, large office buildings and sawmills, among other public
buildings.

9. What does reactive inspections mean?

e Asregional districts (RD) are not monitoring entities, they will operate within
a reactive (complaint based or owner requested) inspection framework.

e Upon request from a RD, the Office of the Fire Commissioner, fire service
advisors, will conduct fire inspections and fire investigations, at no cost to
the RD.



10.In Part 6 of the Fire Safety Act, Compliance Monitoring, is the

1"

monitoring entity the same thing as a designated fire inspector from
the local authority?

The monitoring entity is defined as the council of a municipality, not the
designated fire inspector. The fire inspector will work for the monitoring
entity.

.The Fire Safety Act does not include a definition for a fire service

advisor. Does this mean that fire service advisors cannot complete fire
investigations or fire inspections?

Section 3 of the Fire Safety Act (FSA) enables the fire commissioner to hire
employees to perform the work of the fire commissioner, without assigning
any specific role or function title.

This means that fire service advisors will continue to be recognized as
representatives of the fire commissioner and will be able to perform the
work of the fire commissioner.

In addition, the fire commissioner will use the power to delegate under
section 5 of the FSA to enable the Office of the Fire Commissioner fire
service advisors to perform fire inspections and fire investigations, as
needed.

Fire Safety Act Overview

12.What is the Fire Safety Act (FSA)?

On August 1, 2024, the Fire Safety Act (FSA) came into force, replacing the
Fire Services Act of 1979.

The FSA meets the B.C. government’'s commitment to achieve a single
standard of fire safety in the province and will:
o enable local authorities to designate personnel to carry out fire
inspections and fire investigations and enable local fire services to
perform tactical evacuations.



o establish an administrative penalty enforcement model to address
non-compliance issues in a more direct, timely and effective manner.

o implement a risk-based approach for fire safety compliance
monitoring in municipalities.
e Under the FSA and the associated regulation, there is a prescribed

maximum amount of costs recoverable from an owner by a local authority,
or the fire commissioner, for securing evacuated premises up to $100,000.

e The FSA will protect people and communities through regular fire safety
inspections and effective enforcement that will help prevent fire-related
tragedies, preserve human life, and protect property and economic loss due
to fires.

13.When did the Fire Safety Act come into effect?
e The Fire Safety Act (FSA) came into effect on August 1, 2024.

e The FSA legislation can be located here.

Fire Inspectors and Fire Investigators and Local Authorities

14.What is a local authority required to do now that the Fire Safety Act has
been brought into force?

e Now that the Fire Safety Act (FSA) has come into force, the local authority
(municipalities and regional districts) must designate, in writing, a person or
a class of persons as fire inspectors (section 8) and fire investigators (section
23).

e Thelocal authority is to use their own template for the designations. Note:
there is no requirement to return the designation to the Office of the Fire
Commissioner (OFC) at this time. Once the OFC has their technology solution
in place, the OFC will contact departments to confirm designates.

e Asof August 1, 2024, there is a one-year transition period before designated
fire inspectors and fire investigators must meet established training
standards.
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e The transition period does not make the requirement of designating fire
inspectors or fire investigators optional for local authorities.

e Alllocal authorities should designate their fire inspector(s) and fire
investigator(s) as soon as the FSA comes into force on August 1, 2024, and
before the Local Assistant to the Fire Commissioner program ends on
October 28, 2024.

e The transition period will provide the time for local authorities to ensure that
the designated fire inspector or fire investigator has obtained the required
training.

e During fall 2024 and winter 2025, the OFC will work closely with all partners
to ensure a measured implementation of the FSA requirements.

15.Can a local authority designate a contractor to be a fire inspector
and/or a fire investigator?

e Alocal authority must designate, in writing, a person or a class of persons as
fire inspectors (section 8) and fire investigators (section 23).

e Alocal authority can designate a contractor to be a fire inspector or fire
investigator if they meet the Fire Safety Act Inspector Training Standard and
Fire Safety Act Investigator Training Standard.

e Designated fire inspectors and fire investigators that already meet the Fire
Safety Act Inspector Training Standard and Fire Safety Act Investigator
Training Standard, should complete a “Prior Learning Assessment and
Recognition” (PLAR) form to confirm for the local authority that they meet
the standard.

e As of August 19, 2024, the Office of the Fire Commissioner Fire Safety Act
Inspector Standard and the Fire Safety Act Investigator Standard can be
found here: Fire Safety Act reference documents - Province of British
Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

e The Fire Safety Act Inspector Standard and Investigator Standard PLARs can
also be found here: Fire Safety Act reference documents - Province of British
Columbia (gov.bc.ca)
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16.Can improvement districts designate fire inspectors and/or fire

investigators?

Under the Fire Safety Act (FSA), a local authority is defined as a council of a
municipality or a board of a regional district. Improvement districts are not
identified as a local authority in the FSA and are not authorized under the
FSA to appoint fire investigators or fire inspectors.

Only local authorities are required and authorized to designate fire
investigators or fire inspectors for their local government jurisdictions.

The OFC, local authority partners and the Ministry of Municipal Affairs, will
discuss improvement districts’ requests to appoint fire investigators and fire
inspectors. We expect to provide an update to the improvement districts
toward the end of the year.

In the meantime, the OFC, fire service advisors are placed throughout the
province and work with improvement districts to support fire safety
measures in their fire protection areas.

The OFC remains committed to supporting improvement districts as
requested.

To locate the fire service advisor for your area, visit here: Request technical

assistance or fire investigation support - Province of British Columbia

(gov.bc.ca)

17.What section of the Fire Safety Act designates fire investigators and fire

inspectors?

Designation of fire inspectors - section 8 of the Fire Safety Act (FSA) outlines:

o Section 8 (1) A local authority must designate, in writing, persons or a
class of persons as fire inspectors to conduct fire safety inspections.

o (2)Alocal authority may designate an individual as a fire inspector
under subsection (1) only if the individual meets the applicable
standard established by the fire commissioner.
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Designation of fire investigators - section 23 of the FSA outlines:

o Section 23 (1) A local authority must designate, in writing, persons or
a class of persons as fire investigators to conduct fire investigations.

o (2) Alocal authority may designate an individual as a fire investigator
under subsection (1) only if the individual meets the applicable
standard established by the fire commissioner.

18.Does the local authority need to adjust their bylaws to designate fire

inspectors and/or fire investigators?

Fire inspector and fire investigator designation can be done by resolution or
a change to a bylaw, depending on how the service is setup. However, it may
be different for each local authority.

Please reach out to your Chief Administrative Officer for advice.

19.What are the estimated timelines to designate a fire inspector and fire

investigator?

August 2, 2024 - to October 28, 2024 (before the Local Assistant to the
Fire Commissioner program ends) - local authorities designate a person
or class of persons as fire inspector or fire investigator, in writing, for any
portion of their jurisdiction.

August 19, 2024 - the Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) posted the Fire
Safety Act Inspector Training Standard and Fire Safety Act Investigator
Training Standard. The Office of the Fire Commissioner also posted the two
corresponding “Prior Learning Assessment and Recognition” (PLAR) forms.
These documents can be located here: Fire Safety Act reference documents -
Province of British Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

August 20, 2024 - July 31, 2025 - fire services review the PLAR form against
the Fire Safety Act Inspector Training Standard and Fire Safety Act
Investigator Training Standard and confirm via the PLAR that the designated
fire inspector and fire investigator meet the fire inspector and fire
investigator training standards. It is the responsibility of the local
government to ensure the PLAR is signed off accurately and that the PLAR
stays in the personnel file of the designated fire inspector and fire
investigator. The PLAR does not need to be returned to the OFC.
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Late 2024 - online training for fire inspectors and fire investigators will be
available through the OFC.

e July 31, 2025 - transition period ends, and the local authority is required to

ensure the persons designated as fire inspector(s) and fire investigator(s)
meet the fire inspector and fire investigator standards, whether that be

through the PLAR or the OFC online training.

20.Who is responsible for conducting fire inspections and investigations?

Under the Fire Safety Act (FSA), it is a requirement for local authorities
(municipalities and regional districts (RDs)) to designate local fire
inspector(s) and fire investigator(s).

Municipalities will operate within a risk-based compliance monitoring
model, which means that their designated fire inspector(s) will be
responsible for conducting all fire inspections.

As in the Fire Services Act, the FSA also continues the requirement for all
fires to be investigated and reported to the fire commissioner. Locally
designated fire investigators will fulfil this requirement.

As RDs are not monitoring entities, they will operate within a reactive
(complaint based or owner requested) inspection framework.

Upon request from a RD, the Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) fire
service advisors, will conduct fire inspections and fire investigations.

The RD has the discretion to use their own designated fire inspector(s) and
fire investigator(s), or to request the OFC to support the inspection or
investigation requirements.

Ultimately, both reactive inspections and risk-based compliance monitoring
are intended to keep occupants safe from potential fire hazards, with the
goal to prevent fire-related tragedies, preserve human life, and protect
property and economic loss due to fires.
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21.Now that the Fire Safety Act has come into force, are designated
inspectors and investigators required to meet the training standards
right away?

e No, there will be a 1-year “transition period” (as defined in section 53 of the
FSA) before designated inspectors and investigators have to meet the
required training standards.

e The transition period will end July 31, 2025. At that time, the local authority is
required to ensure the persons designated as fire inspector(s) and fire
investigator(s) meet the fire inspector and fire investigator standards.

22.Does the Fire Safety Act apply to federal reserve lands?

e The Fire Safety Act (FSA) does not apply to federal reserve lands.

e Enforcing fire codes on First Nations lands is under federal jurisdiction, and
the (FSA) does not apply to on-reserve public buildings.

e Federal lands such as the Port Authority lands, a Canada Coast Guard base,
or airports, would not be inspectable under the FSA; however, a building
within a municipality where a tenant is federal such as a post office,
Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) office, Canada Revenue Agency (CRA), is
inspectable under the FSA.

o If alocal authority receives an enquiry about inspections or investigations
on federal reserve lands, the local authority can refer the enquirer to the
Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC), and the OFC will contact the First
Nation to offer support to conduct the inspection.

23.Why are regional districts operating within a reactive model?

e Regional districts (RDs) are not defined as monitoring entities in the Fire
Safety Act.

e The RDs have identified resource and administrative challenges which may
prevent them from undertaking fire inspections and fire investigations in
their areas.
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e The Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) has committed to performing fire
inspections and fire investigations on behalf of the RD, at no cost to the RD.

e Upon request from an RD, the OFC fire services advisors will conduct fire
inspections and fire investigations.

e However, an RD with sufficient resources and local expertise may choose to
undertake all inspections and investigations within their jurisdiction.

24.What is the requirement for the regional districts to identify a public
building?

e Risk-based compliance monitoring applies to public buildings within
municipalities (monitoring entity).

e Regional districts (RD) are not a monitoring entity and are not required to
implement a risk-based compliance monitoring system. As such, there is no
requirement for RDs to identify public buildings for fire inspections as RDs
will be reactive (e.g., complaint-based).

e The Office of the Fire Commissioner expects that most of inspections in the
RDs to be focused on public buildings, defined as:

o a building other than a building that is a private dwelling;
o a structure
» to which the public is ordinarily invited or permitted access, or
» thatis used for commercial, industrial or institutional purposes;
o a facility, including a storage yard or tank farm.

e If a complaint is submitted that does not focus on a public building, the RDs
and the OFC (who may be doing these inspections on behalf of the regional
district) will determine if an inspection is required or reasonable.

25.Does the local authority have ability to determine which jurisdictional
area(s) the designated fire inspector or fire investigator covers?

e Yes, the local authority is fully empowered to designate the function of fire
inspector and fire investigator, if the person meets the training standards
issued by the fire commissioner.
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26.If the local authority chooses not to investigate fires outside of their
established fire protection areas who would be required to investigate
and make the fire report to the fire commissioner?

e The legislative requirement in section 25 of the Fire Safety Act (FSA) is for
local authorities to investigate all incidents of fire in their respective
jurisdictions that they are made aware of per the duty to report fires in
section 22 of the FSA.

e The defined fire department fire protection area is not a limiting factor on
this requirement of the local authority.

e The Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) has committed to performing fire
inspections and fire investigations on behalf of the regional district (RD), at
no cost to the RD.

e RDs may request support from the OFC via the process outlined in the
“Regional District Inspections and Investigations Procedures” document. The
document can be located here: Fire Safety Act reference documents -

Province of British Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

27.Are regional districts expected to conduct fire inspections and fire
investigations where there is no service establishment bylaw in the
area?

e Asregional districts (RD) are not monitoring entities, they will operate within
a reactive (complaint based or owner requested) inspection framework.

e When an RD receives an enquiry related to fire inspections or fire
investigations, the RD can directly contact the Office of the Fire
Commissioner (OFC) to request an OFC fire service advisor conduct fire
inspections and fire investigations. This service is provided at no cost to the
RD.

17


https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/safety/public-safety/fire-safety/legislation-regulations-codes/fire-safety-act-reference-documents
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/safety/public-safety/fire-safety/legislation-regulations-codes/fire-safety-act-reference-documents

e The process for RDs is outlined in the “Regional District Inspections and
Investigations Procedures” document that can be located here: Fire Safety
Act reference documents - Province of British Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

28.For properties outside of a regional district fire protection service area,
but where an independent fire department may exist, is there any
requirement for these fire departments to conduct inspections and
investigations?

e Ifanindependent fire department receives a request for an inspection, or is
involved in, or notified about a fire that has destroyed or damaged property,
there are a few options to get support for a fire inspection or fire
investigation.

1. The independent fire department can reach out to the Office of the
Fire Commissioner (OFC).

2. The independent fire department can contact the regional district’s
designated fire inspector(s) or investigator(s) to advise the OFC that a
fire has destroyed or damaged property.

3. If the independent fire department has members designated by the
local authority as fire inspectors and/or fire investigators, the
independent fire department may conduct fire inspections and/or fire
investigations.

e Contact information for the OFC is:
o Main phone number: 1-888-988-9488

o After hours emergency: 1-800-663-3456
o Email: OFC@gov.bc.ca

29.Are regional districts expected to take on the full responsibility for
inspections and investigations at some point in the future?

e The Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) has committed to performing
inspections and investigations on behalf of the regional districts at no cost,
as outlined in the “Fire Safety Act: Regional District Inspection and
Investigations Procedures” document.
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The OFC will be working with UBCM during implementation of the Fire
Safety Act to ensure the appropriate processes and resources are in place.

Fire Investigator and Fire Inspector Training

30.What can you share about fire inspector and fire investigator training?

There are different and specific training requirements for designated fire
inspectors (“Fire Safety Act Inspector Standard”) and fire investigators (“Fire
Safety Act Investigator Standard”).

Designated fire inspectors and fire investigators that already meet the Fire
Safety Act Inspector Training Standard and Fire Safety Act Investigator
Training Standard, should complete a “Prior Learning Assessment and
Recognition” (PLAR) form to confirm for the local authority that they meet
the standard.

It is the responsibility of the local government to ensure the PLAR is signed
off accurately and that the PLAR stays in the personnel file of the designated
fire inspector and fire investigator.

Designated fire inspectors and fire investigators who do not meet the Office
of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) Fire Safety Act Inspector Standard and the
Fire Safety Act Investigator Standard, must take the OFC inspector and
investigate training.

Designated fire inspectors and fire investigators that meet the OFC Fire
Safety Act Inspector Standard and the Fire Safety Act Investigator Standard
and who have signed off on the PLAR, are also welcome to take the OFC
training.

The OFC will provide two online training courses: one for fire inspectors and
one for fire investigators. Training materials for the courses and the online
training will be provided at no cost.

Each course will deliver attainable minimum standards and can be

completed online in approximately 8 - 10 hours (per course). Online training
for fire inspectors and fire investigators will be available late 2024.
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e Afire inspector and fire investigator can perform both roles if they have
taken both courses.

e As of August 19, 2024, the Office of the Fire Commissioner Fire Safety Act
Inspector Standard and the Fire Safety Act Investigator Standard can be
found here: Fire Safety Act reference documents - Province of British
Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

e The Fire Safety Act Inspector Standard and Investigator Standard PLARs can
also be found here: Fire Safety Act reference documents - Province of British
Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

31.Is there a limit to the number of people who can be designated and
complete the training?

e Thereis no limit on the number of people who can be designated to
complete the training.

e The local authority can designate a person or a class of persons as fire
inspectors or fire investigators. This includes designating all building
inspectors as fire inspectors under the Fire Safety Act.

Tools, Processes and Procedures

32.What types of procedures and process documents will be put in place
for the Fire Safety Act?

e The Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) continues to work on procedures
and process documents including:

o Fire Safety Act Inspector Training Standard (completed August 19,
2024)

o Fire Safety Act Investigator Training Standard (completed August 19,
2024)

o Fire Safety Act Self-Assessment Manual
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o Guidelines to Risk Analysis for Monitoring Entities in British Columbia
o Fire Safety Act Evacuation Procedures
o Fire Safety Act Reviews (Appeals) Policy and Procedure

o Fire Safety Act Regional District Fire Inspections and Investigations
Procedures

o Fire Safety Act Administrative Penalty Manual

The OFC expects most of these documents to be shared with fire services
and municipalities and regional districts as appropriate, and building
owners as necessary, in early fall 2024.

As of August 19, 2024, the Office of the Fire Commissioner Fire Safety Act
Inspector Standard and the Fire Safety Act Investigator Standard can be
found here: Fire Safety Act reference documents - Province of British
Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

The Fire Safety Act Inspector Standard and Investigator Standard PLARs can
also be found here: Fire Safety Act reference documents - Province of British
Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

There will be a one-year transition period before designated fire inspectors
and fire investigators must meet the published training standards.

The transition period will end July 31, 2025. At that time, the local authority is
required to ensure the persons designated as fire inspector(s) and fire
investigator(s) meet the fire inspector and fire investigator standards.

Fire Safety Act and Owners

33.What does the Fire Safety Act mean for building owners?

The Fire Safety Act (FSA) places a duty on owners of buildings to ensure that
there is no fire hazard on, or in the owner’s premises. The BC Fire Code
reinforces this established responsibility, and the FSA provides the province
with tools to ensure compliance.

To meet the requirements of the FSA and the BC Fire Code, building owners
and operators may be required to conduct fire safety self-assessments and
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put the appropriate fire safety measures in place. The frequency and
requirements for a Fire Safety Assessment are set by the monitoring entity
(municipalities).

Failure to conduct a fire safety self-assessment may result in more
enforcement actions by the monitoring entity, which may include
completing a fire inspection for a fee from the municipality.

Any established fire inspection fee will be imposed by the local authority via
bylaw.

The Fire Safety Act (Risk Analysis for Compliance Monitoring) Regulation
defines some of the requirements in establishing a risk-based compliance
monitoring system and the overall risk for public buildings. Note: the
regulation will be shared in early fall.

During fall 2024 and winter 2025, the Office of the Fire Commissioner will
work closely with all partners, including premise owners, to ensure a
measured implementation of the FSA requirements.

34.Can you share more about the Safety Self-Assessments and the process?

The Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) is currently developing a: Fire
Safety Act Self-Assessment Manual”.

The OFC expects this document to be shared with fire services, local
authorities, and building owners, in early fall 2024.

This manual is primarily intended to be used by the building owner or
building owner’s authorized agent (representative) to complete a Fire Safety
Self-Assessment and Declaration.

The British Columbia Fire Code (BCFC) outlines building owner
responsibilities. The BC Fire Code, Sentence 2.2.1.1.(1). of Division C, states,
“unless otherwise specified, the owner or the owner’s authorized agent shall
be responsible for carrying out the provisions of this Code.”

For more information on the BCFC, visit: BC Codes 2024 - Province of British
Columbia (gov.bc.ca)
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The building owner or the owner’s authorize agent must be compliant with
the Fire Safety Act, the BC Fire Code, and any other applicable regulations.

A Fire Safety Self-Assessment Form and Declaration confirms the status of
the building fire and life safety systems and confirms that these systems are
inspected, tested, and maintained as required by the Fire Safety Act and the
BC Fire Code.

During the fall 2024 and winter 2025, the OFC will work closely with all
partners, including premise owners, to ensure a measured implementation
of the FSA requirements.

35.How will the Fire Safety Act impact owners and any renovation permits,

including life safety system requirements?

The Fire Safety Act does not impact renovation permits including life safety
requirements. Building life safety system requirements are in the British
Columbia Building Code (BCBC) and the British Columbia Fire Code (BCFC).
These codes administer the required life safety systems through inspection,
testing and maintenance requirements of the code.

Although the BCFC is a regulation of the Fire Safety Act (FSA), and the fire
commissioner is responsible administering the FSA and its regulations, this
will not interfere or impede the BCBC.

There are explanatory statements in the BCBC and the BCFC that respect
and limit the application of the current code requirements to existing
buildings that were constructed under previous versions of the codes.

Essentially, neither sets of codes are to be used to impose a requirement to
install current code standards on an existing building, provided that the life
safety system of the existing building is still sufficient to address the fire
hazards present by the major occupancy use of the building.

The local government building official is responsible for determining the

appropriate application of the BCBC using “BCBC2024 Div. Part 1 Sentence
1.1.1.1(1) Application of this code” to the renovation permit application.

23



e For more information on the BCBC and the BCFC, visit: BC Codes 2024 -
Province of British Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

Administrative Monetary Penalties

36.What are the administrative monetary penalties under the Fire Safety
Act?

e The Fire Safety Act establishes the authority for the fire commissioner to
issue an administrative monetary penalty (AMP) in specific circumstances of
non-compliance, such as non-compliance of a fire inspector order or a
preventive evacuation order.

e An AMP is designed to deter non-compliance with requirements under the
FSA and the regulations.

e AMP amounts are;

o up to $25,000 in the case of an individual and $50,000 in the case of a
corporation.

o if an offence continues for more than one day, separate daily
administrative penalties, each not exceeding the maximums previously
noted, may be imposed by the fire commissioner.

e An AMP will be considered by the Office of the Fire Commissioner after the
local authority has exhausted all the tools (e.g., bylaws) that they have at
their disposal.

e Administrative penalties are only considered for serious, repeated and
deliberate cases of non-compliance with the FSA.

e Administrative penalty matters are between the provincial government and
the person who is thought to have contravened the FSA act or failed to
comply with an order issued under the FSA.

37.Will designated fire inspectors and fire investigators be imposing
administrative penalties under 33 (1) of the Fire Safety Act?

e No. The authority in Section 33(1) is only for the fire commissioner, or
delegate, who may impose an administrative penalty.
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e The local authority designated fire inspectors and fire investigators will
make a request for the issuance of an administrative penalty from the fire
commissioner or delegate.

e As such, only the Province, through the Office of the Fire Commissioner, will
issue an administrative penalty.

e However, because the primary principle of the administrative penalty is
obtaining compliance and not punitive measures, the issuance of the
administrative penalty will only be done when all other attempts and actions
by the local authority have not been successful in obtaining compliance
from a premise owner.

Administrative Requirements/Approach

38.Are local authorities required to implement new record-keeping
policies to meet statutory requirements under the new Act?

e Local authorities can continue to manage inspection and investigation
enquiries from the public in the same manner that they currently do.

e The Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) will record all requests for
support and service, including those made by regional districts (RD). An
interim solution will be put in place while the OFC works to put a new
technological solution in place.

e The OFCis working to develop and implement a centralized database to
retain these records. Once in place, the OFC will be able to share relevant
inspection and investigation information with UBCM, local authorities and
premises owners.

e During the implementation phase of the Fire Safety Act, the OFC is
committed to continue working collaboratively with UBCM to monitor
implementation and develop/update applicable policy and procedures as
needed.

39.Will the local authorities be compensated for inspections or is the “fee”
referenced in section 20 imposed only by a local authority bylaw?
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Failure of an owner to conduct a fire safety self-assessment may result in
more enforcement actions by the monitoring entity, which may include
performing an actual fire inspection for a fee.

Under Section 20 of the Fire Safety Act, monitoring entities (municipalities)
can establish fees for fire inspections and impose the fees via municipal
bylaw.

40.Will fire reporting be a requirement for the designated investigator, or

can an alternate be assigned?

The Fire Safety Act does not restrict the reporting of the investigation
information to the Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) from being
assigned to another person or alternate within the local authority; however,
the alternate must have access to the OFC's FIRES reporting system.

Section 25 of the FSA outlines the requirement that a local authority must
begin a fire investigation within 5 days after the date on which the local
authority learned of a fire that destroyed or damaged property or resulted
in injury or death.

In municipalities, this will be done by the local authority’s designated fire
investigator.

The process for municipalities is different than the process for regional
districts (RDs).

The OFC and UBCM have worked to develop a “Regional District Inspections
and Investigations Procedures” document that provides for the OFC to
function as the designated investigator and inspector and to complete fire
investigations and fire inspections, at no cost, on behalf of the RD, as
requested. The document can be located here: Fire Safety Act reference

documents - Province of British Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

41.Who owns the fire investigation report?
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e The fire investigation report and all corresponding information will belong
to the local authority to enable them to meet the legislated obligation of
reporting the fire incident information to the fire commissioner.

e Once the fire incident report is submitted to the Province, then the
information becomes the Province's to use and protect as reflected in the
Information Management Act.

42.If a local authority pays for an alternate fire investigator to complete
the fire investigation report, does the local government own the
report?

e The ownership of the report to the local authority should be confirmed by
the local authority and the alternate fire investigator through their specified
contract.

e The requirement to submit a fire incident report from the fire investigation
to the fire commissioner remains and needs to be met by the local authority.

43.If a local authority designates a member from their own staff as a fire
inspector and/or fire investigator, is the employee protected from
personal liability when carrying out the function of
inspector/investigator?

e Section 6 of the Fire Safety Act states that any person performing the work
of the fire commissioner when delegated by the fire commissioner has
immunity from legal proceedings short of gross negligence or actions made
in bad faith.

e The local authority staff is provided immunity by the Local Government Act
(section 738) for actions related to their obligations under the Fire Safety
Act, short of gross negligence or actions made in bad faith.
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Local Assistants to the Fire Commissioner

44.Can you provide an overview of the local assistant to the fire

commissioner program?

Under the former Fire Services Act and the Fire Code Administration
Reqgulation, the fire commissioner was responsible for the administration
and enforcement of the Fire Services Act and the current British Columbia
Fire Code.

Also under the former Fire Services Act, local assistants to the fire
commissioner (LAFCs) were appointed to assist the fire commissioner with
fire investigation and the enforcement of fire legislation and the regulations.

In many cases, the LAFC was the fire chief or other fire service member of a
community fire department.

A LAFC could also be a fire service volunteer, particularly in regional districts,
and local police could also fill this function if no LAFC had been appointed by
the fire commissioner in any area outside of a municipality.

The LAFC exercised the powers of the fire commissioner when they carried
out those duties mandated under the Fire Services Act and regulations. The
LAFC function and efforts were accountable to fire commissioner and not
the local authority and LAFC training was provided for individuals who were
appointed as a LAFC.

45.What is the status of the local assistants to the fire commissioner

program?

The Fire Safety Act (FSA) came into effect on August 1, 2024. As a result, the
local assistants to the fire commissioner (LAFC) functions that were part of
the Fire Services Act will be discontinued within 90 days and the LAFC
program will end October 28, 2024.

LAFC training or any other LAFC modifications (e.g., transfers or renewals)
will not continue after August 1, 2024.
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As outlined in section 41 (3) of the Fire Services Act, all fire departments
must return their LAFC badges to the Office of the Fire Commissioner.

The badges are to be returned at the fire department’s cost. When returning
a badge, please also include a letter that reflects the LAFC name and badge
number and the sending department’s name.

Contact and address information for returns are as follows:

o Mailing details:

» Office of the Fire Commissioner
= Attn: Tammy-Lou Nieman

= PO Box 9214 Stn. Prov. Govt.,

= Victoria, B.C. VBW 91

o Courier details:
» Office of the Fire Commissioner
» Attn: Tammy-Lou Nieman / Contact number (236-478-2385)
» 4th Floor - 910 Government Street

= Victoria B.C., VBW 94

Under the FSA, local authorities will have to designate, in writing, a person
or a class of persons as fire inspector(s) and fire investigator(s). This should
be done once the FSA is brought into force on August 1, 2024, and ideally
before the LAFC program ends on October 28, 2024.

46.What will be used to identify inspectors and investigators under the

Fire Safety Act)?

Identification for fire inspectors and fire investigators under the Fire Safety
Act will be determined by the local authority who designates the fire
inspector and fire investigator.
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47.Under the Fire Services Act, a Local Assistant to the Fire Commissioner
was protected from prosecution. Are these same protections available
to the fire inspectors and fire investigators under the Fire Safety Act?

e Section 6 of the Fire Safety Act reflects that any person performing the work
of the fire commissioner, when delegated by the fire commissioner has
immunity from legal proceedings short of gross negligence or actions made
in bad faith.

e Thelocal authority designated fire inspectors and fire investigators are
provided immunity by the Local Government Act (sec. 738) for actions
related to their activities under the Fire Safety Act, short of gross negligence
or actions made in bad faith.

48.Can existing Local Assistants to the Fire Commissioner still complete
investigations/inspections?

e Local Assistants to the Fire Commissioner (LAFC) that were appointed under
the Fire Services Act, can continue to fulfill the role of fire inspector and fire
investigator until October 28, 2024, when the LAFC positions will end.

o After October 28, 2024, previous LAFC positions will no longer be active, and
they will be unable to fulfill any of the duties that existed under the Fire
Services Act.

e The Fire Safety Act (FSA) requires that the local authority (municipalities and
regional districts) must designate, in writing, a person or a class of persons
as fire inspectors (section 8) and fire investigators (section 23).

e There will be different and specific training requirements for designated fire
inspectors (“Fire Safety Act Inspector Standard”) and fire investigators (“Fire
Safety Act Investigator Standard”). Refer to the “Fire Inspector and Fire
Training” section of this Q&A for more information on the online training for
fire inspectors and fire investigators that is to follow.
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e Designated fire inspectors and fire investigators that already meet the Fire
Safety Act Inspector Training Standard and Fire Safety Act Investigator
Training Standard, should complete a “Prior Learning Assessment and
Recognition” (PLAR) form to confirm that they meet the standards.

e As of August 19, 2024, the Office of the Fire Commissioner Fire Safety Act
Inspector Standard and the Fire Safety Act Investigator Standard can be
found here: Fire Safety Act reference documents - Province of British
Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

e The Fire Safety Act Inspector Standard and Investigator Standard PLARs can
also be found here: Fire Safety Act reference documents - Province of British
Columbia (gov.bc.ca)

e We encourage all local authorities to designate their fire inspectors and fire
investigators as soon as possible.

Insurance Companies

49.Do insurance companies still need to report on fire losses under the
new Fire Safety Act

e On August 1, 2024, the new Fire Safety Act came into effect replacing the
Fire Services Act.

e With the new act in place, insurance companies are no longer legislated to
report on fire losses as they were under the Fire Services Act section 19.

e However, insurance companies continue to be valued partners in ensuring
accurate data from fire incident claims to help evaluate fire loss, economic
impacts and fire trends in our province. Insurance reports also help ensure
accuracy in fire incident reporting from local governments.

e In late fall 2024, the Office of the Fire Commissioner will contact the
insurance sector about the continuation of the insurance reporting process.
Until then, please continue to report on fire losses through the insurance
fire report that can be found, here: Reporting a fire: guidelines, manuals and
forms - Province of British Columbia (gov.bc.ca)
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Mmaking a difference...together

REPORT TO ELECTORAL AREAS COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2024

SUBJECT Community Emergency Preparedness Fund Grant: Volunteer & Composite
Fire Department Equipment & Training 2024 Application

ISSUE SUMMARY

The Capital Regional District (CRD) is applying to the Union of British Columbia Municipalities
(UBCM) for grant funding for fire department training and equipment under the Community
Emergency Preparedness Fund program. The CRD operates seven eligible Electoral Area (EA)
fire departments. UBCM requires that all grant applications be accompanied by a motion of
support from the local government.

BACKGROUND

UBCM provides funding for a range of community-based projects, including volunteer-based fire
departments. A 2024 grant opportunity is available to support training and equipment for volunteer
and composite (mixed paid and volunteer) fire departments. The CRD administers seven eligible
fire departments through delegated-authority commissions. Improvement district and society-
operated departments are eligible to apply directly to UBCM. As part of the application process,
UBCM requires a motion of support to receive and manage grant funding.

Protective Services staff coordinated this grant application with seven fire departments: Port
Renfrew, Shirley, Otter Point, East Sooke, Willis Point, North Galiano and South Galiano. Grant
funds would permit departments to upgrade equipment such as personal protective gear and
facilitate training courses to meet the new Provincial Minimum Training Standards.

The grant request breakdown by fire service area is below. Grant funding may be pooled between
fire departments to increase efficiency and reduce overhead costs.

Fire Service Area  Funding Proposal

Port Renfrew $39,240.00
Otter Point $39,724.85
North Galiano $39,965.00
East Sooke $39,865.00
Shirley $39,940.00
Willis Point $39,986.02
South Galiano $39,582.50
Total $278,303.37
ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1

The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That staff be instructed to apply for, negotiate, and if successful, enter into an agreement, and do
all such things necessary for accepting grant funds and overseeing grant management for the
proposed project.
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Electoral Areas Committee — November 13, 2024
Community Emergency Preparedness Fund Grant: Volunteer & Composite Fire
Department Equipment & Training 2024 Application 2

Alternative 2

That staff be directed to rescind the grant application to the Union of British Columbia
Municipalities Community Emergency Preparedness Fund for the Fire Department Training and
Equipment program.

IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

The Volunteer and Composite Fire Departments Equipment and Training funding stream can
contribute a maximum of 100% of the cost of eligible activities to a maximum of $40,000.00 per
department. The applications presented propose 100% funding and do not include local cost
sharing. Additionally, the grant will not be used to fund operational budgets but rather will be used
to fund one-time projects that increase fire department capacity and resident safety.

Grants will be awarded in two payments: 50% when the signed Approval Agreement has been
returned to UBCM, and the remainder when the project is complete and the final reporting
requirements have been met.

CONCLUSION

The CRD supports fire prevention and response in its electoral areas. The UBCM Fire Department
Training & Equipment funding stream is an important resource to build fire department capacity
in the capital region. If supported by the Board, UBCM will consider the CRD’s grant application.

RECOMMENDATION

The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That staff be instructed to apply for, negotiate, and if successful, enter into an agreement, and do
all such things necessary for accepting grant funds and overseeing grant management for the
proposed project.

Submitted by:|Shawn Carby, Senior Manager, Protective Services

Concurrence: |Kevin Lorette, P. Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services
Concurrence [Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer
Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENT

Appendix A: UBCM Volunteer & Composite Fire Department Equipment & Training 2024
Application
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Community Emergency Preparedness Fund
Volunteer and Composite Fire Departments
Equipment and Training
2024 Application Worksheet

Please complete and return the worksheet with all required attachments by October 18, 2024.
Applicants will be advised of the status of their application within 90 days of the application

deadline.

All questions must be answered by typing directly in this form. As all questions are reviewed
and scored as part of the adjudication process, please do not leave any questions blank.

If you have any questions, contact cepf@ubcm.ca or (604) 270-8226 ext. 220.

SECTION 1: Primary Applicant Information

First Nation, Local Government or Fire Department
Name: Capital Regional District

File Number*:
LGPS-11271

*Refer to the LGPS Online Application Form submission confirmation email

SECTION 2: Eligibility Requirements

or a sub-applicant:

a First Nation band).

1. Location of Proposed Activities. For the purpose of CEPF funding, fire halls must be a
First Nation owned building or publicly owned building or owned by the primary applicant

[ ] Fire hall is a First Nations owned building (buildings owned by a Treaty First Nation or
X Fire hall is a publicly owned building (buildings owned by a local government or public

institution, such as health authority or school district).
[ ] Fire hall is owned by the primary applicant or sub-applicant.

department that is included in this application:
a) Name of each fire department:

2. Requirement to be Volunteer or Composite Fire Department. For each eligible fire

b) Membership (volunteer or composite) of each department: See below
c) Declared level of service of each department: See below

d) East Sooke Volunteer Fire Department - Volunteer - Interior

e) North Galiano Volunteer Fire Department - Volunteer - Exterior

f) South Galiano Volunteer Fire Department - Volunteer - Interior
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g) Otter Point Volunteer Fire Department - Volunteer - Interior

h) Shirley Volunteer Fire Department - Volunteer - Exterior

i)  Willis Point Volunteer Fire Department - Volunteer - Exterior
j) Port Renfrew Volunteer Fire Department - Volunteer - Exterior

X Copies or extracts of the available evidence of declared level of service are required to
be submitted with the application.

The BC Structure Firefighter Minimum Training Standards include the requirement for fire
departments to declare their level of service. This applies to all local government, Treaty
First Nation, and society-run fire departments. The training standards are not automatically
applicable on federal reserve lands and, for the purpose of CEPF funding, non-Treaty First
Nations are not required to declare their level of service if they are not prepared to do so.
This will not impact the review or scoring of applications.

3. FIRES Incident Reporting. Compliance with fire incident reporting is a requirement for
eligible applicants. Please confirm below that each fire department included in this
application has met this requirement. Note: this is not applicable to First Nations on
federal reserves.

Confirming that each of the seven volunteer fire departments is registered with and
submits reports through FIRES Incident Reporting.

SECTION 3: Detailed Project Information

4. Operating Budget(s).
a) Please indicate the annual operating budgets of each fire department included in this
application.
East Sooke - $685,906
North Galiano $328,770
South Galiano $636,003
Otter Point $728,032
Shirley $219,094
Willis Point $160,629
Port Renfrew $228,171

b) Describe the extent to which that budget enables each fire department to purchase
essential equipment and/or obtain training.
The CRD operates seven fire departments in the Juan de Fuca and Southern Gulf
Islands Electoral Areas. The project would enable the departments to work towards
compliance with the minimum structure firefighter training and equipment for all their
volunteer members. Due to the rural nature and small size of the service areas, there
is limited opportunity to purchase essential equipment and comply with minimum level
of training. As seen above, most departmental budgets do not permit significant paid
positions or volunteer compensation. The overwhelming majority of budgets go

Uy
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towards training, equipment, overhead, and capital (apparatus and hall) costs.

5. Proposed Activities. What specific activities will be undertaken as part of the proposed
project? Refer to Sections 4, 5 and 6 of the Program and Application Guide for eligibility.

a) Purchase of equipment, including installation of and training for eligible equipment.
Equipment for the seven departments are based on individual need, and includes
basic personal protective equipment (PPE) and fire equipment (see attached budget
worksheet for details per fire hall).

b) Training. Please list specific courses.
Note: training is for fire department members only and not community members. All
proposed training activities must include the name of the course.
Training is for members of the seven included departments only. All training is aimed
at adopting and implementing the new BC Structure Firefighter Minimum Training
Standards, particularly competencies for Apparatus Operator, Team Leader, and
Incident Commander. CRD is working with the OFC and a contractor to confirm
equivalencies. CRD Procurement policy requires the use of a competitive process to
award the training contracts which will follow notification of success from UBCM. We
will identify the contractor at that time.

6. Resiliency. Describe how the proposed project will build the resiliency of volunteer and
composite fire departments in preparing for and responding to emergencies.

East Sooke and Port Renfrew - This will assist in bringing these departments within
compliance to the March 2024 BC Structure Firefighter Minimum Training Standards.

North and South Galiano - This project builds resiliency by providing training to members
in Live Fire, Fire Officer 1 & 2, ESM, Team Leader, Interior and Exterior Fire, ensuring that
incidents are responded to in the most effective manner using modern firefighting
principles. The purchase of specialty PPE washer extractor improve toxin removal and the
purchase of PPE will replace expired, ill-fitting and worn gear currently worn by members.

Otter Point and Shirley Fire- The additional equipment will enable the department to not
only have more resources to deal with larger incidents more efficiently, but also to restock
apparatus in a timelier manner thus being ready for the next call sooner. Without the
approved Turnout gear they are unable to respond appropriately to emergencies. These
departments will also train members in Fire Service, Officer and Incident Safety.

Willis Point - The purchase of specialty washer/dryer/extractor equipment will ensure
better safety and toxin removal from PPE.

7. Physical and Mental Well-Being. Describe the extent to which proposed training will
specifically address the mental wellbeing of eligible fire department staff and volunteers.

As a volunteer department it is important for members to know they are valued enough to
have the proper safety equipment to do their job. As they enter many highly stressful
situations with members that may have minimal training, it is very important for their
mental health and well being to know that they have equipment that is up to the standard
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to properly protect them. Having old, hand me down gear, expired, or toxin laden
gear doesn't give the crew the confidence they need to psychologically do their job.

Improved response, PPE and training will improve the confidence and mental
wellbeing of fire department staff and volunteers.

8. Partnerships and Transferability. Describe the extent to which the proposed project will
provide partnerships, transferability, or mutual aid to neighbouring jurisdictions.

Significant coordination will occur between the 11 Fire Services where CRD is Authority
Having Jurisdiction.This project also benefits the Pacheedaht First Nation in that they
provide 40% of funding for the Port Renfrew Fire Protection service area.

9. Additional Information. Please share any other information you think may help support
your submission.

SECTION 4: Required Attachments

The following separate attachments are required to be submitted as part of the application.

All applicants are required to submit:
X Evidence of declared service level (e.g. bylaw, resolution).

X Detailed budget that indicates the proposed expenditures from CEPF and aligns with the
proposed activities outlined in this application worksheet. Although additional funding or
support is not required, any other grant funding or in-kind contributions must be identified.
Applicants are encouraged to use the LGPS Budget and Financial Summary Tool.

First Nation, local government, or improvement district applicants must submit:

[ ] Band Council, Treaty First Nation, or local government resolution OR a letter of support
from the Band Manager, CAO or CFO for applications that request less than $50,000 in
funding. Resolutions and letters need to indicate support for the current proposed
activities and willingness to provide overall grant management. All regional applications,
or applications requesting more than $50,000 in funding, will require resolutions to be
submitted.

Legally incorporated society-run fire department applicants must submit:

[] Board of Directors motion indicating support for the current proposed activities and
willingness to provide overall grant management.

[ ] Current Certificate of Good Standing.

Regional project applicants are required to submit:

[ ] Band Council, Treaty First Nation, or local government resolution from the primary
applicant, indicating support for the current proposed activities and willingness to provide
overall grant management; and,
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[ ] Band Council, Treaty First Nation, or local government resolution from each sub-applicant
that clearly states their approval for the primary applicant to apply for, receive, and
manage the grant funding on their behalf. Resolutions from sub-applicants must include
this language.

SECTION 5: Signature This worksheet is required to be signed by an authorized
representative of the applicant (i.e., staff member or elected official). Please note all
application materials will be shared with the Province of BC.

| certify that: (1) to the best of my knowledge, all information is accurate, (2) the area
covered by the proposed project is within the applicant’s jurisdiction (or appropriate
approvals are in place) and (3) we understand that this project may be subject to a
compliance audit under the program.

Name: Christopher J Vrabel Title: Manager, Fire Services

Signature™: Date: October 17, 2024
*A certified digital or original signature is required.

Documents should be submitted as Word, Excel, or PDF files.
Total file size for email attachments cannot exceed 20 MB.

All documents should be submitted to Local Government Program Services,
Union of BC Municipalities by email: cepf@ubcm.ca.

Please note “2024 Volunteer Fire Departments” in the subject line.
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Capital Regional District CEPF Fire
Department Grant Proposal UBCM 2024

Item
East Sooke
7/8” nozzle tips
1 1/8” nozzle tip
1.5” break apart bales
160GPM at 50psi Fog tips
2.5” break apart bales

lengths Kraken Exo 1.75” structural hose (15 lengths

orange/ 15 lengths green)

lengths Aqua flow plus 2.5” structural hose (yellow)

1.5” Forestry hose 100 foot lengths

Big inch forestry hose 100’ lengths

%" Econo forestry hose 100’ lengths

Electoral Area Training Program to meet Firefighter
minimum training standards guidelines -- includes
operator, officer, team leader, incident commander, fire

1, pumps & pumping, air brakes.
TOTAL

North Galiano

FFIl Interior Operations VIERA
Fire Officer Il

ESM II

ESM Il Accommodations & meals
Exterior Live Fire — 1 day
Interior Live Fire — 2 day

Live Fire travel & stipends
Hose Roller

Hose Dryer Rack

Hose Storage Rack

Gear Lockers (3 per unit)

Electoral Area Training Program to meet Firefighter
minimum training standards guidelines -- includes
operator, officer, team leader, incident commander, fire

1, pumps & pumping, air brakes.
TOTAL

South Galiano
Fire Officer Il
Fire Officer 1
ESM |

Quantity

16
6
11
4
5

30

12

10

19

10

VP RPRPRPRPRPRERERBNNNN

1
2
2

Cost

$200.00
$200.00
$520.00
$265.00
$550.00

$385.00
$455.00
$100.00

$75.00

$150.00

$  840.00
$ 575.00
$  950.00
$ 2,067.50
$ 2,000.00
$ 4,000.00
$ 2,100.00
$ 3,500.00
$ 3,500.00
$ 1,000.00
$ 2,000.00

$ 575.00
$ 575.00
S 950.00

Total

$3,200.00
$1,200.00
$5,720.00
$1,060.00
$2,750.00
$11,550.00
$5,460.00
$1,000.00
$1,425.00

$1,500.00

$5,000.00

$39,865.00

$1,680.00 Online/exams
$1,150.00 Online
$1,900.00 In person
$4,135.00 In person
$2,000.00 Pender
$4,000.00 Pender
$2,100.00
$3,500.00
$3,500.00
$1,000.00
$10,000.00

$5,000.00

$39,965.00

$575.00 online
$1,150.00 online
$1,900.00 in person



ESM 2

ESM 2 Accommodations & meals
ESM | Accommodations & meals
ESM | Mileage

ESM 2 Mileage

ESM | Training Stipend

Live Fire travel & stipends

Team Leader

Team Leader Travel
Staber Extractor Washer
Staber Cabinet Gear Dryer

TOTAL

Otter Point

GRO-EW?22G turnout gear washer (NFPA) Associated Fire
Wildland firefighting PPE, Associated Fire

Training prop for vertical ventilation; MMAH Contracting
PPE lockers Associated Fire

Forestry econo hose; 50' and 25'

Training FR kits; various suppliers

Officer training JIBC; upon availability

Driver training JIBC; upon availability

Electoral Area Training Program to meet Firefighter
minimum training standards guidelines -- includes
operator, officer, team leader, incident commander, fire
1, pumps & pumping, air brakes.

TOTAL

Shirley

3" trash pump

Leather structural boots

2.5" structural fire hose

1.75" structural fire hose

Air brakes course

Fire Service Instructor 1 course

Fire Service Instructor 1 textbooks
Forestry backpack pumps

Incident safety officer course
Incident safety officer textbooks
Travel and meal expenses (12 courses)
30" Halligan bar

36" Halligan bar

60 minute Scott 4500 psi SCBA bottle
45 mins Scott 4500 psi SCBA bottle
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$  950.00
$ 2,067.50
$ 2,067.50
$ 235.00
$  235.00
$ 500.00
$ 2,100.00

$ 4,000.00
$ 2,000.00
$ 6,000.00
$ 7,000.00

$550.00
$430.00
$186.00
$250.00
$495.00
$145.00
$500.00
$495.00
$145.00
$150.00
$360.00
$380.00
$870.00
$1,100.00

$950.00 in person
$2,067.50
$4,135.00
$470.00 Nanaimo
$235.00 Nanaimo
$1,000.00
$2,100.00
Pender; flat rate
$4,000.00 S2K per day
$2,000.00
$12,000.00
$7,000.00

$39,582.50

$8,842.40
$2,929.92

$3,150.00
$8,302.53
$2,000.00
$3,000.00
$3,000.00
$3,000.00

$5,500.00

$39,724.85

$1,000.00
$8,250.00
$6,450.00
$2,790.00
$1,500.00
$1,980.00
$580.00
$1,500.00
$990.00
$290.00
$1,800.00
$360.00
$380.00
$870.00
$4,400.00



Electoral Area Training Program to meet Firefighter
minimum training standards guidelines -- includes
operator, officer, team leader, incident commander, fire

1, pumps & pumping, air brakes. $6,800.00
TOTAL $39,940.00
Willis Point

Circul-air express drying cabinet 6 gear cap; 6 gear

hangers, 6 glove/boot hangers, 3 hose racks S 12,252.24
crating for above dryer S 312.80
Circul-air accessory hangers 2SS 2121 S 42.42
Circul-air extractor pump drain 2 $9,700.88 $ 19,401.76
Circul-air pre-programming fire industry 2S - S -
Circul-air chemical dosing pump 2S - S -
Citro squeeze 1 gallon container 2S - S -
crating fees for above 2 S 8840 S 176.80
Electoral Area Training Program to meet Firefighter

minimum training standards guidelines -- includes

operator, officer, team leader, incident commander, fire

1, pumps & pumping, air brakes. S 7,800.00
TOTAL $39,986.02
Port Renfrew

Incident safety officer course 2 $495.00 $990.00
Fire Officer 1 2 S 575.00 $1,150.00
Fire Officer Il 2 $ 575.00 $1,150.00
ESM | 1 $ 950.00 $950.00
ESM II 2 $ 950.00 $1,900.00
Exterior Live Fire — 1 day 1 S 2,000.00 $2,000.00
Live Fire travel 1 $ 2,100.00 $2,100.00

Electoral Area Training Program to meet Firefighter

minimum training standards guidelines -- includes

operator, officer, team leader, incident commander, fire

1, pumps & pumping, air brakes. $29,000.00
TOTAL $39,240.00

Total Grant Request $278,303.37
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Mmaking a difference...together

REPORT TO ELECTORAL AREAS COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2024

SUBJECT Request to Amend Remuneration for Elected Officials of the Salt Spring
Electoral Area

ISSUE SUMMARY

To provide information and recommendations regarding remuneration of elected officials of the
Salt Spring Island Electoral Area, and specifically to allocate a portion of the Salt Spring Island
(SSI) Electoral Area Director’'s remuneration to Commissioners of the Salt Spring Island Local
Community Commission (LCC).

BACKGROUND

The CRD Board has approved a Remuneration Policy (“Policy”) for CRD Board Directors and
Alternates. The Policy is derived from a remuneration philosophy that recognizes the significant
commitment and expectations of a CRD Director, and gross remuneration which is comparable
with other organizations. Remuneration is adjusted annually to the cost of living based on the
Victoria Consumer Price Index year over year, with a more comprehensive review undertaken
every three (3) to five (5) years to ensure alignment with the Board philosophy. The next
comprehensive review is scheduled for 2026 and for implementation commensurate with the
2027-2030 Board term.

From time-to-time amendments are made to the Policy for Board consideration. Two recent
examples are: the inclusion of remuneration for the SSI LCC in December 2022, which was
approved; and, a notice of motion in 2022 to retain Electoral Area Director remuneration at the
previous year’s level, which was defeated.

The current CRD Board Remuneration Policy, inclusive of the remuneration schedules and
philosophy, is in Appendix A.

On October 9, 2024, Director Holman provided a notice of motion, amended by the Board, as
follows:

WHEREAS the newly established Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission
(LCC) has now assumed responsibility for the administration of most local Salt Spring
services that were formerly the sole responsibility of the local CRD Director;

THEREFORE be it resolved that staff report back to the Electoral Areas Committee
on the policy options and implications on the remuneration for the Salt Spring Island
CRD Director and LCC Commissioners be revised to better reflect the shift in
responsibilities, including by reducing the Director's annual remuneration by $10,000
per year and increasing LCC Commissioner annual remuneration by $2,500 per year,
starting in 2025.

For Electoral Area Directors, remuneration includes two components:
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Electoral Areas Committee — November 13, 2024
Request to Amend Remuneration for Elected Officials of the Salt Spring Electoral Area 2

1) a base Director annual stipend which recognizes attendance at all Board meetings and
Committee of the Whole meetings plus two Standing Committee commitments (the
“Director portion”), with additional remuneration for any additional Board Committee, Chair
or Vice-Chair appointments; and

2) an additional annual stipend which recognizes all additional responsibilities of the Electoral
Area Directors, including appointments to the local area commissions and boards within
their Electoral Area (the “Electoral Area portion”).

For the SSI Electoral Area Director in 2024, in addition to fifteen (15) internal Boards/Committee
and external Board/Committee appointments, these additional responsibilities include ex-officio
responsibilities on the seven (7) local commissions within the SSI Electoral Area and the
responsibilities as a member of the SSI Local Community Commission.

The CRD Board has approved remuneration for Directors and the SSI LCC. For 2024 the current
base remuneration exclusive of any additional Board Committee, Chair or Vice-Chair
appointments is as follows:

a) for Electoral Area Directors including the SSI Electoral Area Director, excluding any
additional Board Committee or Chair/Vice-Chair appointments: $68,463, which is

comprised of $23,385 for the Director portion and an additional $45,078 for the Electoral
Area portion; and

b) for SSI LCC Commissioners: $10,370.

Remuneration for 2025 will be adjusted by provincially announced cost of living increases, in
accordance with Board Policy.

ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1

The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That the remuneration for the Salt Spring Island Electoral Area Director and Commissioners of
the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission be retained at the current remuneration
level, and that this be evaluated in 2026 as scheduled and as part of the regular remuneration
review for the 2027-2030 Board term.

Alternative 2

The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That staff be directed to have the remuneration provided to Electoral Area Directors and to
Commissioners of the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission reviewed in 2025 and in
advance of the next scheduled remuneration review.

Alternative 3

The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That that the remuneration provided to Commissioners of the Salt Spring Island Local Community
Commission be amended, and that staff be directed to report back to the CRD Board on a
recommendation for approval.
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Request to Amend Remuneration for Elected Officials of the Salt Spring Electoral Area 3

Alternative 4
That this report be referred back to staff for additional information.

IMPLICATIONS

Board Implications

Alternative 1

This alternative maintains alignment with the approved CRD Board Remuneration Policy,
including the established process to review remuneration. The next remuneration review is
scheduled for 2026 and for implementation for the 2027-2030 Board term. This review will be
conducted by a third-party consultant, and will be based on the Board approved remuneration
philosophy in accordance with the Board Remuneration Policy.

Alternative 2

This alternative would have Electoral Area Director and SSI LCC Commissioner remuneration
reviewed in 2025 prior to the comprehensive review in 2026. As Director remuneration would be
considered, this review would be conducted by a third-party consultant, and will be based on the
Board approved remuneration philosophy in accordance with the Board Remuneration Policy.
Any recommendations regarding adjustments to remuneration would be presented to the CRD
Board for approval.

Alternative 3
This alternative would have remuneration for Commissioners of the SSI LCC reviewed in 2025
prior to the comprehensive review in 2026.

Remuneration for Commissioners of the SSI Local Community Commission was approved by the
CRD Board. Remuneration levels were based on the anticipated time required of the SSI LCC.
The SSI LCC has been in place for over a year now, and the level of effort to level of remuneration
may require a more detailed review. This review may be conducted by staff. Any
recommendations regarding adjustments to remuneration for Commissioners of the SSI LCC
would be presented to the CRD Board for approval. This alternative would not impact
remuneration to Electoral Area Directors.

Financial Implications

Alternative 1

There are no financial implications. Remuneration for SSI Electoral Area Director and
Commissioners of the SSI LCC, and for any comprehensive remuneration review in 2026, are
within the requisition.

Alternative 2

The CRD would be required to engage a third-party consultant, and the costs would be borne by
the Electoral Area. If remuneration adjustments were recommended and approved, there would
be financial implications to individual members, and specifically the Electoral Area Director(s) and
Commissioners of the SSI LCC. Adjustments to budgets may be required.

Alternative 3
The SSI Electoral Area requisition would be amended commensurate with any approved
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adjustment to Commissioners of the Local Community Commission. Staff would report back to
the Board prior to the final budget review in 2025.

CONCLUSION

On October 9, 2024 staff were requested to review the implications of amending the remuneration
for elected officials in the Salt Spring Island Electoral Area. The CRD Board has established and
approved a Remuneration Policy for CRD Board Directors and Alternates, and which is based on
a longstanding philosophy that recognizes the significant commitment and expectations of a CRD
Director, and remuneration which is comparable with other organizations. Any amendment to
remuneration levels should be done in accordance with the Remuneration Policy and the Board’s
approved philosophy, and be aligned with the review schedule.

RECOMMENDATION

The Electoral Areas Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That the remuneration for the Salt Spring Island Electoral Area Director and Commissioners of
the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission be retained at the current remuneration
level, and that this be evaluated in 2026 as scheduled and as part of the regular remuneration
review for the 2027-2030 Board term.

Submitted by: |Chris Neilson, MBA, CPHR, Senior Manager Human Resources & Corporate Safety

Concurrence: |Kristen Morley, J.D., General Manager, Corporate Services & Corporate Officer

Concurrence: [Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer, GM Finance & IT

Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENT(S)

Appendix A: Board Remuneration and Travel Expense Reimbursement Policy (BRDO03), with
Appendices
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CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT
BOARD POLICY

Policy Type Board
Section Policies, Procedures, Manuals
Title BOARD REMUNERATION AND TRAVEL EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT
Adoption Date September 9, 2015 Policy Number BRDO03
Last Amended January 19, 2024 Amended By HR
Policy Owner Human Resources
1. POLICY:

To provide for remuneration and travel expense reimbursement for CRD Board Members
according to the CRD Board Remuneration Framework.

2. PURPOSE:

To outline the Board remuneration and travel expense reimbursement guidelines.

The CRD Board approved a new Board remuneration framework on September 9, 2015. A
primary driver for establishing a CRD Board remuneration philosophy was to recognize the
significant amount of commitment required of Directors and to design an approach that would
assist with engagement as well as attendance.

3. SCOPE:

The policy applies to all CRD Board Directors, Commission members, First Nations Members and
certain Board appointees to external Boards.

4. DEFINITIONS:

“Board Remuneration” refers to any compensation paid to Board Directors, certain Commission
members, First Nations Members and Board appointees to external Boards as approved by the
CRD Board in exchange for undertaking CRD business activities.

5. PROCEDURE:

Human Resources, in consultation with Finance and Technology and Corporate Services, is
responsible for the control, coordination, and implementation of the policy. Modifications to the
overall policy are to be approved by the Capital Regional District (CRD) Board.

1. All Board Directors, certain Commission members, Municipal Councillors, First Nations
Members and certain Board appointees to external Boards shall receive an annual
stipend and/or a payment per meeting and travel expenses as per CRD Board
Remuneration and Travel Expense Policy - Schedule 1.

2. Eligibility for payments is defined in CRD Directors Appointments by Committees,
Commissions to External Board - Schedule 2.
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3. The remuneration amounts will be adjusted annually, by Financial Services, based on the
Consumer Price Index for the Victoria area for the twelve months ending December 31 of
the preceding year — Schedule 3.

4. The remuneration structure will be reviewed periodically as directed by the Board.

6. SCHEDULE(S):
A. Schedule 1 — CRD Board Remuneration and Travel Expense Policy

B. Schedule 2 — Remuneration Eligibility Table
C. Schedule 3 — CRD Board Remuneration Philosophy

7. AMENDMENT(S)

Adoption Date Description

September 9, 2015 Approved by the Board

(Revised April 18, 2016)

April 12, 2017 Amendment 1, approved by the Board

(eff. January 1, 2017)

May 9, 2018 Amendment 2, approved by the Board

(eff. January 1, 2019)

February 10, 2020 Amendment 3, approved by Human Resources (eff Jan.2020
(Schedule 1 and 2 updates) Schedule 1; Dec.2019 Schedule 2)

January 13, 2021 Amendment 4, approved by the Board

(Schedule 2 update)

February 2, 2021 Amendment 5, approved by Human Resources (eff. Jan.2021)
(Schedule 1 update)

January 24, 2022 Amendment 6, approved by Human Resources (eff. Jan.2022)
(Schedule 1 update)

January 20, 2023 Amendment 7, approved by Human Resources (eff. Jan.2023)
(Schedule 1 update)

June 2023 Amendment 8, approved by the Board (eff. June 2023)
January 19, 2024 Amendment 9, approved by Human Resources (eff. Jan.2023)

(Schedule 1 update)
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8. REVIEW(S)

Review Date

Description:

Annually

Review annually for schedule(s) update

9. RELATED POLICY, PROCEDURE OR GUIDELINE(S):

e Bylaw No. 3828, “Board Procedures Bylaw, 2012”
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CRD Board Remuneration and Travel Expense Policy — Schedule 1
Effective January 1, 2024

EXPENSE

REMUNERATION ALLOWANCE

TOTAL

ANNUAL STIPENDS
Paid periodically throughout the year (currently, biweekly)
CRD / CRHD Board Directors 15,590 7,795 23,385
Includes all CRD/CRHD Board meetings, Committee of the Whole
Meetings, and two Standing Committee* commitments
*where defined as a standing committee in bylaws or terms of reference
AND members are appointed by the Board Chair

Electoral Area Directors (additional) 30,052 15,026 45,078
CRD Board Chair (additional) 22,928 11,464 34,392
CRD Board Vice-Chair (additional) 4,585 2,292 6,877
CRHD Board Chair (additional) 4,585 2,292 6,877
(Not paid if the CRHD Board Chair is also the CRD Board Vice-Chair)

Board Standing Committee Chair, CRD Arts Commission Chair & Solid 2,293 1,147 3,440
Waste Advisory Commission Chair (additional) (when appointed by CRD

Board Chair)

Additional Board Standing Committee(s) (additional) 4,585 2,292 6,877

(Payable if Standing Committee Membership exceeds the two

remunerated in Section 1)

Salt Spring Island Local Community Commissioner 6,913 3,457 10,370
(Payable to all elected LCC commissioners, except the Electoral Area

Director)

PER MEETING PAYMENTS
Paid for scheduled attendance at a meeting, except where such meeting has been cancelled in advance
(see Footnote 2 - Eligibility Verification)

Alternate CRD/CRHD Board Director and Acting Standing Committee 73 37 110
Chair

CRD Board Directors - Local & Sub-Regional Commission/Committee 73 37 110
Meetings

Does not apply when:
i. Commission /Committee within the responsibilities of the
Electoral Area Director
ii. Remuneration is already paid by the Commission
iii. The Committee/Commission is not eligible for payment by
Act, Regulation, Bylaw or other

First Nation Member appointees to eligible CRD Committee 73 37 110
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12

13

14

15
16

17

18
19

20
21

22

CRD Board Directors — appointed by CRD to External Board 73
Does not apply when:
i External Board falls within the responsibilities of the
Electoral Area Director
ii. Remuneration is already paid by the External Board
iii. The External Board is not eligible for payment by Act,
Regulation, Bylaw or other

CRD Municipal Directors who vote on Part 26 Decisions of Juan de Fuca 73
Electoral Area
Applies only when:
a. Attendance at a JDFEA land use committee meeting of which the
director is a member

b. Attendance at any land use public hearing of the JDFEA
regarding an area where the director is eligible to vote on
decisions at the CRD Board

Does not apply to the Electoral Area Director

Alternate CRD Electoral Area Director attending formal Local and Sub- 73
Regional Commission meetings in place of the Electoral Area Director
All Commissioners - Regional Water Supply Commission 73
Forum of Councils — First Nations, Municipal Councilors and Directors 73
TRAVEL EXPENSES
(see Footnote 3 regarding claim process)
All Director, LCC Commissioner, or First Nation Member Travel - to and $0.64

from meetings where the Director, LCC Commissioner or First Nation
Member is a member

DIRECTOR TRAVEL
Within Capital Region/Vancouver Island and Lower Mainland
Travel by Personal Automobile S0.64
Travel by Bus, Train, Ferry, Air (economy class) Actual expense
DIRECTOR TRAVEL
Outside Capital Region/Vancouver Island and Lower Mainland
Travel by Personal Automobile $0.64
Travel by Bus, Train, Ferry, Air (economy class), Car Rental (mid-size) Actual expense
Electoral Area Director Travel - within Electoral Area $0.64

37 110
37 110
37 110
37 110
37 110

Per km. for regularly constituted
meetings of Board, Commissions,
Standing, and Select Committees

Per kilometre

Payable upon receipt

Per kilometre

Payable upon receipt

For travel greater than 10km from
EA Director's residence within the
EA or their office, provided the
destination is a place to conduct
EA business
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23

24

25

26
27

28

29
30
31

CRD Board Chair, CRHD Board Chair, Standing Committee Chair - $0.64 For any business travel of the
including Acting Chairs Board or Standing Committee,
provided the expenses are
incurred outside the municipality
or EA which the Chair represents
MEALS
For Travel Requiring Greater-Than 24 Hours from Place of Residence $70 Per diem allowance for meals,
gratuities, parking, local calls
For Travel Requiring Less-than 24 Hours from Place of Residence
- Breakfast $15.00 See Footnote 1
- Lunch $20.00 See Footnote 1
- Dinner $35.00 See Footnote 1
OTHER
Seminars, Courses, Conferences, Meetings Actual Cost Registration Fees paid for single
participation (Receipt required)
Accommodation Actual Cost Based on single occupancy
Taxi Expenses Actual Cost Receipts are required
Long Distance Telephone Calls Actual Cost Receipts are required
FOOTNOTES
(1) Meal payments will be paid as follows:
If Departure Prior to: 7:00am Breakfast, Lunch, Dinner
12:00noon Lunch, Dinner
6:00pm Dinner
If Return After: 12:30pm Breakfast, Lunch
6:00pm Breakfast, Lunch, Dinner

(2) Eligibility Verification:
For attendance at meetings, seminars, courses, conferences and/or meetings outside of CRD facilities, claimants will confirm their
attendance on the CRD Travel Expense Report Claim form and eligibility of expense claims will be approved by Legislative Services.

(3) Travel Expense Claims Process: ‘

Claims for travel expenses are submitted to Legislative Services for approval on the CRD Travel Expense Report Claim form within
thirty (30) calendar days of the period in which the expenses were incurred.
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CRD Board Remuneration and Travel Expense Policy — Schedule 2

Remuneration Eligibility Table

Regional Board and Standing Committees Foifneote
Capital Regional District Board 1
Capital Regional Hospital District Board 1
Capital Region Housing Corporation Board 1,6
Climate Action Inter-Municipal Task Force 7
Committee of the Whole 1
Core Area Liquid Waste Management Committee 1,2,8
Electoral Areas Committee 1,2,8
Environmental Services Committee 1,2,8
First Nations Relations Committee 1,2,8
Finance Committee 1,2,8
Governance Committee 1,2,8
Hospitals and Housing Committee 1,2,8
Planning and Protective Services Committee 1,2,8
Regional Parks Committee 1,2,8
Solid Waste Advisory Committee 7
Transportation Committee 1,2,8

Footnotes:

1. Within Director's core responsibilities

2. Eligible for additional Standing Committee payment, if Director already sits on
two (2) Standing Committees

3. Eligible for per meeting payment

4. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board falls within the responsibilities of an
Electoral Area Director

5. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board already makes a payment for attendance

6. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board ineligible by Act, Regulation, Bylaw or other

7. Not eligible for payment: Sub-Committee to a Standing Committee or other

8. Payments to be made to respective First Nations Governments on behalf of First Nation
Member appointees following attendance at the meeting. Payments for attendance and
expenses shall not exceed $8,250 per year per First Nation. Note that First Nation
participation is only permitted where the specific Committee Terms of Reference allow.
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Director Appointments to Local & Subregional Commissions See

Foo
Arts Commission
East Sooke Fire Protection and Emergency Response Service Commission
East Sooke Advisory Planning Commission

Galiano Island Parks and Recreation Commission

Juan de Fuca Board of Variance
Juan de Fuca Electoral Area Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission
Juan de Fuca Land Use Committee

w
N

Juan de Fuca Water Distribution Commission
Lyall Harbour/Boot Cove Water Local Services Committee
Magic Lake Estates Water and Sewer Committee
Mayne Island Parks and Recreation Commission
North Galiano Fire Protection and Emergency Response Service Commission
Otter Point Advisory Planning Commission
Otter Point Fire Protection and Emergency Response Service Commission
Pender Islands Parks and Recreation Commission
Peninsula Recreation Commission
Port Renfrew Fire Protection and Emergency Response Service Commission
Port Renfrew Utility Services Committee
Regional Housing Trust Fund Commission
Regional Water Supply Commission
Saanich Peninsula Wastewater Commission

Saanich Peninsula Water Commission
Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission

—
™

Salt Spring Island Electoral Area Emergency Program Advisory Commission

tnote

B R T S -

w w o w s~ b~ WO DA DDA DA DD DDA

N

Footnotes:

1. Within Director's core responsibilities

2. Eligible for additional Standing Committee payment, if Director already sits on
two (2) Standing Committees

3. Eligible for per meeting payment

4. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board falls within the responsibilities of an
Electoral Area Director

5. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board already makes a payment for attendance
6. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board ineligible by Act, Regulation, Bylaw or other

7. Not eligible for payment: Sub-Committee to a Standing Committee or other
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See
Footnote

Saturna Island Parks and Recreation Commission 4

Director Appointments to Local & Subregional Commissions (con't)

Shirley Fire Protection and Emergency Response Service Commission

Shirley/Jordan River Advisory Planning Commission

A b~ b

Skana Water Service Committee

w
N

Sooke and Electoral Area Parks and Recreation Commission
Southern Gulf Islands Community Economic Sustainability Commission
Southern Gulf Islands Electoral Area Emergency Advisory Commission

Southern Gulf Islands Harbours Commission
Southern Gulf Islands Public Library Commission
SSI - Beddis Water Service Commission
SSI - Cedar Lane Water Service Commission
SSI - Cedars of Tuam Water Service Commission

SSI - Fernwood Water Local Service Commission
SSI - Fulford Water Service Commission
SSI - Ganges Sewer Local Services Commission

SSI - Highland Water and Sewer Services Commission
Sticks Allison Water Local Service Committee
Surfside Park Estates Water Service Committee
Traffic Safety Commission
Victoria Family Court and Youth Justice Committee
Water Advisory Committee

Wilderness Mountain Water Service Commission

A A O W W A DA DB DDA DM DDA DM DM DD

Willis Point Fire Protection and Recreation Facilities Commission

Footnotes:

1. Within Director's core responsibilities

2. Eligible for additional Standing Committee payment, if Director already sits on
two (2) Standing Committees

3. Eligible for per meeting payment

4. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board falls within the responsibilities of an
Electoral Area Director

5. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board already makes a payment for attendance
6. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board ineligible by Act, Regulation, Bylaw or other

7. Not eligible for payment: Sub-Committee to a Standing Committee or other
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Regional Board Appointments to External Boards

Capital Regional Emergency Services Telecommunications
Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society
Greater Victoria Harbour Authority Board
Greater Victoria Labour Relations Board
Gulf Islands National Park Reserve Advisory Board
Island Corridor Foundation Board
Municipal Finance Authority
Pender Islands’ Fire Protection Society
Regional Representative to the Treaty Table
Royal and McPhersion Theatres Society Advisory Committee
Royal and McPherson Theatres Society Board
Salt Spring Island Ferry Advisory Committee
Sooke Historical Society
Southern Gulf Islands Ferry Advisory Committees

Vancouver Island Regional Library

See
Footnote

5

A A D b O N W B~ OO OO B~ O OO o

Footnotes:

1. Within Director's core responsibilities

2. Eligible for additional Standing Committee payment, if Director already sits on
two (2) Standing Committees

3. Eligible for per meeting payment

4. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board falls within the responsibilities of an
Electoral Area Director

5. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board already makes a payment for attendance
6. Not eligible for payment: Commission/Board ineligible by Act, Regulation, Bylaw or other

7. Not eligible for payment: Sub-Committee to a Standing Committee or other
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CRD Board Remuneration and Travel Expense Policy — Schedule 3

CRD Board Remuneration Philosophy
(Effective January 1, 2016)

a base Director annual stipend as the average paid to CRD member councillors, which
recognizes attendance at all Board meetings and Committee of the Whole meetings plus
two Standing Committee commitments; and

an additional annual stipend to Electoral Area Directors which recognizes all additional
Electoral Area work including Electoral Area Commission commitments; and

an additional annual stipend to the CRD Board Chair consistent with payments made by
other Regional Districts, which recognizes all Board Chair responsibilities including all ex-
officio responsibilities on Standing Committees; and

additional annual stipends to recognize the additional commitments of the: CRD Board
Vice-Chair; Capital Region Hospital District Chair; Standing Committee Chairs; CRD
Directors appointed as a Commission Chair, when such Commission Chair appointment
is made directly by the CRD Board Chair [amended effective January 1, 2017]; and CRD
Directors who are involved on more than two Standing Committees; and

per meeting payments to CRD Directors appointed to local and sub-regional Commissions
and external boards (except where remuneration is already paid and/or not eligible); and

per meeting payments to Alternate Directors consistent with payments made by other
Regional Districts; and

that the annual cost of living adjustment based on the Victoria Consumer Price Index

continue to be applied, and that a regular review be undertaken every three (3) to five (5)
years to ensure remuneration remains comparable.

Page 11



@rd.

Making a difference...together ERM 24-59

REPORT TO ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2024

SUBJECT Regulating Curbside Organics Collection

ISSUE SUMMARY

To present on the continued implementation of the organics diversion strategy and to evaluate and
report on pathways for mandatory separation of curbside collection and diversion of organics.

BACKGROUND

The Solid Waste Management Plan (SWMP) was principally developed to reduce the amount of
waste material sent to the Hartland Landfill, and guide how the region’s solid waste is managed in a
safe, secure and sustainable way now, and in the future. According to the 2022 Solid Waste Stream
Composition Study, 16.7% of waste currently sent to Hartland Landfill is organic material
(approximately 28,500 tonnes per year). A landfill ban on organics and soiled paper products was
implemented at Hartland Landfill in January 2015. In addition to the ban on organics, the CRD has
several programs in place to support the reduction and diversion of organic materials from the
landfill, including operating a food scraps transfer station, receiving yard and garden material at rates
lower than general refuse, funding the Victoria Compost Education Centre and partnering with Love
Food Hate Waste Canada. It is anticipated that with continued programming, the downward trend in
organic waste disposal (67kg/capita in 2021) will continue towards reaching the 2031 waste disposal
target of 42kg/capita.

The CRD also established the Solid Waste Stream Collector Incentive Program, which began earlier
this year. This program is designed to incent multi-stream waste collection, including organics. With
the implementation of this new initiative, along with the other programs, it is anticipated that the
downward trend in organic waste disposal will continue and accelerate. The next solid waste stream
composition study, which will provide further insight into organics disposal trends, is scheduled for
2026.

At the November 8, 2023 Capital Regional District (CRD) Board meeting, staff were directed to
continue implementing the organics diversion strategy as currently outlined in the new Solid Waste
Management Plan, and evaluate and report to committee on pathways to mandatory separation of
curbside collection and diversion of organics (staff report attached as Appendix A). In response to
the Board’s direction, staff sought a legal opinion, and the options are provided as Appendix B.

Overall, this review found that the CRD, as a regional district, has the authority under the
Environmental Management Act to manage municipal solid waste or recyclable material for the
purpose of implementing the SWMP. This is further supported by the Local Government Act, which
allows regional districts like the CRD to provide a collection service, by bylaw to regulate, store and
manage municipal solid waste and recyclable material. However, given that regulating mandatory
organics collection is a departure from the strategies currently set out in the SWMP, implementing
the above-mentioned measures would require amendments to the SWMP, further consultation with
affected stakeholders and provincial approval.
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ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1

The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That staff continue implementing the organics diversion strategy as currently outlined in the 2021
Solid Waste Management Plan.

Alternative 2

The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That staff accelerate the current organics diversion strategy by beginning the process to amend the
Solid Waste Management Plan by conducting community-wide consultations with the intent of
adopting a bylaw regulating curbside organics collection across the region.

Alternative 3
The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That this report be referred back to staff for additional information.

IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

Financial implications associated with regulating a mandatory curbside organics collection service
include costs associated with enforcing the bylaw and the costs associated with delivering a curbside
collection service. A market sounding and/or tender would be required to confirm current market
pricing; however, it is expected that costs to operate a regional wide organics collection service are
comparable to the cost to operate the blue box collection program ($60-$80 per household per year).
Processing and marketing of collected materials would represent an additional expense and would
vary depending on the quantity of material received but would be in the range of $140 to $170 per
tonne. There would likely also be capital costs associated with providing collection containers to
those being offered the service.

Service Delivery Implications

If the Board wishes to further explore regulating mandatory curbside collection, the CRD would need
to adopt a bylaw; however, to do so, the SWMP would need to be amended. Proposed amendments
would require extensive community-wide consultation, beginning with municipalities to determine
support for regulating mandatory curbside organics collection and preferences for a service delivery
approach (e.g., service provided by municipalities, the CRD, or residents contracting for service
directly with the private sector). The Regional District of Nanaimo (RDN), for example, has adopted
a bylaw which requires owners or occupiers of a property, as of January 2025, to have separate
containers for different types of solid waste and recyclable materials. A bylaw similar to the RDN'’s
would make it mandatory for multi-family and industrial, commercial, and institutional property
owners, as well as single-family homes who do not receive municipal collection services, to separate
out organics and recyclable items from the waste (See Appendix B).

In 2021, it was determined that the CRD and the municipalities didn’t control sufficient tonnages of

organic waste feedstock to validate the business case to build a dedicated in-region organics
processing facility. As a result, the decision to develop an in-region processing facility was tabled
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until feedstock conditions or on-island private processing capacity changed. Regulation of a
region-wide mandatory organic curbside collection service may change the business case for
developing an in-region organics processing facility by providing further additional feedstock
tonnages if this service were to be provided by the CRD and/or municipalities.

CONCLUSION

In response to the Board’s direction, Capital Regional District staff sought legal review on pathways
for mandatory separation of curbside collection and diversion of organics. This review found that
regulating and managing a region-wide curbside organics collection service can be done through
the adoption of a bylaw; however, to do so, the Solid Waste Management Plan would need to be
amended. Proposed amendments would require consultation with affected stakeholders and
provincial approval. It is anticipated that with continued programming, the downward trend in organic
waste disposal will continue towards the 2031 disposal target of 42kg/capita and no change in
organics collection policy is deemed necessary at this time.

RECOMMENDATION

The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That staff continue implementing the organics diversion strategy as currently outlined in the 2021
Solid Waste Management Plan.

Submitted by: | Tom Watkins, Acting Senior Manager, Environmental Resource Management

Concurrence: | Russ Smith, Acting General Manager, Parks, Recreation & Environmental Services

Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENTS

Appendix A: Staff Report to Environmental Services Committee: Implications of Regulating
Curbside Organics Collection (October 18, 2023)
Appendix B: Options for Mandatory Requirements for Organics Diversion and Collection
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REPORT TO ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2023

SUBJECT Implications of Regulating Curbside Organics Collection

ISSUE SUMMARY

To present implications of regulating curbside organics collection from municipalities and electoral
areas in the region.

BACKGROUND

The Capital Regional Districts (CRD) new Solid Waste Management Plan (SWMP) was
developed to reduce the amount of waste material sent to the Hartland Landfill, and guide how
the region’s solid waste is managed in a safe, secure and sustainable way now and in the future.
The plan targets greater than one-third reduction of waste from current levels of 409 kg/capita
annually to 250 kg/capita in 10 years.

In 2022, the CRD completed a Waste Stream Composition Study which estimated that
approximately 16.7% of waste currently sent to Hartland Landfill is organic material
(approximately 28,500 tonnes per year). Organic material is not garbage and should be diverted
for processing in support of a circular economy. When reviewing the Waste Stream Composition
Study results, the Solid Waste Advisory Committee passed a motion recommending the CRD
regulate mandatory collection of organic waste and, subsequently at the April 12, 2023 meeting,
the CRD Board directed staff to explore regulating mandatory curbside organics collection from
the municipalities and electoral areas in the region.

Disposal of organic waste has been trending downward, with waste stream composition studies
showing that the organic waste received for disposal at Hartland Landfill decreasing from:

o 120 kg/capita in 2010

o 75 kg/capita in 2016 (37% decrease from 2010)

) 67 kg/capita in 2021 (11% decrease from 2016)

. 42 kg/capita is the 2031 SWMP organic waste target

To meet the Solid Waste Management Plan target of reducing waste disposal down from
400kg/capita (2021) to 250kg/capita (2031) requires a 37% decrease by 2031 — equating to a
25kg/capita reduction in kitchen scraps being disposed of at Hartland landfill.

A landfill ban on food scraps and soiled paper products was put in place at Hartland Landfill in
January 2015 contributing to this downward trend, and the ban is enforced by CRD bylaw officers.
The CRD has programs in place to support the reduction and diversion of organic materials from
the landfill. In addition to the 2015 landfill ban of organics, these programs include operating a
food scraps transfer station, receiving yard and garden material at rates lower than general refuse,
funding the Victoria Compost Education Centre and partnering with Love Food Hate Waste
Canada.

Within the new SWMP, strategy 3 commits the CRD to support reduction of avoidable food waste,
and strategies 7-9 commit the CRD to increasing waste diversion (including organics diversion)
within the single family, multi-family and institutional, industrial and commercial (ICI) sectors. A
new hauler incentive policy set to begin in 2024, is designed to incent multi-stream waste
collection including organics. With the implementation of this new policy along with the other
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programs in place to support reduction and diversion of organic materials it's anticipated that the
downward trend in organic waste disposal will accelerate. The next waste composition study,
which will provide further insight into organics disposal trends, is scheduled for 2026.

Currently in the capital region, curbside organics collection falls under municipal purview and is
offered by 6 out of the 13 municipalities to single family residents. Within the remaining
7 municipalities, electoral areas and amongst all multi-family and ICI sectors in the region,
residents and businesses can obtain organics collection through private service providers on a
voluntary basis. A summary of current curbside collection service can be found in Appendix A. In
response to Board Direction, staff have obtained a legal opinion to understand the feasibility of
regulating mandatory curbside organics collection, region-wide. This review found that the CRD
Board has authority under the Local Government Act to establish a bylaw to regulate a mandatory
curbside collection for organics in the capital region. Such a bylaw could be written to involve a
combination of:
o Municipal Collection Service: Collection service provided directly or through service
contracts managed by municipalities;
° Private Collection Service: Collection service procured by residents or businesses
contracting directly with the private sector; or
° CRD Collection Service: Collection service provided or contracted by the CRD, similar to
the curbside blue box recycling program.

Given that regulating mandatory organics collection is a departure from the strategies for
managing organics that are currently set out in the SWMP, it is likely that regulating mandatory
curbside organics collection would require a SWMP Amendment and associated consultation and
Provincial approval would be required.

ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1

That the Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That staff continue implementing the organics diversion strategy as currently outlined in the new
Solid Waste Management Plan.

Alternative 2

That the Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That staff accelerates the current organics diversion strategy by beginning the process to amend
the current Solid Waste Management Plan by consulting on the CRD regulating mandatory
curbside organics collection.

IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

Financial implications associated with regulating mandatory curbside organics collection include
costs associated with enforcing the bylaw, and depending on selected service delivery approach
(e.g., service provided by municipalities, the CRD, or residents contracting for service directly with
the private sector), the cost associated with delivering curbside collection service. A market
sounding and/or tender would be required to confirm current market pricing; however, it is
expected that costs to operate a regionally provided curbside organics collection service are
comparable to the cost to operate the blue box collection, program ($62.87/household/year
(2024 rates)).
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Service Delivery Implications

If the Board wishes to further explore regulating mandatory curbside collection, staff will need to
begin by consulting with municipalities to determine support for regulating mandatory curbside
organics collection and preferences for service delivery approach (e.g., service provided by
municipalities, the CRD, or residents contracting for service directly with the private sector). Once
consultation has been completed, staff would return to the Board to seek direction on subsequent
next steps.

Should a CRD or expanded municipal collection service be established, this would generate
additional organics feedstock tonnages owned by the relevant collection provider that would
require processing. Between 2019 and 2021, the CRD investigated establishing an in-region
organics processing facility. In 2021, it was determined that the CRD and the municipalities didn’t
control sufficient tonnages of organic waste feedstock to validate the business case to build a
dedicated in-region organics processing facility, and the decision to develop an in-region
processing facility was tabled until feedstock conditions or on-island processing capacity
changed. Regulation of region-wide mandatory organic curbside collection may change the
business case for developing an in-region organics processing facility by providing further
guaranteed feedstock tonnages if this service were to be provided by the CRD and/or
municipalities.

CONCLUSION

The Capital Regional District’'s (CRD) recently approved Solid Waste Management Plan outlines
proposed organic diversion strategies. The CRD has authority under the Local Government Act
to regulate curbside collection service for organics in the capital region. Regulating mandatory
curbside collection can be done through the adoption of a bylaw which could require curbside
collection of organics for some or all residents and/or businesses through services provided
directly or contracted by the CRD, municipalities, or the private sector. It's anticipated that the
downward trend in organic waste disposal (67kg/capita in 2021) will continue to trend towards the
2031 disposal target of 42kg/capita and no change in organics collection policy is deemed
necessary at this time.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That staff continue implementing the organics diversion strategy as currently outlined in the new
Solid Waste Management Plan.

Submitted by: | Russ Smith, Senior Manager, Environmental Services Committee

Concurrence: | Larisa Hutcheson, P. Eng., General Manager, Parks & Environmental Services
Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENT

Appendix A: Solid Waste Collection Provided by Municipality by Material Type and Sector
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APPENDIX A

SOLID WASTE COLLECTION PROVIDED BY MUNICIPALITY
BY MATERIAL TYPE AND SECTOR

Garbage Yaﬁa%eﬁ:::en Kitchen Scraps T

Collection | Drop-off|Collection| Drop-off | Collection | Drop-off| Serviced
Municipality
Central Saanich
Colwood M SF
Esquimalt M M M SF
Highlands
Langford
Metchosin
North Saanich M SF
Oak Bay M M M M M SF
Saanich M M M M SF
Sidney M* M* M* SF
Sooke
Victoria M M M M SF
View Royal M* M* M M* SF
Electoral Area
Juan de Fuca M SF
Southern Gulf
Islands
Salt Spring
Island

M - Waste collection service provided by municipality
M* - Municipally managed program with direct service provided by contractor

SF - Single-family




APPENDIX B

OPTIONS FOR MANDATORY REQUIREMENTS
FOR ORGANICS DIVERSION AND COLLECTION
October 2024

1. CRD to seek additional regulatory power that requires property to have separate
containers for solid waste including recycling and organics.

As an example, the Regional District of Nanaimo (RDN) has been granted additional power,
by bylaw, which requires owners or occupiers of a property to have separate containers for
different types of solid waste and recyclable materials. The CRD could seek to obtain similar
regulatory power that the Province has already granted the RDN, which would require
owners or occupiers of property to do the same. A bylaw similar to the RDN’s would make it
mandatory for multi-family and industrial, commercial, and institutional (ICI) owners (who do
not receive municipal collection services) to provide separate containers for garbage,
recyclables and organics.

2. CRD to seek additional regulatory power that requires owners or occupiers of
property to use an organics collection service.

An organic collection service could be provided by the CRD, another local government or
by a private service provider. However, some consideration needs to be given to properties
where collection services are not available, and for owners who dispose of organics by other
acceptable means, such as on-site composting or delivery to a licensed composting facility.

Currently, curbside organics collection falls under municipal purview, and is only being
offered by 6 of the 13 municipalities to single family residents. For this reason, the CRD
could consider providing curbside collection services in areas where such services are not
available (i.e., the remaining 7 municipalities, electoral areas and amongst all multi-family
and ICl sectors in the region). The CRD could also consider providing these services to a
larger portion of the region including within municipal areas.

3. Hauler Incentive Program and Changes to Tipping Fees

The RDN, for instance, has a licensing program for commercial haulers with the objective
of incentivizing increased diversion by offering lower tipping fees to enable haulers to
provide lower rates to residents, and by imposing a disposal levy. The disposal levy serves
as a disincentive to commercial haulers who are required to pay for material that is disposed
of at the landfill. Similarly, the CRD as of January 2024, increased general refuse tipping
fees from $110/tonne to $150/tonne. This change in tipping fees will support diversion efforts
in the waste management industry and will better align with general refuse tipping fees in
other on-island regional districts. During this time, the CRD implemented the Waste Stream
Collector Incentive Program. This program allows Hartland account customers to receive a
rebate on general refuse if they voluntarily self-report waste collection data and promote
multi-stream collection. This program, however, is voluntary in nature and does not mandate
haulers to participate.
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REPORT TO ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2024

SUBJECT Regional Canada Goose Management Service - Activities Update

ISSUE SUMMARY

To provide an update on the Regional Canada Goose Management Service activities in
2023-2024.

BACKGROUND

In February 2023, the Capital Regional District (CRD) Board established a Regional Canada
Goose Management Service to work with key partners to reduce the impact of the rapidly growing
Canada goose (CAGO) population in the region and to coordinate implementation of the Regional
Canada Goose Management Strategy (RCGMS). The RCGMS provides guidance for controlling
adverse impacts of the population of non-migratory, resident CAGO and recommends the use of
management tools such as preventing feeding, habitat modifications, water management, hazing,
egg addling, hunting, harvests and public outreach. This report outlines the service activities
undertaken in 2023-2024 to implement the RCGMS and provides recommendations for future
service levels.

The following activities were taken to coordinate implementation of the RCGMS:
Administration and Coordination

The CRD hired a half-time coordinator in September 2023 to coordinate goose management
efforts in the region, establish partnerships with key agencies responsible for wildlife
management, engage with landowners affected by geese and undertake coordinated mitigation
efforts. The service was supplemented this past spring with an auxiliary Goose Management
technician to support the egg addling program, conduct recruitment/young of the year surveys,
and to assist with the region-wide summer moult survey. Staff developed a detailed
communications strategy to increase awareness of the regional impacts of the growing population
and to engage with landowners experiencing issues. In January 2024, the CRD established the
Regional Canada Goose Working Group made up of representatives from local governments and
First Nations, provincial and federal partners, Peninsula and Area Agricultural Commission, and
other key stakeholders. The working group meets quarterly to share information and coordinate
efforts across the region.

Coordinated Nest Survey and Egg Addling Program

The CRD obtained a region-wide egg addling permit from Canadian Wildlife Service. Several local
governments and 55 participating landowners added their properties to the CRD’s permit and
granted CRD technicians access to their land to survey nests and addle eggs. CRD staff
discovered 142 active nests on 18 properties and addled 672 eggs. 31 missed nests (eggs already
hatched) and 5 inaccessible nests were found, resulting in total of 178 nests located. Some
landowner agencies addled eggs or contracted egg addling on their lands, resulting in an
additional 280 active nests located and 1,369 eggs addled. In 2024, a total of 422 active nests
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were located and 2,041 eggs were addled preventing their recruitment to the local Canada goose
population. The 2024 egg addling report is attached in Appendix A.

Region-wide CAGO Summer Moult Survey

Previous moult surveys estimated the regional summer breeding population of geese at 2,500,
though these were only partial surveys focused on known hotspots like Sooke Basin, Esquimalt
Lagoon, Oak Bay shoreline, and northeast Saanich Peninsula. In June 2024, the CRD
collaborated with working group partners, local governments, First Nations and conservation
groups to conduct the first region-wide CAGO moult survey. A total of 6,669 geese were counted
and new hotspots were identified along the shorelines of Victoria, Metchosin, East Sooke, Juan
de Fuca Electoral Area, Southern Gulf Islands, and on private farmlands, golf courses, small lakes
and ponds. The 2024 moult survey report is attached in Appendix B.

Canada Goose Harvest

The CRD contracted an experienced non-profit agency to coordinate with First Nations to
implement an ethical and humane harvest of Canada geese under permits obtained from
Canadian Wildlife Service and the Province of British Columbia. In late June, the harvest reduced
the population by 465 birds and the meat was shared among the participating First Nations
communities.

Despite significant success in coordinating efforts to manage the regional Canada goose
population since service establishment, the actual population is significantly higher than previous
estimates indicated and the negative impacts from goose populations are more widely spread
and significant.

ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1

The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That staff be directed to develop increased service levels for consideration in the 2026 service
planning process.

Alternative 2
That this report be referred back to staff for further information.

IMPLICATIONS

Environmental and Social Implications

The increasing Canada goose population continues to affect regional farmlands and degrade
coastal ecosystems and salmon habitats through over-grazing, trampling of vegetation, soll
erosion, and the spread of invasive species. Additionally, public health concerns are rising due to
high densities of fecal matter, degradation and contamination of water sources, territorial goose
conflicts, the spread of disease, and increased risk of exposure to Highly Pathogenic Avian
Influenza. These impacts are seen at public and private sites, including sports fields, swimming
beaches, golf courses, and farmlands. Significant economic impacts also persist for local farmers,
who are experiencing increased maintenance costs and financial losses due to Canada goose
damage.
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The service has provided more accurate data on the regional goose population. According to the
2023 Christmas Bird Count data, an estimated 9,000-11,000 geese overwinter in the capital
region, primarily on farmland and recreational playing fields. Staff continue to receive reports from
the farming community about large flocks wiping out entire crops in a matter of hours, despite
efforts at hazing, habitat modification and regional egg addling. Similar to the moult population
estimates, staff anticipate that overwintering populations are also substantially higher than
previously thought. Staff plan to conduct a region-wide survey in January 2025 to obtain a more
accurate and up-to-date estimate of the overwintering population, which will better inform future
management efforts.

Recruitment surveys showed the largest numbers of goslings were in Colwood, Saanich and the
Gulf Islands. More robust addling programs are needed in areas with high numbers of juveniles.
Areas where the ratio of adults to juveniles are high will require additional harvests to effectively
reduce the CAGO population.

Current mitigation efforts, including a coordinated egg addling program and an annual harvest,
may help stabilize the CAGO population but are unlikely to result in a significant enough reduction
to meaningfully ease the environmental, recreational, and economic impacts across the region.
Additional resources will enable increased mitigation efforts.

Intergovernmental and First Nations Implications

Several municipal partners have expressed capacity issues to fully participate in egg addling
programs and would benefit from additional CRD staff capacity to conduct addling on their lands.

Two local First Nations communities participated in the harvest and have expressed interest in
future harvests. Efforts to engage with First Nation Guardians programs to participate in a
coordinated egg addling program are ongoing.

Financial Implications

The current service budget is $237,000. In 2024, this supported a part-time coordinator ($85K),
egg addling program including a six-week assistant Goose Management technician ($25K), a
region-wide summer moult survey ($35K), one annual harvest ($82K) and administrative
support/equipment ($10K). Without a budget increase, staff cannot achieve the mitigation efforts
required to achieve a meaningful reduction of the CAGO population and their impacts. These
resources appear sufficient to stabilize the regional population but are insufficient to dramatically
reduce the population to a sustainable level in the near future.

Service Delivery Implications

A significant reduction in the CAGO population in the short-term is required to lessen the
significant negative ecological, economic, recreational impacts and public health concerns
caused. An increase to the Regional Canada Goose Management Service levels would enable
additional mitigation efforts, including increased capacity for the coordinated egg addling program
and support for additional First Nation-led harvests.
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CONCLUSION

The new Regional Canada Goose Management Service has demonstrated success in controlling
the regional population and gathering important information to support ongoing species
management. The regional population is higher than previously predicted, however, and impacts
to farmlands, public infrastructure, and public and wild lands continue to be well-documented.
Current resources and efforts appear sufficient to maintain the population at its current levels, but
additional resources would be required to reduce the regional population to a level that meets
economic, social and environmental objectives.

RECOMMENDATION

The Environmental Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:
That staff be directed to develop increased service levels for consideration in the 2026 service
planning process.

Submitted by: | Glenn Harris, Ph.D., R.P.Bio., Senior Manager, Environmental Protection

Concurrence: | Russ Smith, Acting General Manager, Parks, Recreation & Environmental Services

Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENTS

Appendix A: 2024 CRD Egg Addling Report (September 2024)
Appendix B: 2024 CRD Moult Survey Report (September 2024)
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1.0 Acknowledgements

The Capital Regional District (CRD) conducts its business within the traditional territories of over 20 First Nations,
including Songhees, xwsepssm (Esquimalt), WJOtEtP (Tsartlip), BOKECEN (Pauquachin), STAUTW (Tsawout),
WSIKEM (Tseycum), MALEXEt (Malahat), Sc’ianew (Beecher Bay), T'Sou-ke, Pacheedaht and Pune’laxutth’
(Penelekut). All of whom have a long-standing relationship with the land and waters from time immemorial that

continues to this day.

The CRD would like to recognize the continued hard work and dedication of the numerous groups who have
contributed to Canada goose (CAGO) management in the capital region including Peninsula Area Agricultural
Commission, Guardians of our Salish Estuaries, First Nations, South Island Farmer’s Institute, Parks Canada,
Department of National Defence, BC Parks, Victoria International Airport, Swan Lake Christmas Hill Nature
Sanctuary, Galiano Island Conservancy and municipal staff from the region. The CRD would also like to
acknowledge the contributions made from individuals such as Tom Michell, Bob Maxwell, Katie Underwood, Jody
Wells and John Costello.

Figure 1. Photo of a Canada goose nest (photo by

Samantha Hammond)

-t o

(photo by Katie Laver)

i il
Figure 2. Photo of CRD technician marking Canada goose eggs
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2.0 Introduction

Historically, Canada geese found on Vancouver Island were occasional migratory visitors over the autumn and
winter months and were very rarely seen nesting. In the 1960’s and 70’s a CAGO introduction program was
implemented by the Canadian Wildlife Service, BC Fish and Wildlife Branch and various other organizations to
increase wildlife viewing and hunting opportunities in the capital region. The introduced geese were young birds
from various subspecies of Canada geese who were unable to learn migrating behaviour patterns from their
parents. Eventually these geese interbred, creating a hybrid population of non-migratory resident geese which
are not native to the region. 1112

According to Christmas Bird Count data, the current Vancouver Island CAGO population ranges from 16,000-21,000
with an estimated 9,000-11,000 birds overwintering in the capital region 3. The exponential growth of the
regional CAGO population is degrading coastal ecosystems and waterways by over-grazing, trampling vegetation,
soil erosion and the spread of invasive species. These areas include endangered Garry Oak ecosystems, near-
shore islands in ecological reserves and estuaries that are critical habitats for young salmon (4] s 6. Increased
public health concerns have risen from public and private recreational sites including parks, sports fields,
swimming beaches, golf courses and farmlands. These concerns are due to high densities of fecal matter,
degradation and contamination of water sources, territorial goose conflicts and spread of disease (7. Significant
economic impacts have occurred with local farmers experiencing financial losses from CAGO damaging crops
through grazing and soil erosion, increasing maintenance costs, and contaminating crops and water with their
droppings. Poultry farms are also at risk of exposure of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza from CAGO 5. These
impacts have resulted in an increased pressure on local governments to take coordinated action.

In 2012, the CRD partnered with municipalities and other stakeholders to develop a Regional Canada Goose
Management Strategy (RCGMS) to provide guidance for controlling the adverse impacts that the population of
non-migratory, resident CAGO have in the capital region (2. These management tools include population
monitoring, preventing feeding, habitat modification, hazing, egg addling, hunting, harvesting and public
outreach. Since its development, numerous actions have been undertaken with hazing strategies becoming the
most popular. Unfortunately, without a coordinated approach, geese and their associated impacts have moved
into new areas, expanding the nesting and overwintering populations.

In February 2023, the CRD Board approved the Canada Goose Management Service Establishment Bylaw No. 1,
2022 (Bylaw No. 4522) that aims to reduce the impact of the rapidly growing CAGO population in the capital
region. This bylaw was adopted after receiving elector assent through a regional alternative approval process.
The RCGMS includes:

e monitoring, mapping and reporting on CAGO populations and their impacts.

e coordinating and establishing collaborative partnerships with municipalities, First Nations, large landowners,
Peninsula and Area Agricultural Commission, other government agencies and stewardship groups to
implement the CRD’s RCGMS.

e development and implementation of a communications strategy and public education program to support
the management of CAGO populations.
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e collaborating with other Vancouver Island regional districts, local governments, and First Nations to reduce
CAGO populations through the Vancouver Island Canada Goose Management Working Group.

The RCGMS identifies egg addling as an effective approach to population reduction. This type of program is crucial
for reducing the number of geese recruited into the population each year. Since 2018, the CRD has supported
CAGO management actions in the capital region and has contracted an egg addling program with the Guardians
of Our Salish Estuaries (GOOSE) since 2020. Additionally, other organizations in the region have supported CAGO
management efforts with their own egg addling programs. For example, BC Parks entered a 10-year agreement
in 2022 with GOOSE to addle eggs on the ecologically sensitive offshore islets of Oak Bay. The Department of
National Defence (DND) has been implementing egg addling and other mitigation measures for over four years
and Parks Canada has been involved in egg addling efforts since 2015. While these efforts have slowed the
growth of the resident CAGO population, more work needs to be done to significantly reduce the recruitment of
new geese.

The CRD initiated an in-house egg addling program in spring 2024 to build capacity and expand egg addling
efforts into new areas. This initiative aims to build a comprehensive knowledge base of CAGO nesting behaviour,
assist in addling efforts and promote coordination at a regional scale. Insights gained in the first year will inform
subsequent efforts, fostering partnerships with landowners, managers, stewardship groups and First Nations. This
report outlines the methods and results of the 2024 CRD egg addling field season and discusses limitations and
recommendations for enhancing its effectiveness in subsequent years.

3.0 Methods

The egg addling program was initiated to reduce the number of geese recruited into the local population by
decreasing egg viability and hatching success. The program ran from March to May 2024.

3.1 Partnership Building and Land Access

e  Working group: A Regional Canada Goose Working Group (RCGWG) was established to coordinate efforts and
share information between different stakeholders across the capital region.

e Permit acquisition: A regional permit from Environment & Climate Change Canada Canadian Wildlife Service
(ECCC-CWS) was applied for in February and received on April 4, 2024. Additional park use permits were
acquired for work in Sooke parks and View Royal parks on April 25 and April 30 respectively. Private property
owners could join the permit by signing a land authorization form.

e Program information dissemination: Details about the CRD’s new egg addling program were shared with
the Peninsula and Area Agriculture Commission (PAAC), Esquimalt Lagoon Stewardship Initiative, Gorge
Waterway Initiative, Capital Region Invasive Species Partnership and RCGWG during meetings and distributed
through newsletters and mailing lists by CRD staff, PAAC, Ministry of Agriculture and the South Island Farming
Institute. CRD staff engaged with municipal partners, First Nations, land managers and parks staff to
determine potential CAGO nesting sites.

e Landowner outreach: A letter and pamphlet were created to inform property owners about the program
and encourage participation. These materials were mailed to properties in known nesting hot spots.
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Landowner authorization: Participating landowners signed an authorization letter, adding their property to

the CRD’s permit and granting CRD technicians access to their land.

Ongoing engagement: Continuous door-to-door canvassing and information sharing were conducted

throughout the program in areas with confirmed CAGO nesting.

Partner relations: Continue working with partners currently providing nest surveys and egg addling

mitigation work in the capital region.

- GOOSE continues to work with PAAC, the District of Central Saanich, BC Parks and various other
stakeholders to provide egg addling services on farmlands, quarries and ecological reserve islets.

- Parks Canada continues to conduct egqg addling activities on park lands with a significant CAGO presence
including Fort Rodd Hill and various sections of the Gulf Island National Park Reserve.

- DND continues to provide mitigation measures on their lands and islets around the Esquimalt Harbour.

- Swan Lake Christmas Hill Nature Sanctuary conducts its own egg addling program at the nature sanctuary
in Saanich.

- (RD staff offered nest identification and survey training to municipal parks staff through the RCGWG.
Additional egqg addling training was provided in the field to Saanich parks staff.

3.2 Nest Surveys and Egg Addling

Nest surveys: Conducted on foot by CRD staff from April 4 to May 25 on properties the CRD had permission

to access. Geese were gently removed from nests to allow technicians to addle eggs.

Sterilization: When a nest with eggs was discovered, the egg addling protocol found below was followed:

a) Eggs underwent a float test (see Figure 3) and were not addled if beyond the development guidelines
defined by the American Veterinary Medical Association o).

b) If the eqgs were at stage 1, they were below the incubation threshold for addling and were coated with
vegetable oil to prevent gas exchange. If eggs were between development stages 2 and 5, they were
addled by vigorously shaking the egg. If eggs were at stage 6, no sterilization techniques were
administered (see Figure 3).

¢) All eggs were then marked with a nest number and placed back into the nest to allow the goose to
continue incubation, reducing the likelihood of re-nesting.

d) All nesting sites were re-visited in two-week intervals to sterilize any newly laid eggs and search for
nests laid later in the breeding window.

Geographic Information System (GIS) tracking: Addling information was entered into a GIS app called

FULCRUM. Nest details, location information, visit date(s), and other notes or photos were recorded.

Supplemental GIS data was compiled, and included areas where no nests were found, locations of missed or

inaccessible nests, locations of recently hatched goslings and other relevant information.
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e Partner Egg Addling: CAGO management partners (GOOSE, DND, Parks Canada and others) conducted nest
surveys and egg addling using the same or similar methods and techniques as described above.

Egg Flotation Chart

bottom

top of water A B stages
Stage 4

of pail
Stage 3
Approximate embryo age  0-3days | 4-8 days 9-13 days 14-18 days 19-23 days § 24-27 days

Figure 3. Float test infographic used to determine the age of a C(anada goose eqg. Image adapted from lowa Department of Natural

Resources [11]

3.3 Recruitment Surveys

e Recruitment surveys: Additional nest and recruitment surveys continued in late May and early June after
the CAGO breeding window closed. Missed nests that were identified had GPS data recorded and areas with
goslings highlighted potential nesting locations to access in the 2025 egg addling season. A brood is defined
as a group of goslings with only its parents in attendance and can help us identify a missed nest. A gang
brood is defined as multiple broods amalgamated into one, with more than two parents in attendance and

can indicate multiple missed nests (1.

e Online submissions: Additional nest and gosling locations were extracted from a naturalist website called
eBird where bird observations are mapped and submitted by the public. Submissions will continue to assist

in the location of new nests in the following years.

Figure 4. Photo of Canada geese with their goslings spotted in
downtown Victoria (photo by Lori Nickerson)
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4.0 Results

4.1 Land Access Results

In March and April, CRD staff contacted 117 property owners with efforts largely focused on private farmlands
and monitored the nesting status of multiple sites across the capital region (Table 1). Sites are defined as any
area owned, leased, or managed by a particular group or person on either public or private lands. A total of 142
nests were discovered, with most nests (67%) located on private land and the remaining 33% located on public
land (Figure 5). The number of nests found on each site varied with some sites having over 50 nests and others
with just one. A total of 18 sites were discovered with active nesting and were addled by CRD staff. An additional
37 sites with historical breeding CAGO activity were surveyed with no nests being discovered.

CRD staff surveyed an additional 37 properties with historical CAGO activity where no nesting activity was found.
Access was denied to three sites and authorization was delayed for another 17 properties. With contact now
established, these properties can be more easily accessed for the 2025 CAGO nesting season. Attempts to contact
the remaining 30 properties were made through mailouts, door-to-door visits, or by leaving informative letters;
however, no replies were received.

Private vs. public lands

Table 1. 2024 CRD program land access results in with active CAGO nests
the capital region

Properties contacted 117

Surveyed by the CRD 55

Properties with active nesting 18

Properties with no nesting 37

Denied access 3

@ Private @ Public
Potential sites added for 2025 29

Figure 5. Pie chart comparing the difference between
private and public lands where the (RD conducted egg

4.2 Egg Addling Results addling activities.

The 2024 CRD egqg addling season began when the permit from ECCC-CWS was obtained. Surveys covered 55 sites
and a total of 142 nests were discovered with 672 eqggs that were addled or oiled by the CRD (Table 2). These
nesting locations occurred at 18 different sites across seven municipalities and electoral districts. Additional data
including missed nests, potential nests and inaccessible nests were included in the FULCRUM app (Table 3). Missed
nests are defined as nests with eggs that failed the float test, were already hatching or had already hatched.
Potential nests occurred when nesting activity was present, but the evidence was inconclusive and requires
further verification next year. Combining missed and potential nests, the locations of an additional 31 nests could
be more easily accessed next year. Inaccessible nests could not be safely accessed by CRD technicians and were
largely located on steep cliffsides.
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Table 2. Total number of CAGO nests, eqgs and sites treated in each municipality by CRD technicians

Municipality Sites Total Nests # of Treated
Eggs
Gulf Islands 2 14 53
North Saanich 3 11 58
Saanich 9 79 396
Colwood 1 33 143
East Sooke 1 2 6
Sooke 2 3 16
Total 18 142 672

Table 3. Total number of known CAGO nests in the capital region

Nest Type Count ‘
Treated Nests 142
Missed Nests 19
Potential Nests 12
Inaccessible Nests 5
Total Known Nests 178

4.3 Coordinated Egg Addling Results

Addling efforts have been underway in the capital region for several years from partner organizations such as
GOOSE, DND, Parks Canada and other groups. The coordinated efforts led to 422 nests and 2,041 eggs being addled
in the capital region during the 2024 CAGO breeding season (Table 4). Addling efforts in the capital region have
prevented a total of 5,232 Canada geese from entering the regional population since 2022. The CRD’s egg addling
program has increased the number of treated eggs in the region by 20% in its first year.

Table 4. Total known CAGO nests and eggs treated in the capital region from 2022-2024

2022 2023 2024

Partner Nests Eggs Nests Eggs Nests Eggs
CRD n/a n/a n/a n/a 142 672
Guardians of our Salish Estuaries 236 1,162 207 1,019 201 1,037
Department of National Defense 53 175 54 206 38 148
Parks Canada 38 156 63 261 28 97
Other 21 108 19 104 13 87

Totals 348 1,601 343 1,590 422 2,041
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4.4 Recruitment Surveys

In May, the CAGO nesting season naturally slowed down and as geese began to abandon their nests, goslings
from untreated nests began to hatch. Identifying areas with goslings can help staff target new areas and uncover
additional breeding hot spots for future egg addling programs.

CRD staff conducted 33 recruitment surveys which uncovered 273 young from approximately 42 broods. Two
locations had large gang broods and the number of nests these goslings hatched from could not be determined.
A total of 380 CAGO nest and gosling data submissions from eBird were compiled and investigated, which led to
the addition of 90 locations to survey in 2025. Current gosling sightings were checked and confirmed with pictures
or ground surveys and an additional 241 goslings were documented. Unfortunately, the number of broods and
sizes were not included in the eBird submissions and therefore, an estimated number of missed nests could not
be determined. A total of 514 goslings were spotted throughout the capital region. Confirmed sightings were
compiled into a GIS layer in the FULCRUM app (Figure 7) that will prove invaluable to CRD staff in identifying new
nesting sites in 2025. Salt Spring Island, Burnside Road West, Granville Avenue, Oldfield Road and Royal Roads
University have all been identified as CAGO breeding hot spots requiring additional addling efforts in the 2025
season.

_. (Saanich

Mictoria ‘.
=

Figure 7. Map of CAGO recruitment surveys conducted in the capital region in May and June 2024,
Yellow dots indicate confirmed young of the year locations. Page |9




Regional Canada Goose Management Strategy | 2024 Egg Addling Report ( | 2 | )

5.0 Discussion

In its first year, the coordinated, region-wide CAGO egg addling program focused heavily on building relationships
with landowners, identifying new nesting sites, and securing permission and access to both private and public
lands. Over the past four years, the Guardians of Our Salish Estuaries were contracted by the CRD to champion
the region’s egg addling program in priority areas while also working with BC Parks, farmers, First Nations and
others. Their areas of focus included farmlands, quarries and the ecologically sensitive islets off Oak Bay. After
the regional CAGO service was initiated, the CRD gained additional capacity to create an in-house addling
program, enabling the CRD to take on a coordination role and expand the program into new areas. The program
change delayed the start of the program and surveys to discover new nesting sites began in early March. In April,
a goose management technician was hired to assist with implementation. A regional permit was applied for by
(RD staff to streamline the permitting process and alleviate the administrative burden from individual
landowners. The permit received on April 4 from ECCC-CWS was delayed. This occurred for both the CRD and other
eqgg addling partners, shortening the nest survey and egg addling window by up to two weeks.

Initially, CRD staff sought information from farmers, landowners and municipal parks staff through word of mouth,
email newsletters and meetings. However, it was quickly discovered that many private landowners that had
nesting geese on their property were not reachable through these methods. Additionally, tips from concerned
citizens who spotted nesting geese on private properties often lacked sufficient contact information, making it
challenging to follow-up. To address this issue and reach a broader audience, CRD staff developed a package
containing a landowner letter and pamphlet detailing the egg addling program which could be mailed directly to
known addresses. This package was also left at properties where CRD staff attempted contact while in the field.
Of the 113 properties contacted within the boundaries of the CRD, three properties denied access and no response
was received from 17 properties. These 20 properties contain known CAGO nests and new strategies for
communication should be explored further next season. The combination of mailed packages and direct owner
contact proved to be an effective communication strategy overall and should begin earlier and be expanded next
year to cover new areas - specifically the Gulf Islands, North Saanich, Metchosin and Sooke.

The capital region encompasses a large land area and requires coordinated efforts from various partners to
implement the egg addling program. The CAGO nesting window is only six to eight weeks, and eggs must be
discovered within the first three weeks to be ethically sterilized using standard egg addling techniques.
Organizations such as DND, Parks Canada, BC Parks and various others are actively engaging in egg addling
activities on their own lands. This allows the CRD to focus on privately owned farmlands and other areas where
the need for assistance is greatest. Key partners, such as farmers and municipal parks staff, are uniquely
positioned to identify and report CAGO nesting locations while performing their regular duties. CRD staff found it
most helpful when landowners or managers could guide them around their properties and highlight key areas
where nesting geese have been observed. When municipal parks staff conducted nest surveys with CRD staff, it
saved significant time because of their familiarity with the area. Building and expanding these relationships will
be crucial for the growth of the egg addling program. CRD staff can facilitate this by engaging directly with the
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farming community and other landowners and by increasing the number of participants in the regional CAGO
working group. This group will continue to play a vital role in the information-sharing and relationship building
platform necessary for this program.

A CAGO nesting hot spot is defined as an area with significant activity and represents approximately 75% of all
nests located in 2024, with one site containing over 50 nests. These areas remain a top priority, and despite
being concentrated, require a significant amount of time and attention to survey. Most nest surveys require a
minimum of two visits, with hot spots often requiring three. In some cases, the terrain may be difficult and slow
to navigate safely. However, even seemingly flat terrain (e.g., farmers fields) has enough vegetation mounds or
dips to serve as hiding spots for nesting geese to tuck in down low, so that nests are not apparent until the
technician is within metres of them. CAGO have a high site fidelity and will return to a successful nesting site in
subsequent years. This allows us to obtain cumulative nesting records that can be accessed and expanded each
year, reducing the time and effort required to discover nesting sites. More nesting locations can be further
identified through participation from the public, scouting pre-nesting season mated CAGO pairs and following
leads developed from supporting GIS data and recruitment surveys. A regional CAGO Communications Plan, which
includes education on CAGO impacts and a media release asking for assistance from the public in reporting nests,
was anticipated to roll out for the 2024 season; however, due to time and resource constraints, implementation
of the Communications Plan was deferred to 2025. This plan will be an integral part of the regional egg addling
program going forward in future seasons.

Overall, the first year of the coordinated regional egg addling program was successful. An additional 672 eggs
from 142 nests were sterilized by CRD staff, bringing the regional total to 2,041 eggs. This represents an increase
of 20% in just the first year. Data collected from the CRD’s partners indicates that at least 5,232 CAGO were
prevented from entering the resident population over the last three years. However, the total number of eggs
addled in the capital region since management efforts began is unknown and likely much higher. As regional
knowledge of nests is collected, the CRD can assist in developing a more strategic addling program that can be
coordinated with interested stakeholders and partners.
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6.0 Recommendations

The coordinated regional CAGO egg addling program had a successful first season. The program could be further
improved to increase success in the following ways:

6.1 Increase Public Awareness and Participation in Reporting Nests

Execute a public awareness campaign that includes media releases, social media content and mailouts. This
strategy should aim to increase public awareness of CAGO impacts and the reason mitigation techniques are
needed.

A media release and social media campaign should be implemented ahead of nesting season (March) asking
for the public’s assistance in locating nests.

6.2 Promote Collaboration

Effective addling in the capital region requires the promotion, development and assistance of addling efforts
with interested First Nations, municipal staff, land managers and stewardship groups.

Offer training by CRD staff to interested parties to get more participants involved. Focus on engaging with
First Nations guardian programs.

Continue to develop working relationships with other groups to understand how to best assist with current
addling activities in the capital region.

Work directly with the farming community and farming groups to obtain access to more properties with
active CAGO nesting.

Continue building relationships with landowners, First Nations and municipal staff.

6.3 Increase Egg Addling Budget

Make the Goose Management Technician position an annual three-month term to include pre-season
planning, scheduling and scouting for mated pairs to uncover new nesting areas.

Increase the goose management budget to include extra hours for the Goose Management Coordinator to
participate in the egg addling field season.

6.4 Diversify Addling Methods

Cooling and freezing eggs is another method of addling that is accepted by the American Veterinary Medical
Association and used in more densely populated areas like Vancouver, BC. Treated eggs are thawed and
swapped with fertile eggs to prevent re-nesting. This method allows the technician to quickly treat eggs
with minimal interaction (less than a minute) and can be a suitable option for nests in high-profile areas.
This can help alleviate concerns some municipalities have with the sensitivities and concerns of a potentially
viewing public.

Obtain a kayak or row boat and chest waders to access more nests.
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6.5 Streamline Processes

e Apply for a regional egg addling permit from ECCC-CWS in February that private landowners can join with a
land authorization form.

e Reduce the bureaucracy and paperwork burden for municipalities, farmers and other land owners to make
participation in the egg addling program easier by removing park use permit requirements for nest surveys
and obtaining the regional egg addling permit.

7.0 Conclusion

The first year of the coordinated egg addling program has shown promising progress and early signs of success.
Addling is an essential tool required to limit recruitment and reduce population growth effectively. While current
efforts are slowing the growth of CAGO populations and leading to stabilization, they are unlikely to achieve
significant reductions on their own. To achieve meaningful results, it is crucial to allocate more resources, build
stronger partnerships, implement additional mitigation measures and expand the program further.

ik
Figure 8. Photo of a hard-to-reach goose nest at Hartland Landfill
(photo by Samantha Hammond)
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1.0 Acknowledgements

The Capital Regional District (CRD) conducts its business within the traditional territories of over 20 First Nations,
including Songhees, xwsepssm (Esquimalt), WJOtEtP (Tsartlip), BOKECEN (Pauquachin), STAUTW (Tsawout),
WSIKEM (Tseycum), MALEXEt (Malahat), Sc’ianew (Beecher Bay), T'Sou-ke, Pacheedaht and Pune’laxutth’
(Penelekut). All of whom have a long-standing relationship with the land and waters from time immemorial that
continues to this day.

The CRD would like to recognize the hard work and dedication of the numerous groups who made this year’s
Canada goose population survey in the capital region possible. These groups are as follows:

e (RD staff and outreach team e  (ity of Victoria parks staff

e Malahat Nation e Town of Sidney staff

e Agile Drone Services e Horticulture Centre of the Pacific

e Rocky Point Bird Observatory e Swan Lake Christmas Hill Sanctuary

e Galiano Island Conservancy e Numerous golf courses

e Mayne Island Conservancy e Individuals such as Jody Wells for counting geese

e Saturna Island Marine Research and Education and Bette Longland, Emily Harris, Jim Reisin and
Society Larry Sluggett for allowing us onto their

e Pender Island Conservancy properties to use drone technology.

e District of Saanich parks staff

The CRD would also like to recognize the hard work and dedication of groups who contributed to Canada goose
(CAGO) population surveys in the past including the Peninsula Area and Agricultural Commission, Guardians of our
Salish Estuaries, Ministry of Agriculture and Rocky Point Bird Observatory.

Figure 1. Katie Laver counting geese from a (RD boat (photo by Gabriel Figure 2. Malahat Nation boat operator during moult
Junker) survey (photo by Samantha Hammond)
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2.0 Introduction

Historically, Canada geese found on Vancouver Island were occasional migratory visitors over the autumn and
winter months and were very rarely seen nesting. In the 1960's and 70’s a CAGO introduction program was
implemented by the Canadian Wildlife Service, BC Fish and Wildlife Branch and various other organizations to
increase wildlife viewing and hunting opportunities in the capital region. The introduced geese were young birds
from various subspecies of Canada geese who were unable to learn migrating behaviour patterns from their
parents. Eventually these geese interbred, creating a hybrid population of non-migratory resident geese which
are not native to the region [1][2]

According to Christmas Bird Count data, the current Vancouver Island CAGO population ranges from 16,000-21,000
with an estimated 9,000-11,000 birds overwintering in the capital region [3]. The exponential growth of the
regional CAGO population is degrading coastal ecosystems and waterways by over-grazing, trampling vegetation,
soil erosion and the spread of invasive species. These areas include endangered Garry Oak ecosystems, near-
shore islands in ecological reserves, and estuaries that are critical habitats for young salmon[4][5] [6]. Increased
public health concerns have risen from public and private recreational sites including parks, sports fields,
swimming beaches, golf courses and farmlands. These concerns are due to high densities of fecal matter,
degradation and contamination of water sources, territorial goose conflicts and spread of disease [7]. Significant
economic impacts have occurred with local farmers experiencing financial losses from CAGO damaging crops
through grazing and soil erosion, increasing maintenance costs, and contaminating crops and water with their
droppings. Poultry farms are also at risk of exposure of Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza from CAGO [8]. These
impacts have resulted in an increased pressure on local governments to take coordinated action.

In 2012, the CRD partnered with municipalities and other stakeholders to develop a Regional Canada Goose
Management Strategy (RCGMS) to provide guidance for controlling the adverse impacts that the population of
non-migratory, resident CAGO have in the capital region [2]. These management tools include population
monitoring, preventing feeding, habitat modification, hazing, egg addling, hunting, harvesting and public
outreach. Since its development, numerous actions have been undertaken with hazing strategies becoming the
most popular. Unfortunately, without a coordinated approach, geese and their associated impacts have moved
into new areas, expanding the nesting and overwintering populations.

In February 2023, the CRD Board approved the Canada Goose Management Service Establishment Bylaw No. 1,
2022 (Bylaw No. 4522) that aims to reduce the impact of the rapidly growing CAGO population in the region.
This bylaw was adopted after receiving elector assent through a regional alternative approval process. The RCGMS
includes:

e monitoring, mapping and reporting on CAGO populations and their impacts.

e coordinating and establishing collaborative partnerships with municipalities, First Nations, large landowners,
Peninsula and Area Agricultural Commission, other government agencies and stewardship groups to
implement the CRD’s RCGMS.
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e development and implementation of a communications strategy and public education program to support
the management of CAGO populations.

e collaborating with other Vancouver Island regional districts, local governments and First Nations to reduce
Canada goose populations through the Vancouver Island Canada Goose Management Working Group.

Population surveys are an important component of the RCGMS and are utilized to inform regional decisions and
show the effectiveness of applied management techniques. Hot spot surveys in the region have been completed
since 2021; however, a complete regional population survey that includes all municipalities and electoral districts
has not been previously completed. In late June and July, CAGO moult their flight feathers and congregate with
their young of the year near bodies of water. At this time, they are unable to fly and will stay in their chosen
area for long periods, presenting a unique opportunity to conduct an accurate population count that includes
young of the year amounts with little chance of overlapping results. A collaborative approach that includes
partnership with CRD staff, local First Nations and local stewardship groups allowed us to conduct a coordinated
moult survey of CAGO across the capital region. This report outlines the history, methods and results of the 2024
Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey.

2.1 Canada Goose Moult Survey History in the CRD (2017-2023)

In July 2017, Guardians of Our Salish Estuaries (GOOSE) conducted an aerial moult survey from Sooke to Sidney
using a Jet Ranger helicopter. This survey observed 4,002 CAGO, and an additional 500 geese were estimated to
be found in areas not covered by the survey, bringing the estimated total to 4,502. The highest concentrations
were found in Sooke Basin, Esquimalt Lagoon and Saanich Peninsula and these areas were deemed local hot spots
[9]. In June 2019, GOOSE conducted a drone survey from Sooke to Sidney and Salt Spring Island. This survey
identified approximately 4,298 CAGO and it was noted that 35-40% of all geese counted were young of the year
[9]. In late June 2020, GOOSE conducted a moult survey via kayak and counted 2,774 CAGO between Sooke and
Sidney [9] (Figure 3).

In 2021, 2022 and 2023 GOOSE conducted moult surveys using various methods including kayaks, boats, land
surveys and utilizing data from a naturalist website called eBird to determine local “hot spots” [10] [11]. The
surveys covered locations from Sooke to North Saanich and in all three years, the largest concentrations of geese
were found in Sooke, Esquimalt Lagoon, Oak Bay shoreline and the northeast coast of the Saanich Peninsula
(Appendix A). The number of moulting Canada geese in the region was recorded as 1,902 in 2021, 3,616 in 2022,
and 2,625 in 2023 (Figure 3). The figures from these reports are the only known documentation of summer CAGO
population numbers from 2017 to 2023. However, large areas such as the Gulf Islands, Juan de Fuca Electoral Area
and farmlands have not been included in these population estimates. Canada geese migrate seasonally and will
move between municipalities and islands for breeding and feeding purposes. Therefore, CAGO from all regions
need to be considered to have a comprehensive population estimate that can inform management efforts and
ensure the RCGMS is successful.
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Figure 3. Total CAGO observed during GOOSE moult surveys completed in the capital region from 2017-2023. Data
compiled from [9] [10] [11]

3.0 Methods

The Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey was initiated to create a baseline summer population estimate that can
be utilized to inform regional decisions and show the effectiveness of applied management techniques. A
collaborative approach was used, and the capital region was separated into marine and land-based surveys to
ensure the maximum amount of area was covered by surveyors. The survey occurred between June 23-29, 2024.

3.1 Collaboration and Training

The capital region is a large land mass consisting of 13 municipalities and electoral districts which include the
Southern Gulf Islands. To reach as many locations as possible, numerous groups across the capital region were

asked to participate in the survey:

First Nations: A request was sent out to all local First Nation groups within the capital region requesting a
partnership that included use of their boat, boat operator and staff member. Malahat Nation agreed to
participate, and a contract was developed.

Stewardship groups: Groups from all over the capital region were contracted to participate in the survey.
These groups included Rocky Point Bird Observatory, Galiano Island Conservancy, Mayne Island Conservancy,
Pender Island Conservancy and Saturna Island Marine Research and Education Society. A local birder named
Jody Wells also contributed to the survey.

Large landowners and managers: Staff from areas with large numbers of moulting CAGO were contacted
and asked to count geese in their areas. Participants included CRD Parks, Saanich Parks, City of Victoria,
Township of Sidney, Horticulture Centre of the Pacific, Swan Lake Christmas Hill Sanctuary, Royal Colwood
Golf Club, Highland Pacific Golf and Victoria Golf Centre.

Training: Training sessions were held on June 17 and June 20, 2024 using Microsoft Teams to ensure all
participants in the survey followed the same data collection protocols, learned how to use the Geographic
Information System (GIS) app called FULCRUM, and knew how to identify adult and juvenile CAGO.
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e Testing: Participants were encouraged to test out the FULCRUM app in the field using yellow test points prior
to the survey dates.

3.2 Data Collection

To ensure reliability of the CAGO survey results, the following measures were implemented to achieve high
accuracy in the population counts:

e Training and calibration: All participants underwent training to ensure consistency in collecting data and
identifying and counting CAGO.

e Equipment: Binoculars, cell phone or tablet, FULCRUM app, camera and printed data sheets (See
Appendix B).

e Data collection: The FULCRUM app was used to track GPS locations, population counts, photos and additional
data while in the field. The data was entered into FULCRUM on a phone or iPad and was also written on a
hard paper copy (Appendix B).

e Population counts: Adult and juvenile CAGO population numbers were counted by two surveyors and
compared for accuracy. One person entered the data into FULCRUM, the other wrote a hard copy. Pictures
were taken at each moulting site that could be used to confirm numbers after.

e Photographic evidence: Photographs were taken during both marine and land surveys. These images were
reviewed later to verify and cross-check the initial counts.

e Standardized protocols: Following standardized survey protocols ensured that all participants used the same
methods and criteria for counting.

e (Cross-referencing with eBird data: Comparing survey results with eBird data helped identify any additional
geese that may have been missed during the survey.

3.3 Survey Zones

The shorelines of the capital region were separated into zones and assigned to each boat prior to the survey. The
shorelines, lakes and other areas not covered by boat or drone were separated into zones and assigned to land
groups prior to the survey.

e (anada geese congregate in large open areas that have access to sufficient food and water; protected
shorelines are favoured where geese can move in and out of the water with ease. The topography of the
region was reviewed and areas with a high probability of moulting CAGO were chosen for the survey.

e The suitable areas were sectioned by dates to reduce the chances of CAGO moving between areas and
resulting in overlapping results (Table 1).

e Urban centres, forests and steep rocky shorelines were omitted from the survey.
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Table 1. Locations and groups by survey date (large landowners counted CAGO during survey dates but are
not included below)

Date Survey Zones Method Groups Participating

June 23 Metchosin, Colwood, Esquimalt and Land and boat CRD staff, Parks Canada
Esquimalt harbour surveys

June 24 | Farmlands, Oak Bay islets, Gorge waterway, Drone, land and CRD staff, Rocky Point Bird
Victoria, Oak Bay, east coast from Cordova | boat surveys Observatory, Town of Sidney,
Bay to Sidney City of Victoria

June 25  West coast from Saanich Inlet to Swartz Bay, Land and boat CRD staff, Malahat Nation,
Piers, Moresby and Portland Islands, east surveys Galiano Island Conservancy,
coast of Salt Spring Island, Galiano Island Rocky Point Bird Observatory

June 26 | Municipal parks, west coast of Salt Spring Land and boat CRD staff, Malahat Nation,
Island, Pender Island, Mayne Island, Shirley ' surveys Rocky Point Bird Observatory,
to Jordan River Pender Island Conservancy,

Mayne Island Conservancy,
Saanich Parks

June 27  Becher Bay to Sooke, China Beach, Gordon  Land surveys CRD staff, Rocky Point Bird
Beach Observatory

June 28 | Sombrio Beach, Port Renfrew Land surveys CRD staff

June 29  Saturna Island Land surveys Saturna Island Marine and

Education Society
3.4 Marine and Land Surveys

Moulting CAGO congregate on or near water while they moult. Marine surveys were conducted using boats that
moved slowly along the shorelines of the capital region to discover groups of moulting geese. Land surveys were
conducted in all areas that the drone and boats were unable to access due to time and resource constraints.

e Marine surveyors: Malahat Nation and the CRD provided boats for the shoreline surveys of the region. A
designated “Canada goose spotter”, boat operator and one additional staff member were aboard each boat
to conduct the moult survey.

e Drone technology: A drone operator from Agile Drone Services was contracted to assist with aerial surveys
over farmland in the region. The drone used in the survey was a DJI M300 RTK with a H20 T sensor. A CRD
staff member assisted the drone operator with exploratory CAGO counts. Infrared cameras were used to help
identify groups of CAGO in areas with tall grass (Appendix C).

e Local stewardship groups: Completed direct counts using scopes and binoculars at regional lakes, shorelines,
farms and other areas.

e large landowners and managers: Municipal parks staff, CRD parks staff, golf course attendants and various
other large landowners counted geese in their areas during the moult survey.

Page |6




Regional Canada Goose Management Strategy | 2024 Moult Survey Report ( | 2 | )

e Additional data: eBird data was examined to discover if any additional CAGO were counted during the time
of the survey.

4.0 Results

The 2024 Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey was completed by all involved parties during the week of
June 21-28 and covered all 13 municipalities and electoral districts in the CRD. A total of 492 locations were
surveyed including over 650 km of shoreline. Of these locations, 258 were found to have no geese and 234 were
found to have geese (Figure 4). The moult survey training sessions were provided by Katie Lauer, Goose
Management Technician and were well attended with 14 people in the first session and 22 attending the second.
A total of 6,669 geese were counted in the CRD (Figure 5).

4= Cowichan Lake

Figure 4. Data points collected in the FULCRUM app during the Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey. Green dots represent sites with no
geese and blue dots represent sites with geese.
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Figure 5. Results of the 2024 Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey. Western portion of Juan de Fuca Electoral Area shown
in upper corner of map.
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A total of 5,645 adult and 1,025 juvenile CAGO were counted in the capital region bringing the total to 6,669. The
largest concentrations of moulting CAGO were discovered in Sooke, Colwood, Oak Bay, Saanich and the Gulf
Islands (Table 2). The Gulf Islands with the largest populations of CAGO were Salt Spring Island, Pender Island and
Mayne Island (Table 3). Despite the scale of the survey conducted this year, it is unlikely that all geese in the
capital region were counted, and the actual CAGO totals may be 500-1,000 higher.

Table 2. Population totals of CAGO for the Table 3. Population totals of CAGO for each of the
municipalities and electoral districts included in Gulf Islands included in the 2024 Regional Canada
the 2024 Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey Goose Moult Survey
Municipality Adults Juveniles Total ‘ Gulf Island Adults Juveniles Total
Juan de Fuca 256 41 297 Piers Island 13 3 16
Sooke 562 25 587 Moresby Island 20 41 61
Metchosin 339 17 356 Sidney Island 52 16 68
Colwood 456 142 598 D'Arcy Island 14 0 14
Langford 150 40 190 Pender Island 347 71 418
View Royal 46 48 94 Saturna Island 128 25 153
Esquimalt 258 59 317 Samuel Island 100 0 100
Victoria 278 30 308 Mayne Island 207 40 247
Oak Bay 696 57 753 Galiano Island 112 15 127
Saanich 485 155 640 Salt Spring Island 658 43 701
Central Saanich 55 42 96 Chatham Islands 49 4 53
Sidney 85 75 160 Cabbage Island 18 0 18
North Saanich 206 36 242 Portland Island 55 0 55
Gulf Islands 1,773 258 2,031 Totals: 1,773 258 2,031
Totals: 5645 1,025 6,669

The survey showed a total of 1,025 juvenile CAGO with the largest numbers being seen in Colwood, Saanich and
the Gulf Islands (Table 2, Figure 6). Numerous survey accounts indicated difficulty discerning between juveniles
and adults during boat surveys where it was difficult to get close to moulting geese. This indicates that the overall
number of juveniles is likely much higher in those survey areas.
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2024 Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey:
Adult and Young of the Year CAGO Totals

2500
2000
1500
1000
M B = 11
A R R T R R I VORI
o K & & & <° \S\& & ¥ ® ° (_)\6 ° °
o 2 o & S B ) o S K g &9
& ) ¢ « @ & S
N & d ©
C

M Adults M Juveniles

Figure 6. Bar graph showing the ratio of juvenile to adult CAGO counted during the 2024 Regional Canada Goose Moult
Survey

5.0 Discussion

5.1 Hot Spots

Hot spots are defined as areas with a significant concentration of moulting CAGO. This year’s moult survey
confirmed previously identified hot spots from past surveys and identified several new ones. The shorelines of
Sooke Harbour, Colwood, Esquimalt, Victoria, and Oak Bay continue to have the highest concentrations of moulting
CAGO, accounting for 48% of the entire population. The 2024 Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey expanded
survey efforts to include large areas where CAGO had not been previously counted. These areas included the
shorelines of Victoria, Metchosin, East Sooke, the Gulf Islands, private farmlands, golf courses, Juan de Fuca
Electoral Area and lakes and ponds. Including these areas more than doubled the total population that was
estimated in 2023.

Canada geese breeding further inland tend to walk to smaller bodies of water near their nesting sites instead of
migrating to ocean shorelines. The population numbers in Saanich, including privately owned farmland, were
much higher than previous surveys had suggested. One private property in Saanich had 110 CAGO in and around
a small pond. These geese likely came from their nesting locations on surrounding properties to moult. Similar
pockets were discovered throughout farmlands in Saanich, Central Saanich and North Saanich. These areas should
be considered small hot spots, as the likelihood of agricultural impacts is drastically increased. The shorelines of
Metchosin, particularly along William Head and Albert Head, should be considered new hot spots. The Gulf Islands
also included a significant number of CAGO, comprising 30% of the total population in the capital region. The
north end of Salt Spring Island, Pender Island and Mayne Island all had significant populations of moulting geese.
Future management efforts should be expanded to include these locations, particularly the Gulf Islands, where
no known egg addling or First Nation harvests are known to occur.
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5.2 Juvenile Recruitment

This year’s moult survey included recruitment surveys which count the number of juvenile geese that have been
recruited into the local population of CAGO. Recruitment surveys were also completed during the 2024 regional
egg addling season. These surveys occurred in May while juvenile geese were still young and close to where they
had hatched indicating areas with missed nests. The number of juvenile geese in a group of moulting geese was
tallied whenever survey conditions allowed. Unfortunately, numerous surveyors recorded having difficulty
distinguishing between juvenile and adult geese while in the field. Due to the timing of the survey, juvenile
geese could have been between the ages of 2-12 weeks old. CAGO grow quickly and begin to look like adult
CAGO at around 6-8 weeks of age; at this point it can be difficult for even the most seasoned birder to correctly
identify juveniles from a distance. It was found that surveys completed on land or with drone technology had the
least trouble correctly identifying juveniles.

Colwood, Saanich and the Gulf Islands had the most juveniles with 142, 155 and 258 respectively. The moult
recruitment surveys have highlighted numerous locations that need egg addling programs to effectively reduce
the number of geese recruited into the population in 2025. Whereas areas with high adults to juvenile
percentages will likely require additional removal methods to effectively see a reduced population.

5.3 Drone Test

In the capital region, CAGO frequently use privately owned farmlands as breeding grounds and will stay to moult
if a water feature is within walking distance. While geese are moulting, they are more vulnerable to predation
and will hide in tall grass and crops when approached or threatened - this makes surveying these areas
challenging. To overcome this, drone technology was tested on farmlands and shorelines to determine its efficacy
as a tool for future CAGO population surveys. The drone was flown at an average height of 400 feet and was able
to cover up to 350 acres of farmland from one deployment zone. Permission was obtained from landowners at
each deployment zone prior to the survey and airspace permission was approved from NavCanada. The drone
was able to take clear pictures and video from an elevation of 400 feet while recording the GPS location and
elevation. Most of the photos taken in the survey utilized a 5-10x zoom; however, up to 200x was available. This
enabled surveyors to count juvenile and adult geese without disturbing them or scaring them into covered areas.
Additional CAGO were discovered in areas missed by the surveyor’s initial scan by using an infrared camera
(Appendix C). The drone proved to be an asset that should be utilized in future surveys to cover areas of farmland
and sections of shoreline not easily accessed by land.

5.4 Regional Population

Moult surveys completed in the capital region from 2021-2023 showed a population of approximately 1,902-
2,625 resident CAGO [11]. The 2024 Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey indicates a population of approximately
6,669 resident CAGO, which is two to four times higher than estimated by previous surveys. CAGO are known
winter migrants, and the population is expected to increase another 30-50% over the winter months, particularly
in open fields and farmlands. The population of CAGO remains high despite the numerous mitigation strategies
that have been applied to the region attempting to reduce the CAGO population. Over the last four years, egg
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addling efforts have prevented 5,232 Canada geese from entering the resident population. Harvests led by First
Nations across Vancouver Island have removed approximately 6,000 CAGO and an additional 28,119 CAGO have
been hunted since 2012 [12].

Canada geese are incredibly resilient birds with high breeding success rates. Increased efforts to reduce the overall
population of CAGO need to occur in all areas of the capital region, including new hot spots where mitigation
efforts have yet to be applied. Collared CAGO were documented in two locations: Fort Rodd Hill and the
Goldstream estuary. These geese were collared and banded in Nanaimo, BC during the spring of 2017 indicating
that CAGO will migrate across Vancouver Island. Geese from Nanaimo have been observed beyond Vancouver
Island in areas such as Vancouver, Washington and Oregon [13]. However, the movements of resident CAGO in
the capital region has been poorly documented due to the lack of a banding program and it is unknown if any
moult migrations occur within our resident population. Future strategies should include collaboration between all
districts across Vancouver Island and other neighbouring cities to collar birds to monitor their movement and to
ensure reduction methods are occurring everywhere.

6.0 Recommendations

6.1 Population Survey

e Completed full regional population surveys of CAGO are critical to understanding the effectiveness of applied
reduction techniques.

e An annual Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey should occur in the capital region when resources are
available. At a minimum, a survey that occurs bi-annually is essential.

e  Winter surveys need to be conducted to determine the population estimate of overwintering CAGO in the
capital region.

e A banding program should be considered to study the movements of CAGO throughout the capital region
and other jurisdictions.

6.2 Promote Collaboration

e Continue to develop working relationships with other groups to collaborate on future population surveys.

e  Work directly with the farming community to gather information on CAGO population numbers, impacts, crop
types and movements.

e Develop working relationships with landowners, First Nations, municipal staff, provincial staff, organizations
and local governments.

6.3 Increase Mitigation Efforts

e Increase the goose management budget to include extra funds for increased reduction techniques to be
applied in the capital region. This is necessary to reduce the population of CAGO in a meaningful way.

e Explore additional avenues of funding for CAGO mitigation efforts to increase the overall goose management
budget.

e Explore additional opportunities for collaboration between municipalities, electoral districts and outside

jurisdictions.
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7.0 Conclusion

The 2024 Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey was successfully conducted with participation from over 16 groups
including First Nations, stewardship groups, municipalities and large landowners. Despite numerous efforts to
reduce the overall population, the survey reveals an estimated 6,669 resident CAGO, which is much higher than
anticipated. The data collected has established a baseline CAGO population that can inform regional management
decisions, focus mitigation efforts, and ensure the effectiveness of management techniques. A comprehensive
Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey and a regional overwintering Canada goose population survey should occur
every one to two years to ensure effective management is occurring across all areas. To achieve meaningful
results, it will be crucial to allocate additional resources, increase collaboration and implement further reduction
measures to enhance the success of the Regional Canada Goose Moult Survey.

-

Figure 7. Juvenile and adult CAGO at Esquimalt Gorge Park on June 24, 2024 (photo by Anne Nightengale)
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Appendix A - Maps of past Canada Goose Moult Surveys in the Capital Region
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Appendix B - Hard Copy Data Sheet

Canada Goose Moult Survey Datasheet
CRD 2024

[mandatory information in bold)

Date Author(s)

Weather/Tide Info

Time Location® (Lai/Long or Description) Total Geese| Adults | Juveniles [Notes

*Preference for Latitude/Longitude Coordinates
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Appendix C - Sample Photos Taken From Drone Survey (June 24, 2024)
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Photo 1. Photo taken on June 24, 2024 with DJI M300 RTK drone from Agile Drone Services. Photo shows Canada geese in field
from an elevation of 489 feet with an infrared optical camera at 10.0x zoom.
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with a reqular camera at a distance of 490 feet with 8.7x zoom.
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Photo 3. Photo taken on June 24, 2024 with D)l M300 RTK drone from Agile Drone Services. Photo shows Canada geese in tall

vegetation with an infrared camera at distance of 445 feet with 5.4x zoom.
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Photo 4. Photo taken on June 24, 2024 with D)l M300 RTK drone from Agile Drone Services. Photo shows Canada geese

from Photo 3 with a reqular camera at a distance of 449 feet with 7.0x zoom.
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Photo 5. Photo taken on June 24, 2024, with DJI M300 RIK drone from Agile Drone Services. Photo shows (anada geese from Photo 4
further zoomed in at 13.7x zoom.
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REPORT TO FINANCE COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 06, 2024

SUBJECT Capital Regional District External Grants Update

ISSUE SUMMARY

To provide the Capital Regional District (CRD) Board a bimonthly update on external grants
activity for the period between August 19, 2024 and October 21, 2024.

BACKGROUND

This report summarizes activities and outcomes since the CRD External Grants Update was last
presented in September 2024. The External Grants Dashboard (Appendix A) details applications
submitted, updated, awarded and declined as of 2024. Appendix B provides a summary of grant
alerts for 2024 referencing CRD grant applications approved, pending and declined.

IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

Grants/Contributions Awarded

1. $200,000 through the Union of BC Municipalities’ Community Emergency Preparedness Fund
to support a consolidated climate action risk assessment for the CRD Electoral Areas as well
as CRD land with critical infrastructure. Additionally, the fund will support community drought
level awareness signage within the Electoral Areas.

2. $179,440 through the Union of BC Municipalities’ Community Emergency Preparedness Fund
to support structure fire training for six fire departments within Juan de Fuca and the Southern
Gulf Islands. Funding will also be used for critical firefighting and protective equipment
purchases.

There are two grants under news embargo.
Applications Submitted

Three CRD applications were submitted:

1. $400,000 through the BC Ministry of Emergency Management and Climate Readiness’
Disaster Resilience and Innovation Funding Program for a community adaptivity assessment
for the CRD’s electoral areas and critical infrastructure, which will help assess the CRD’s
capacity to adapt and lead following a disaster. The assessment will identify risks and potential
gaps that be improved.

2. $400,000 through the BC Ministry of Emergency Management and Climate Readiness’
Disaster Resilience and Innovation Funding Program for a multi-hazard resilience plan for the
CRD'’s electoral areas and critical infrastructure, which is intended to reduce the risks posed
by hazards, protect lives, property and the economy, and enhance community resilience. It
provides a planning framework for foreseeable natural hazards by prioritizing critical
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infrastructure and mitigation projects while identifying resources, information and strategies
for management of recovery sectors.

3. $400,000 through the BC Ministry of Emergency Management and Climate Readiness’
Disaster Resilience and Innovation Funding Program for a risk assessment of the CRD’s
electoral areas and critical infrastructure, which will identify, map and categorize potential
threats and risks. This will help guide future mitigation projects.

Service Delivery Implications

New Grant Opportunities

Eleven grant calls (including programs with multiple streams) were issued during the reporting
period and are summarized in Table 1. Appendix B details relevant active grants (as of October
21, 2024) and lists recently closed grants for 2024. Appendix B also references CRD grant
applications approved, pending and declined/withdrawn.

Table 1: Grant Calls Issued

Grant ‘ Deadline I Information

Operation ReLeaf 15-Oct-24 | Funding to help recover areas that have undergone
Program — Tree Canada substantial tree loss due to a natural event
Growing Canada’s 15-Oct-24 | Funding for tree planting initiatives

Community Canopies —
Green Municipal Fund

Growing Canada’s 16-Oct-24 | Funding to improve the availability and condition of
Community Canopies — community buildings in communities experiencing higher
Green Municipal Fund needs and who are currently underserved

Active Transportation 31-Oct-24 Funding to support BC communities to make it easier and
Infrastructure Grant — safer for people to walk, ride, or roll using active

Province of BC transportation modes through two streams:

1. Active transportation network planning: develop active
transportation network plans to encourage active
transportation

2. Active transportation infrastructure: funding for active
transportation components of planning, community
engagement, project management and research and
development

Celebrate Canada 21-Nov-24 | Funding for activities organized on National Indigenous
Funding Program — Peoples Day, Saint Jean-Baptiste Day, Canadian
Government of Canada Multiculturalism Day or Canada Day

Department of Canadian

Heritage

Go Electric Medium and 29-Nov-24 | To increase public chargers for medium and heavy-duty
Heavy-Duty Public vehicles

Charger Program —
CleanBC
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Grant Deadline Information
Infrastructure Planning 11-Dec-24 | Funding for infrastructure and asset planning
Grant Program — Ministry
of Municipal Affairs
Documentary Heritage 09-Jan-25 Fundmg' to support records and publications that reflect
S Canada's history

Communities Program —
Library and Archives
Canada

. Funds to support schoolyard greening, park revitalization,
TD l_:rlends of the . 15-Jan-25 community gardens, park programming and citizen science
Environment Foundation initiatives
Grant — TD Bank Group
FireSmart Community 30-Sep-25 | Funding to reduce the risk of wildfires and mitigate their

Resilience Investment
Program — UBCM

impacts on BC communities

CONCLUSION

The CRD recognizes grants as a supplementary funding source to address the needs of services
provided to the region. The External Grants Update outlines how the CRD continues to integrate
and consider grant opportunities relative to service needs. Local partners are informed of these
opportunities through the Grants Dashboard and Grants Alerts. The CRD will continue to provide
a bimonthly summary of activities and outcomes in the External Grants Update.

RECOMMENDATION

There is no recommendation. This report is for information only.

Submitted by: Lia Xu, MSc., CPA, CGA, Finance Manager, Local Services and Corporate Grants

Concurrence: Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer, GM Finance & IT

Concurrence: Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENTS

Appendix A: 2024 External Grants Dashboard
Appendix B: 2024 Grant Alerts




2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD

(updated 21-0ct-24)
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APPE

NDIX A

v e

Approved Pending

25 9

$15,750,756 $2,267,846

X

Declined

19

$70,705,764

o 2024 Approved Grants

Department Grant Program

Project

Amount ($)

Year
Submitted

Corporate Services

Active Transportation Infrastructure Stream - ) 0
BC Active Transportation Infrastructure Grants ISSclgggner Way-school Trail - Pender 500,000 2023
Program
Economic Diversification Stream - Rural Last-mile Connectivity and Economic
Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Diversification for the Southern Gulf 495,000 2023
Program Islands
. . ~ Dinner Bay Park Fitness Circuit
Community REGreening Program - BC Hydro Beautification - Mayne Island 4,600 2024

2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD

Page 1



Department

Corporate Services (Con’t)

Executive Services
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APPENDIX A
Year
Grant Program Project Amount
J ) Submitted
New Horizons for Seniors Program - Dinner Bay Seniors Fitness Circuit -
Employment and Social Development Canada | Mayne Island 25,000 2024
Community Emergency Preparedness Fund - Climate Risk Assessment and Water
UBCM “New Conservation Signage 200,000 2024
Active Transportation Infrastructure Stream - .
. . Merchant Mews Pathway Project -
BC Active Transportation Infrastructure Grants . 112,000 2023
Program Salt Spring Island
Community Grants Fund - Salt Spring Island
Foundation Portlock Park Bleachers 4,000 2023
~ . . Mount Maxwell Community Park
Bloom Fund - Salt Spring Island Foundation Preservation and Improvement 100,000 2023
Community Grants Fund - Salt Spring Island P,
Foundation Dance Studio Mirrors and Barres 5,000 2024
Community Grants Fund - Salt Spring Island Portlock Park Well Revitalization
Foundation Project 10,000 2024

2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD Page 2
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Parks & Environmental Services
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APPENDIX A
Year
Grant Program Project Amount
J ) Submitted
. Panorama Recreation Arena

(leanBC - BC Hydro Custom Incentive Program Dehumidifier Electrification 7,514 2023

. ~ Saanich Peninsula Wastewater
Energy Audit Program - BC Hydro Treatment System Energy Study 25,000 2023
Family Day Grant Program - BC Recreation and , -
Parks Association SEAPARC Family Day Activities 1,000 2024
Active Transportation Infrastructure Stream - . .

. . Regional Trestles Renewal, Trails
EC Active Transportation Infrastructure Grants Widening and Lighting Project 500,000 2023
rogram
Sustainable Communities Program - BC Hydro Eiasﬁntal Region Covered Buildings 16,000 N/A
Capital Regional District Public
(leanBC Communities Fund - Climate Change | Electric Vehicle Charging Network
Mitigation - Green Infrastructure Stream - Project (Total Grant Award of $6.4M 1,710,037 2022
Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program including City of Victoria portion as
partnership)

Local Government Climate Action Program - 2024-26 Local Government Climate
Province of BC Action program 369,429 N/A
Corporate Energy Manager - BC Hydro (RD Corporate Energy Manager 207,500 N/A

2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD Page 3
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APPENDIX A

Year

Grant Program
Submitted

Department Project Amount ($)

Planning & Protective Services

2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD

15,750,756

Rapid Housing Initiative - Canada Mortgage : : :
and Housing Corporation 1502 Admirals Road Housing Project 9,922,687 2022
Community Resiliency Initiative Grant - 2023 . . P
FireSmart Community Funding and Supports - g?g.'éilt ?ezgolggal District Firesmart 344,057 2022
Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) )
. e For projects such as: Official
E(r)g?llin(ic(;vgfrrérgent Housing Initiative Development Plan updates, Housing 252,492 N/A
Needs Reports and other activities
Active Transportation Network'PIannlng juan de Fuca Electoral Area - Active
Stream - BC Active Transportation Transportation Network Plan 30,000 2023
Infrastructure Grants Program
Community Emergency Preparedness Fund - Emergency Support Services
UBCM Equipment and Training 30,000 2024
Community Resiliency Investment Program - | 2024-25 FireSmart Community
uBcm Funding and Supports 700,000 2024
: ~ Capital Regional District Fire
E%Thwggg\y//vmergency Preparedness Fund Department Training and Equipment 179,440 2023
Project 2024

Page 4




Department

Corporate Services

Parks & Environmental Services

Planning & Protective Services

o 2024 Pending Grants
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APPENDIX A
Grant P Project Amount () neal
rant Program rojec moun

. J Submitted
Capital and Innovation Program - Island Schooner Way-School Trail - Pender
Coastal Economic Trust Island 100,000 2024
Local Leadership for Climate Adaptation - Capital Region Climate Adaptation 236 151 2024
Green Municipal Fund Capacity Building Initiative !
Sustainable Affordable Housing Study Grant - ,
Green Municipal Fund - Federation of g?(r)nepclis View Redevelopment 175,000 2023
Canadian Municipalities J

. . Village on the Green Affordable
Sustainable Affordable Housing Study Grant - .
Green Municipal Fund Housing Redevelopment 175,000 2023
Study
Enabling Accessibility Fund - Employment and . S
Social Development Canada Hearing Loop Installation - SEAPARC 12,195 2024
Build and Mobilize Foundational Wildland Fire e .
Wildfire Table and Braided

Knowledge Program - Natural Resources Knowledge Mobilization Initiative 369,500 2024
Canada
Disaster Resilience & Innovation Funding
Program - BC Ministry of Emergency Community Adaptivity Assessment 400,000 2024
Management and Climate Readiness “New

2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD
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APPENDIX A

Year

Department Grant Program Project Amount
P 9 J ) Submitted

Disaster Resilience & Innovation Funding
Program - BC Ministry of Emergency Multi Hazard Resilience Plan 400,000 2024
. . ) Management and Climate Readiness “New
Planning & Protective Services

(Con't) Disaster Resilience & Innovation Funding
Program - BC Ministry of Emergency Risk Assessment 400,000 2024
Management and Climate Readiness “New

Total 2,267,846

2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD Page 6



9 2024 Declined Grants

Department

Corporate Services

Executive Services

Integrated Water Services

Parks & Environmental Services

ali

Making a difference...together

APPENDIX A
Year
Grant Program Project Amount (§)  Submitted
Outdoor Recreation Fund of BC - Outdoor Henderson Park Information Kiosk 3,942 2024
Recreation Council of BC
Economic Diversification and Infrastructure Project - Detailed Designs 100,000 2023
Program
Community Grants Fund - Salt Spring Island Inclusive Recreation Gym and Swim 10,000 2023
Foundation
Community Grants Fund - Salt Spring Island Rollerskating for Youth Drop-in 4,900 2023
Foundation
Capital Regional District - Regional
Disaster Mitigation and Adaptation Fund - Water System Upgrades - Disaster
Infrastructure Canada Mitigation and Adaptation 63,150,000 2023
Improvement Project

Heritage Legacy Fund - HeritageBC Sg?/{/g%'éi?eoval - Goldstream 28,000 2024
CleanBC - BC Hydro Commercial Custom Panorama Energy Recovery Project 200,000 2020
Program
Grant Program for Specialized Equipment and
Training for Police and Related Agencies - Civil | Park Ranger Equipment 4,462 2023
Forfeiture Office

2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD

Page 7




ali

Making a difference...together

APPENDIX A

Serve’s Up! Tennis for Saanich
Peninsula Schools - Panorama 5,485 2024
Programming

Community Development Grants - Canadian
Tire Jumpstart

Parks & Environmental Services
(Con't)

Serve’s Up! Tennis for Saanich
Peninsula Schools - Panorama 32,200 2024
Programming

Active Community Grant Program - BC
Alliance For Healthy Living

Seed Funding - CMHC 1800 McKenzie Phase 1 149,995 2024

Seed Funding - CMHC Cloverhurst-Amberlea 149,995 2024

Seed Funding - CMHC Grey Oak Square 149,995 2024

Seed Funding - CMHC Swanlea 149,995 2024
Planning & Protective Services

Seed Funding - CMHC Verdier 149,995 2024

Moving on With Your Life (after
brain injury) and Beyond Breast 50,000 2024
Cancer - SEAPARC Programming

Active Community Grant Program - BC
Alliance For Healthy Living

Building Climate Resilience and
Community Connections through 500,000 2024
Tree Planting in the Capital Region

Natural Climate Solutions Grant - Paul G. Allen
Foundation

2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD Page 8
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(Con't)
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APPENDIX A
Galloping Goose Regional Trail and
: . ~ Selkirk Trestle Enhancement Project

/C\ac’:]lggaﬁansportatlon Fund - Infrastructure (Submitted by Ministry of 5 848,328 2022
Transportation and Infrastructure, in
partnership with Regional Parks)

Community Grant Program - Tire Stewardship | Greenglade Community Centre

BC Playground 18,472 2023

Total 70,705,764

2024 EXTERNAL GRANTS DASHBOARD Page 9
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Open Grants as of 21-0ct-24 (Including CRD Applications Approved, Pending and Declined)

aeaio

Making a difference...together

APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved o

PROGRAM

Pending e Declined e

DESCRIPTION

Active Transportation Infrastructure Grant - BC

Funding to support B.C. communities to make it easier and safer for people to
walk, ride, or roll using active transportation modes through two streams:
1. Active transportation network planning: development of active transportation

31-Oct-24 Active Transportation [LINK] network plans to encourage active transportation
2. Active transportation infrastructure: active transportation project costs that are
part of an active transportation network or equivalent
Support for rural economic development projects via two relevant streams:
R 1. Economic Capacity: Aims to build economic capacity through projects such as
Rural Economic Diversification and Infrastructure . :
31-0ct-24 - . Community Assessments, Engagement, Professional development programs,
Program - Province of BC [LINK] staffing.
2. Economic Diversity: Funds for development and planning projects and funds for
implement projects resulting in new programs or assets.
Indigenous Cultural Safety and Cultural Humility | To enhance cultural safety and humility in the delivery of local emergency
01-Nov-24 Training (2024) - UBCM [LINK] management programs and services
Celebrate Canada Funding Program - . — . : . .
: Funding for activities organized on National Indigenous Peoples day, Saint Jean-
21-Nov-24 ﬁg\rﬁ;gg]e[m&f] Canada Department of Canadian Baptiste Day, Canadian Multiculturalism Day or Canada Day
29-Nov-24 Go Electric Medium and Heavy Duty Public To increase public chargers for medium and heavy duty vehicles

Charger Program - CleanBC [LINK]

2024 GRANTS ALERTS Page 1



https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/transportation/funding-engagement-permits/funding-grants/active-transportation-infrastructure-grants
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/employment-business/economic-development/support-organizations-community-partners/rural-economic-development/redip
https://www.ubcm.ca/cepf/indigenous-cultural-safety-and-cultural-humility-training
https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/services/funding/celebrate-canada.html
https://pluginbc.ca/mhdpubliccharger/
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved o

PROGRAM

Declined e

DESCRIPTION

To support new projects and project financing in the Regional Plastics Innovation

02-Dec-24 Plastics Action Fund - Alacrity Canada [LINK Category in communities with a population of less than 25,000
Ccan . : T To support C2C forums and expanding to include First Nation-local government
06-5ep-24 g?gg}%gﬁ%ﬁﬁ?ﬂﬂBEKA)P“L)?,\?Km (€2C) - Union reconciliation and relationship building through agreements, joint plans and/or
06-Dec-24 P [LINK] strategies for reviewing by-laws and/or policies
11-Dec-24 g}f;\zatr:ili%%rle;:gm'[T?N?(r]ant Program - Ministry Funding for infrastructure and asset planning
) ) ) Funding to increase community resiliency by undertaking community-based
30-Sep-24 lFJIIFBeC?\/\maLrI}\ICK()mmumty Funding and Supports - planning and activities that reduce the community’s risk from wildfire
31-Dec-24 [ ] Planning and Protective Services 2024 FireSmart Community Funding and Supports
09-Jan-25 LDi(l;gP;eemc?chHheiUéasgceaﬁg?am[Elr“E]es Program - Funding to support records and publications that reflect Canada's history.
TD Friends of the Environment Foundation Grant - | Funds to support schoolyard greening, park revitalization, community gardens, park
15-Jan-25 TD Bank Group [LINK] programming and citizen science initiatives
Emergency Support Services Equipment and Funding to support eligible applicants to build local capacity to provide emergency
31-Jan-25 Training - UBCM [LINK] support services through volunteer recruitment, retention and training
. . Funding to support the purchase of equipment and supplies required to maintain or
28-Feb-25 Emergency Operations Centres Equipment and improve Emergency Operations Centres (EOC) and to enhance EOC capacity through

Training (2025) - UBCM [LINK]

training and exercises

2024 GRANTS ALERTS Page 2



https://www.alacritycanada.com/plasticsactionfund/?utm_source=Municipal+Grant+Service&utm_campaign=4039c4c0b0-EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2024_01_16_07_33&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_-4039c4c0b0-%5BLIST_EMAIL_ID%5D
https://www.ubcm.ca/c2c
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/local-governments/grants-transfers/grants/infrastructure-planning-grant-program
https://www.ubcm.ca/cri/firesmart-community-funding-supports
https://library-archives.canada.ca/eng/services/funding-programs/dhcp/Pages/dhcp.aspx
https://www.td.com/ca/en/about-td/ready-commitment/funding/fef-grant?utm_source=Municipal+Grant+Service&utm_campaign=df3ab23546-EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2024_10_01_06_09&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_-df3ab23546-%5BLIST_EMAIL_ID%5D
https://www.ubcm.ca/cepf/emergency-support-services-equipment-and-training
https://www.ubcm.ca/cepf/emergency-operations-centres-equipment-and-training
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved o

PROGRAM

Declined e

DESCRIPTION

Funding to reduce risks from future disasters due to natural hazards and climate-
related risks through three streams:

04-0ct-24 (Dzlzazsj%SR)ls_klfgchl/J\ctchl)I{lll-(Cl|mate Adaption 1. Foundational activities including risk mapping, risk assessments and planning.
28-Mar-25 [LINK] 2. Non-structural projects including land use planning and education and
temporary mitigation equipment
3. Small Scale Structural Projects
FireSmart Community Resilience Investment Funding to reduce the risk of wildfires and mitigate their impacts on BC
30-5ep-25 Program - UBCM [LINK communities.
To accelerate the adoption of the highest feasible energy performance such as net-
zero emissions codes, promote compliance and build capacity in two streams:
Codes Acceleration Fund - Natural Resources 1. Regional and municipal governments that have the authority to adopt energy
31-Mar-27 Canada [LINK by-laws and codes
2. Regional and municipal governments that do not have authority to adopt
building energy by-laws and codes
Continuous The Living Cities Canada Fund (2024) - Green i : .
(imited funds) Communities Canada [LINK] For small-scale green infrastructure projects
Continuous

(limited funds)

Go Electric - CleanBC [LINK

Funding to support fleet transition to electric vehicles

Continuous
(limited fund)

Rural Transit Solutions Fund Planning and Design
Stream - Infrastructure Canada [LINK

Planning and design project funding to support the development and expansion of
locally driven transit solutions

Continuous
through 2025

Next Generation 911 - UBCM [LINK]

Funding to eligible recipients to support the transition and operational readiness of
existing 911 services to NG911

2024 GRANTS ALERTS Page 3



https://www.ubcm.ca/cepf/disaster-risk-reduction-climate-adaptation
https://www.ubcm.ca/cri
https://natural-resources.canada.ca/energy-efficiency/buildings/codes-acceleration-fund/24794
https://greencommunitiescanada.org/programs/living-cities-canada/living-cities-fund/
https://goelectricbc.gov.bc.ca/rebates-and-programs/for-businesses-and-organizations/
https://www.infrastructure.gc.ca/rural-trans-rural/plan-guide-eng.html?utm_source=Municipal+Grant+Service&utm_campaign=d93cff2de9-EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2023_12_05_10_26&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_-d93cff2de9-%5BLIST_EMAIL_ID%5D
https://www.ubcm.ca/lgps/next-generation-911
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved 0

PROGRAM

Pending o Declined e

DESCRIPTION

Local Community Accessibility Grant Program -

Continuous Social Planning and Research Council of BC Funding to identify and remove barriers to improve accessibility and inclusion
(SPARC BC) [LINK]
Energy study funding and capital incentives for fuel switching and electrification
measures
Continuous CleanBC Custom Program - BC Hydro [LINK
e Parks and Environmental Services, Panorama Recreation Arena
Dehumidifier Electrification
An integrated energy audit to Improve efficiency and managing energy costs
Continuous D€ gratediENErgyRAULICBEIIGUTINK e Parks and Environmental Services, Saanich Peninsula Wastewater
Treatment System Energy Study
i i, Funds to celebrate community, increase opportunities for local artists, artisans,
Continuous ;igdalflgrﬁ’?ande _Bcl;'rl]ilgi%rs(l)_lrgg;gng'eﬁ,\t‘hKrOUgh ATts heritage performers or specialists and First Nations, Inuit and Metis cultural carriers
g ge [LINK] to be involved in their community with citizen involvement and local partners
Continuous Community Buildings Retrofit Initiative - Green Retrofit existing community buildings to lower green house gas (GHG) emissions

(limited funds)

Municipal Fund [LINK]

and extend their life cycle

2024 GRANTS ALERTS Page 4



https://www.sparc.bc.ca/partnerships/local-community-accessibility-grant-program/#:~:text=With%20funding%20provided%20through%20the,feedback%20mechanisms%20or%20Accessibility%20Plans.
https://www.betterbuildingsbc.ca/incentives/cleanbc-custom-program/
https://www.bchydro.com/powersmart/business/programs/studies-audits/integrated-energy-audit.html
https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/services/funding/building-communities/legacy-fund/application-guidelines.html#a3
https://greenmunicipalfund.ca/community-buildings-retrofit-initiative
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APPENDIX B
Approved o Pending o Declined e
DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
Provides funding for renewable energy and capacity building projects in rural and
. Clean Energy for Rural and Remote Communities | femote communities. Accepting application for only two steams:
Continuous Program - Natural Resources Canada [LINK 1. Biomass heating, district heating, combined heat and power systems
2. research, development, and demonstration projects
) Multiculturalism and Anti-Racism Program - Funding for community-based events that promote intercultural or interfaith
Continuous Events Component - Canadian Heritage [LINK understanding or celebrate a community’s history and culture
) Connecting British Columbia Program - Phase To support the development of regional connectivity infrastructure strategies that
Continuous Two: Connectivity Infrastructure Strategy [LINK] | ensure that infrastructure strategies achieve objectives for the region
Compensation for Employers of Reservists . . .
) . Employers are compensated for operational losses when reservists take time away
Continuous Program - Employment and Social Development " .
Canada [LINK] from work to serve on military operations
, Community Economic Developmen_t and Funds to respond to economic development opportunities or adjust to changing
Continuous Diversification in British Columbia - Pacific and challending economic circumstances
Economic Development Canada [LINK] ging
Continuous R[Sm(a]l Protection Fund - Ministry of Housing Provides funding for affordable housing projects
National Institute of Disability Management and | Provides BC workplaces with two levels of opportunity:
Cont Research (NIDMAR) Disability Management 1. Free assessment of current Disability Management and Return to Work
ontinuous Program Assessment - NIDMAR - BC Workforce workplace structures
Development Agreement [LINK 2. Potential subsidy of up to $7,500 to address issues identified in the assessment

2024 GRANTS ALERTS Page 5



https://natural-resources.canada.ca/reducingdiesel
https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/services/funding/multiculturalism-anti-racism.html?utm_source=Municipal+Grant+Service&utm_campaign=c5c581e171-EMAIL_CAMPAIGN_2024_01_23_10_40&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_-c5c581e171-%5BLIST_EMAIL_ID%5D
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/employment-business/economic-development/funding-and-grants/connecting-british-columbia
https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/services/funding/employer-compensation-reservists-guide.html
https://www.canada.ca/en/pacific-economic-development/services/funding/community-economic-development-diversification.html
https://rentalprotectionfund.ca/
https://www.nidmar.ca/news/full_story.asp?fid=284
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APPENDIX B
Approved o Pending o Declined e
DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
) Supporting Rural Destinations - Discover West . . , .
Continuous Tourism [LINK] Funding for tourism events in rural communities
, Eﬂﬁgﬁ! psr(_)jEgjeﬁg{{g:}ito?fcgﬁggig% TAllJJrr]]iicciipaallities Retrofit @ municipal building or portfolio of municipal buildings for higher energy
Continuous g P performance and significant GHG emissions reduction
[LINK
, Homelessness Community Action Grants Program | One-time funding for local planning and collaborative initiatives to respond to the
Continuous - SPARC [LINK] needs of those who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless
) Canada Cultural Spaces Fund - Canadian Heritage | Funding for improvement of physical conditions for heritage, culture and creative
Continuous [LINK innovation including renovation and construction projects
Retrofit or New Construction of Sustainable Funding to evaluate solutions for integrating deep energy efficiency measures and
Continuous Affordable Housing - Green Municipal Fund onsite renewable energy generation in existing affordable housing retrofit and
[LINK new build projects
, GHG Impact Retrofit - Federation of Canadian . . . " o
Continuous Municipalities [LINK] Funding to retrofit a local recreational or cultural facility to reduce GHG emissions
) Commemorate Canada - Canadian Heritage Funding for initiatives that commemorate and celebrate historical figures, places,
Continuous [LINK events and accomplishments of national significance
GHG Reduction Pathway Feasibility - Green . - .
Continuous Municipal Fund - Federation of Canadian F:cnrcelglt?otnoa?EsasnedsscjletzlajsrlabllIflét};clilfi(;iregrmects that reduce energy and GHGs for
Municipalities [LINK]

2024 GRANTS ALERTS Page 6



https://discoverwesttourism.com/
https://greenmunicipalfund.ca/funding/capital-project-retrofit-existing-municipal-buildings
https://www.sparc.bc.ca/partnerships/provincial-homelessness-grants/
https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/services/funding/cultural-spaces-fund.html
https://greenmunicipalfund.ca/funding/study-retrofit-new-construction-sustainable-affordable-housing
https://greenmunicipalfund.ca/funding/capital-project-ghg-impact-retrofit
https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/services/funding/commemorate-canada.html
https://greenmunicipalfund.ca/funding/study-ghg-reduction-pathway-feasibility
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved 0

PROGRAM

Pending o Declined e

DESCRIPTION

Funding to support projects through three streams:

i McConnell Foundation Fund [LINK] 1. Cimate
Continuous 2. Reconciliation
3. Communities
) Medium and Heavy Duty Zero Emission Vehicles . . . . i .
Continuous Program — Transport Canada [LINK] Funding to encourage adoption of medium and heavy-duty zero emissions vehicles
Funds for deliverables required in applications for additional funding of energy
. efficient affordable housing
Planning Stream: Early Support Grant for
: Sustainable Affordable Housing Projects- Green
Continuous Municipal Fund - Federation of Canadian e Planning and Protective Services, Campus View Redevelopment Project
Municipalities [LINK]
e Planning and Protective Services, Village on the Green Affordable Housing
Redevelopment Study
Capital project: Municipal Fleet Electrification - : - . : : : :
, o : : Funding for feasibility studies for projects that reduce or avoid fossil fuel use in any
Continuous Green Municipal Fund - Federation of Canadian . . . .
Municipalities [LINK] vehicle that delivers municipal services
Continuous Regional Innovation Ecosystems in BC- Pacific Funding to create, grow and nurture inclusive ecosystems that support business

Economic Development Canada [LINK]

needs
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https://mcconnellfoundation.ca/funding/
https://tc.canada.ca/en/road-transportation/innovative-technologies/zero-emission-vehicles/medium-heavy-duty-zero-emission-vehicles
https://greenmunicipalfund.ca/funding/planning-early-support-grant-sustainable-affordable-housing-projects
https://greenmunicipalfund.ca/funding/capital-project-municipal-fleet-electrification
https://www.canada.ca/en/pacific-economic-development/services/funding/regional-innovation-ecosystems.html
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved o

PROGRAM

Smart Renewables and Electrification Pathways

Pending ° Declined e

DESCRIPTION

Four funding streams:

1. Established Renewables
2. Emerging Technologies

Continuous Program - Natural Resources Canada [LINK 3. Grid Modernization (the only eligible Applicants are Utilities and System
Operators)
4. Strategic Dialogue Linked Projects
Funding through two components to support public transit and school bus
, Zero Emission Transit Fund - Infrastructure operators to electrify their fleets:

Continuous Canada [LINK 1. Planning projects
2. Capital projects

Continuous ECO Employment Programs - Environmental Funding for training and employment to support job seekers looking to enter or

Careers Organization of Canada [LINK]

advance their careers in the clean economy.
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APPENDIX B

Approved o

Pending e

Declined e

DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
: o / : The fund supports communities fighting against racism and discrimination with a
National Anti-Racism Fund (NARF)’s Projects : g . . .
08-Jan-24 Grants - Canadian Race Relations Foundation éhn?g?sy(r);:r(]it(iger]s(]slggbs“ycs}iefgnlc racism in the delivery of public services,
. ~ Funding for quality summer work experiences for young people (15-30 yrs.) and
10-Jan-24 Eﬁwn;ga%lé?trgirdj(S)gzig\ll?)geevgIuobpsrlr?gn(tzgazr?gda resp'ond'to natjonal and 'Iocal priorities as provide opportunity for those who face
barriers including youth in rural areas and remote communities
Infrastructure Planning Grant Program - Ministry | Funds to support projects related to the development of sustainable community
10-Jan-24 of Municipal Affairs infrastructure
. Funding to undertake assessments to inform land use decision-making;
12-Jan-24 Complete Communities Program - UBCM considering housing need, supply and location; providing transportation options;
and connecting to infrastructure investment and service decisions
12-jan-24 Low Carbon Economy Challenge (The Challenge Funding to support the implementation of projects that deploy proven, low-
Fund) -Environment and Climate Change Canada | carbon technologies resulting in material GHG emissions reductions
. ~ Funds to increase public awareness and enhance the United Nations’ 2030
12-Jan-24 Erlﬁ;?(l)?/?f?leent[)aer\:delggg]a?nge?/g?é;ggg{a(rgnada Agenda for Sustainable Devglgpment and it’s 17 Sustainable Development Goals
which includes sustainable cities and communities
BC Vision Zero in Road Safety - Government of Funds for projects aimed at improving vulnerable road user safety in local
15-Jan-24 British Columbia communities
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APPENDIX B
Approved o Pending o Declined e
DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
TD Friends of the Environment Foundation Grant - | Funds to support environmental initiatives including green space programs such
15-Jan-24 TD Bank as park revitalization, community gardens and park programming
Community Salmon Program - Pacific Salmon To provide resources to enable the public to participate in Fisheries and Oceans
15-Feb-24 Foundation Canada’s Salmon Enhancement Program
Search and Rescue (SAR) New Initiatives Fund - | Annual funding for projects that improve search and rescue in Canada, enhance
24-Jan-24 Public Safety Canada SAR responses and promote sharing and prevention best practices
Funding to support eligible applicants to build local capacity to provide emergency
support services through volunteer recruitment, retention, and training
L Community Emergency Preparedness Fund - e Planning and Protective Services, Emergency Support Services Equipment
26-Jan-24 UBCM I
and Training
e (orporate Services, Climate Risk Assessment and Water Conservation
Signage “New
Energy Innovation Program - National Energy : - . . . : .
. B : Projects that quantitatively model innovative emissions reduction technologies for
20 Jan24 gg;tae(;gs Modelling Call - Public Health Agency of the energy sector and its role in achieving a net-zero emissions economy
Funding to support community planting projects and vegetation that enhance
ecological networks and ensure the right trees are planted around power lines
31-Jan-24 Community ReGreening Program - BC Hydro
e Parks and Environmental Services, Dinner Bay Park Fitness Circuit
Beautification
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APPENDIX B
Approved o Pending o Declined e
DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
WildFire Community Preparedness Day Award - | Funding to support community events that raise awareness of wildfire risk and
31-Jan-24 FireSmart Canada increase community resilience
01-Feb-24 Ei?{?}g?g srgdg]r’;‘%ﬁgr'ar;g"\%'Igjggs_'rﬁlaatﬁpaalngmg Funds to support wildfire training projects that increase firefighting capacity and
Resources Canada build community capacity to respond to wildfires
Funds to support community recreational and cultural activities that will be free of
2024 Family Day Event Grant - BC Recreation and | charge over the Family Day weekend
01-Feb-24 Parks Association , , ,
e Parks and Environmental Services, Family Day Event at SEAPARK
Recreation
Create or expand accessible physical activity opportunities by reducing financial
and transportation barriers
Active Communities Grant Program - BC Alliance e Parks and Environmental Services, Serve’s Up! Tennis for Saanich
05-Feb-24 for Healthy Living Peninsula Schools - Panorama Programming
e Parks and Environmental Services, Moving on With Your Life (after brain
injury) and Beyond Breast Cancer - SEAPARC Recreation
Active Communities Grant Program - BC Alliance | Funding for community level changes to increase and support physical activity
05-Feb-24 for Healthy Living planning, infrastructure and participation
I ~ : Funds to support law and policy reform around land use, fresh water, built
07-Feb-24 Our Priorities Fund - Real Estate Foundation of BC environments, food sovereignty, and the real estate profession
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APPENDIX B
Approved o Pending o Declined e
DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
Real Estate Foundation BC (REFBC) General Grants Prioritized funding projects that advance justice, equity, diversity, and inclusion for
07-Feb-24 " REFBC racialized and other communities historically and systemically excluded from land
use decision-making
: Funds to reduce Canada’s GHG emissions and build resilient communities through
Low Carbon Economy Challenge - Environment : i
08-Feb-24 and Climate Change Canada the Challenge Fund which supports the deployment of proven, low-carbon
technologies
Research and Knowledge Initiative - Funds projects focused on key Government of Canada research and data priorities
09-Feb-24 Infrastructure Canada related to housing, infrastructure and communities
Active Transportation Planning Proaram — UBCM Funding to support active transportation components of formal planning
09-Feb-24 P g Frog documents including research, consultation, and policy development
13-Feb-24 ParticipACTION Community Challenge - To help promote and deliver sport and physical activity opportunities to equity-
ParticipACTION Canada denied populations
15-Feb-24 Community Salmon Program - Pacific Salmon To provide resources to enable the public to participate in Fisheries and Oceans
Foundation Canada’s Salmon Enhancement Program
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved 0
PROGRAM

Pending o Declined °

DESCRIPTION

16-Feb-24 Green Jobs Initiative - Canadian Parks and Provide learning experiences for youth to become successful in the workplace and
Recreation Association - potentially pursue careers in the green jobs sector
Funding to support regional and community-based infrastructure including
Capital and Innovation Program - Island Coastal | strategic tourism infrastructure and destination trails
16-Feb-24 Economic Trust
e (orporate Services, Schooner Way - School Trail, Pender Island
Canadian Tourism and Growth Program - Pacific | Funding for local communities to grow and develop tourism products and
20-Feb-24 Economic Development Canada experiences
Multiculturalism and Anti-Racism Program - . : . S . P
R : o Provide funding to build an organization’s internal capacity to meet the objectives
22-Feb-24 Organizational Capacity Building Component - : : P
Canadian Heritage of the Multiculturalism and Anti-Racism Program
Funding for electric vehicle changing stations and electric vehicle infrastructure in
22-Feb-24 Canada’s Charged for Change Program - Aviva public places, workplaces and multi-unit residential buildings in underserved

communities of less than 100,000
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved o
PROGRAM

Energy Innovation Program - Utilization Focus

Pending ° Declined e

DESCRIPTION

Supports research, development and €02 utilization technologies that reduce

23-Feb-24 Area - Natural Resources Canada costs, energy and permanent carbon sequestration
. , Funding to support the purchase of equipment and supplies required to maintain
23-Feb 24 Egienrignen(czyoga?r_aﬂ%rgvfentres Equipment and or improve Emergency Operations Centres (EOC) and to enhance EOC capacity
g through training and exercises

Fairs, Festivals and Event Funds - Ministry of Funds to help community event organizers recover from cost increases, reduced
25-Feb-24 Tourism, Arts, Culture and Sport sponsorship, and severe weather events

Rural Transit Solutions Fund: Capital Projects Funding for rural and remote community capital projects to support both
28-Feb-24 Stream — Infrastructure Canada traditional and non-traditional transport modes and transportation systems
01-Mar-24 Canada Post Community Foundation Grants - Funding for projects that create or expand services such as purchasing new

Canada Post

equipment or launching new programs
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APPENDIX B
Approved 0 Pending o Declined e
DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
Local Government Development Approvals To improve development approval processes while meeting local government
08-Mar-24 Program - UBCM planning and policy objectives

Funds for Broadband Infrastructure for underserved households in areas that lack

14-Mar-24 Connecting Communities - Government of BC internet service

Provides funding to a wide range of community projects on Salt Spring Island

Community Grants Fund - Salt Spring Island
31-Mar-24 Foundation e Executive Services, Dance Studio Mirrors and Barres

e Executive Services, Portlock Park Well Revitalization Project

Community Safety Support Fund - Fierte Canada | Provides funding to both FCP members and non-members for Pride Festivals and
31-Mar-24 Pride (FCP) Events between June 1, 2023 and March 31, 2024

Funding for four streams:

o ) 1. Activities that support the transition to a green economy
S 1-Mar-24 Jobs and Growth Fund In British Columbia - 2. Activities that foster an inclusive recovery
Pacific Economic Development (anada 3. Activities that advance Canada’s competitiveness and grow small and
medium-sized enterprises through digital adoption
4. Activities that strengthen capacity in sectors critical to Canada’s recovery
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved o
PROGRAM

Pending o Declined e

DESCRIPTION

To support skills training for new hires to increase job security or a move into

31-Mar-24 B.C. Employer Training Grant - WorkBC better jobs for employees
Funds for 4,500 new units of permanent affordable housing for vulnerable and
Rapid Housing Initiative - Canada Mortgage and targeted populations with 25% towards women-focused projects
31-Mar-24 Housing Corporation (CMHC)
e Planning and Protective Services, 1502 Admirals Road Housing Project
o . . Funding for arts and cultural organization’s foundational, community, or artistic
02-Apr-24 Arts Impact Grant - British Columbia Arts Council and cultural impact
12-Apr-24 ﬁ(::l?l:umty Wellness Grant Program - Island For community led wellness projects that reduce barriers and increase supports
Funding to support rigorous, place-based and inclusive natural climate solutions.
Natural Climate Solutions Grant - Paul G. Allen
12-Apr-24 Foundation . . L .
e Parks and Environment Services, Building Climate Resilience and
Community Connections through tree planting in the Capital Region
Energy Innovation Program - Natural Resources Funding for methane measurement, reporting, verification, and emissions
17-Apr-24 Canada

mitigation
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APPENDIX B
Approved 0 Pending e Declined e
DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
Foam Recycling Coalition Grant Program - : :
22-Apr-24 Foodservice Packaging Institute Improve the collection and recycling of polystyrene foam
Supports community initiatives that conserve and increase appreciation of
. . heritage resources
26-Apr-24 Heritage Legacy Fund - HeritageBC 9
e Integrated Water Services, Graffiti Removal - Goldstream Powerhouse
Public Notification and Evacuation Route Planning | Funding programs to enhance the resiliency of local governments, First Nations,
26-Apr-24 - UBCM and communities in responding to emergencies
30-Apr-24 E(')?ﬂzﬁrs'ty Conservation Grant - Fraser Basin Opportunities for conservation tools and incentives on private lands
Community Anniversaries- Building Communities | Funding for one-time events/capital projects that celebrate the 100th (or
30-Apr-24 through Arts and Heritage -Canadian Heritage 125th/150th /175th, etc.) anniversary of a significant historical event/personality
Funding for trail enhancement, stewardship and education and inclusive
Outdoor Recreation Fund - Outdoor Recreation participation measures
30-Apr-24 Council of BC
e (orporate Services, Henderson Park Information Kiosk
Indigenous Housing Fund - Request for Proposals Funds for non-profit housing providers who wish to partner with indigenous
30-Apr-24 - BC Housing housing providers providing housing on and off reserve for Indigenous people in
our province
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved 0
PROGRAM

Build and Mobilize Foundational Wildland Fire

Pending o Declined °

DESCRIPTION

Funding for wildfire risk assessment, risk mitigation, and adaptation forestry
practices

14-May-24 _
/ knowledge Program - Natural Resources Canada e Planning and Protective Services, Wildfire Table and Braided Knowledge
Mobilization Initiative
D - : Funding for food waste reduction, supporting agriculture and food, reducing the
15-May-24 Agrispirit Fund - Farm Credit Canada environmental footprint and accessibility projects
17-May-24 Go Electric Public Charger Program - CleanBC To increase the numbers of public DC fast charger stations
) . ~ Funding to support regional and community-based infrastructure including
24-May-24 E?g:}tgél???rhn;ovat'on Program - Island Coastal strategic tourism infrastructure and destination trails
Environmental Damages Fund - Environment and | Opportunities for restoration, environmental quality improvement, research and
30-May-24 Climate Change Canada education projects
. : Support for hosting sporting events that encourage economic and communit
31-May-24 Hosting BC - ViaSport BC deE)/[e)Iopment. gsp g g y
31-May-24 Community Park Enhancement Fund - BC Parks Funding for conservation or recreation projects in community parks

2024 GRANTS ALERTS Page 18




aeaio

Making a difference...together

APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved o
PROGRAM

Declined e

DESCRIPTION

Infrastructure Planning Grant Program - Ministry

Funding for infrastructure and asset planning

12-Jun-24 of Municipal Affairs

26-Jun-24 Watershed Grants - Watershed Security Fund Supports projects and initiatives that advance resiliency in British Columbia (BC)
watersheds

04-Jul-24 E!)anrllr-llnlllre“at:tet;y Communities Grant - BC Healthy Funding to support local governments to advance policies, programs and
strategies aimed at improving health equity and well-being

Growing Canada’s Community Canopies- Green

12-Jul-24 Municipal Fund Funding for tree planning initiatives
Two funding streams:
1. Programming Support - develop or sustain the delivery of sport or physical-

: - based activities
12-Jul-24 quor;]nn;tuar:{ty Dizveliprent €rEm s = Gl an e 2. Operational Support - to build inclusive, equitable, safe sport participation
P experiences

Parks and Environment Services, Serve’s Up! Tennis for Saanich Peninsula schools -
Panorama Programming

15-Jul-24 18 Eralﬁﬂdérgrj;he Environment Foundation Grant - Funds to support environmental initiatives including green space programs such

as park revitalization, community gardens and park programming

2024 GRANTS ALERTS Page 19




aeaio

Making a difference...together

APPENDIX B
Approved 0 Pending e Declined e
DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION
Supports infrastructure projects that improve accessibility and safety for persons
Enabling Accessibility Fund - Employment and with disabilities
23-Jul-24 Social Development Canada
e Planning and Protective Services, Hearing loop Installation - SEAPARC
02-Aug-24 ChildCareBC New Spaces Fund - Province of BC Funding to create new childcare spaces
07-Aug-24 g/?lfr?ii'itya:)s&’ﬁ(lfpmem Partner Grants - Green Funding for basic and in-depth technical training to advance climate adaptation
P knowledge and skills
Support for equity-information climate adaptation projects incorporating low-
Local Leadership for Climate Adaptation - Green galboniandinatiespositiveicemmunitybeneiis
14-Aug-24 Municipal Fund , . , , , ,
e Parks & Environmental Services, Capital Region Climate Adaptation
Capacity Building Initiative
New Horizons for Seniors Program - Employment . . . L .
12-Sep-24 and Social Development Canada Supports projects that improve the health and well-being of seniors in their
communities.
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APPENDIX B

Approved 0 Pending e Declined e

DEADLINE PROGRAM DESCRIPTION

Funding for resilience preparation such as data collection and planning, as well as
risk reducing capital projects.

Disaster Resilience and Innovation Funding e Planning and Protective Services, Disaster Resilience Innovation Fund -
15-5ep-24 Program - Province of BC Community Adaptivity Assessment “New

e Planning and Protective Services, Disaster Resilience Innovation Fund -
Multi Hazard Resilience Plan “New

e Planning and Protective Services, Disaster Resilience Innovation Fund -
Risk Assessment “New

Canada Public Transit Fund - Housing,

16-Sep-24 Infrastructure and Communities Canada Funding for capital and non-capital investments for public transit or active

transportation infrastructure

2 Billion Trees Program - Natural Resources
19-5ep-24 Canada Support new tree planting projects

ZEVIP for Owners/Operators of ZEV Infrastructure | Funding for projects focusing on EV charger deployment in public places, on-
19-5ep-24 - Natural Resources Canada street, in multi-unit residential buildings, at workplaces, and for vehicle fleets.

Zero Emission Vehicle Infrastructure Program for

19-Sep-24 owners - Natural Resources Canada Provides funding for projects focusing on public EV charger deployment, at

workplaces and for vehicle fleets.
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved o
PROGRAM

Declined e

DESCRIPTION

27-Sep-24 Asset Management Planning - UBCM To support planning grants, training subsidies, and the development of asset
management resources
30-Sep-24 Commercial Vehicle Pilots Program - CleanBC To support planning grants, training subsidies, and the development of asset
management resources
Canada Arts Presentation Fund - Canadian
15-0ct-24 Heritage Funds for organizations that offer support to arts presenters
15-Oct-24 Eg&?:t?étg Salmon Program - Pacific Salmon To provide resources to enable the public to participate in Fisheries and Oceans
Canada’s Salmon Enhancement Program
15-0ct-24 Operation Releaf Program - Tree Canada Funding to help recover areas that have undergone substantial tree loss due to a
natural event
Growing Canada’s Community Canopies - Green
15-0ct-24 Municipal Fund Funding for tree planting initiatives
16-0ct-24 Green and Inclusive Community Buildings - Funding to improve the availability and condition of community buildings in

Housing, Infrastructure and Communities Canada

Canadian communities experiencing higher needs and who are currently
underserved
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APPENDIX B

DEADLINE

Approved o

Pending o Declined °

18-0Oct-24

PROGRAM

Volunteer and Composite Fire Departments
Equipment and Training (2024) - UBCM

DESCRIPTION

Funding to fire departments for preparation and response to emergencies

18-0ct-24

Capital and Innovation Program - Island Coastal
Economic Trust

Funding to support regional and community-based infrastructure including
strategic tourism infrastructure and destination trails
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REPORT TO ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SERVICES ADVISORY COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 9, 2024

SUBJECT 2025 Budget for the Royal Theatre Service and the McPherson Playhouse
Service

ISSUE SUMMARY

The Royal and McPherson Theatres Services Advisory Committee (RMTSAC) oversees the
operating and capital contributions provided to the Royal and McPherson Theatres Society for
the Royal Theatre Service and the McPherson Playhouse Service.

BACKGROUND

On September 11, 2024, the CRD Board adopted amending Bylaw No. 4560 to modernize the
Royal Theatre Service bylaw. This removed restrictions between operating and capital
contributions and introduced a formula to calculate the maximum allowable contribution as the
greater of the previous fixed maximum of $580,000 or $0.00590 per $1000 of net taxable value
of land and improvements. The recommended lift to the Royal Theatre Service to $596,000 in
budget 2025 would be the first increase in funding to this service in the past 25 years.

The bylaw governing the McPherson Playhouse specifies a fixed maximum contribution of
$750,000. These budget recommendations are based on the adopted bylaws for these
subregional services (see Legal Implications below for details).

The Capital Regional District (CRD) provides these contributions, along with service agreements,
to the Royal and McPherson Theatres Society (RMTS), a non-profit organization of theatre
management professionals established for the purpose of operating the Royal Theatre and
McPherson Playhouse and collaborating on the asset management of these facilities with CRD
Engineering. Each year RMTS is required to provide audited financial statements to the CRD as
part of their reporting requirements (Appendix A) and also produces an annual report with more
information on programming and service delivery statistics (Appendix B).

The RMTSAC reports to the Finance Committee, which does not meet before the consideration
of the provisional budget on October 30", 2024. Input from RMTSAC on budget levels will flow
through the Finance Committee to be considered as part of the final budget package.

ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1
The Royal and McPherson Theatres Services Advisory Committee recommends the Finance
Committee recommend to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That the maximum allowable contribution amount of $596,000 be approved for the Royal
Theatre Service; and
2. That the maximum allowable contribution amount of $750,000 be approved for the
McPherson Playhouse Service.
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Alternative 2
The Royal and McPherson Theatres Services Advisory Committee recommends the Finance
Committee recommend to the Capital Regional District Board:

1. That the Royal Theatre Service Budget be approved as amended; and

2. That the McPherson Playhouse Service Budget be approved as amended.

IMPLICATIONS

Alignment with Board & Corporate Priorities

In the current CRD Corporate Plan (2023-2026), initiative 10b-2 states the CRD will “Scale up
regional support for performing arts facilities within the region.” Increasing funding to the Royal
Theatre service is aligned to this goal.

Financial Implications

In addition to operational expenses, RMTS has also planned approximately $2.1 million in building
improvement capital expenses in 2025 for necessary repairs and upgrades. These improvements
include building envelope repairs at the Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse, new balcony
seating at the Royal Theatre and repairing the entrance canopies at the McPherson Playhouse
(see Appendix C and D for complete lists of capital projects). RMTS collects a building
improvement fee as part of its ticket sales and those proceeds also assist in funding capital
projects.

Legal Implications

On August 22, 2023, amending Bylaw No. 4561 to modernize the parameters of the McPherson
Playhouse Service was sent to the City of Victoria for council consent. If it receives council
consent, then it would be sent to the Inspector of Municipalities at the Province of BC, and then
to the CRD Board for adoption. The outcome of this amending bylaw is dependent on when the
City of Victoria will consider the matter and the results of that deliberation. The timeline for
receiving the results of this process is unknown at this time.

CONCLUSION

Annual funding of the Royal Theatre through Bylaw No. 2587 and for the McPherson Playhouse
through Bylaw No. 2685 are part of the budget approval process. The Royal and McPherson
Theatres Society has provided audited financial statements, and five-year capital plans for the
Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse to provide more context and rationale for the CRD
contribution levels.

RECOMMENDATION

The Royal and McPherson Theatres Services Advisory Committee recommends the Finance
Committee recommend to the Capital Regional District Board:
1. That the maximum allowable contribution amount of $596,000 be approved for the Royal
Theatre Service; and
2. That the maximum allowable contribution amount of $750,000 be approved for the
McPherson Playhouse Service.
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Submitted by:|Chris Gilpin, MPA, Manager, Arts & Culture

Concurrence: [Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer, GM Finance & IT

Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENTS

Appendix A: 2023 Audited Financial Statements for the Royal & McPherson Theatres Society
Appendix B: 2023 Annual Report for the Royal & McPherson Theatres Society

Appendix C: 2025 Budget for the Royal Theatre Service

Appendix D: 2025 Budget for the McPherson Playhouse Service



Financial Statements of

THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON
THEATRES SOCIETY

And Independent Auditor’'s Report thereon

Year ended December 31, 2023
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KPMG

KPMG LLP

St. Andrew’s Square I
800-730 View Street
Victoria BC V8W 3Y7
Canada

Telephone 250 480 3500
Fax 250 480 3539

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of The Royal and McPherson Theatres Society

Report on the Audit of Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The Royal and McPherson Theatres Society (the
Society), which comprise:

¢ the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023

¢ the statement of operations and changes in fund balances for the year then ended

¢ the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

¢ and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements, present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Society as at December 31, 2023, and its results of operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our Auditor’s report.

We are independent of the Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Society’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Society or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Society’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor’s
report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Society’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’'s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our Auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Societies Act (British Columbia), we report that, in our opinion, the accounting
policies applied in preparing and presenting the financial statements in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards have been applied on a basis consistent with that of the
preceding year.

Lns ¥
bt

Chartered Professional Accountants

Victoria, Canada
April 5, 2024



THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2023, with comparative information for 2022

2023 2022
Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,113,116 $ 2,905,884
Accounts receivable 3,533 3,859
Due from Capital Regional District 88,935 134,301
Inventory 17,449 17,987
Prepaid expenses 61,646 100,959
4,284,679 3,162,990
Investments (note 2) 4,466,829 5,617,691
Capital assets (note 3) 449,161 544,434

$ 9,200,669 $ 9,325,115

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 704,316 $ 317,000
Deferred revenue 6,700 6,700
Deferred ticket sales 3,710,114 4,398,889
4,421,130 4,722,589

Deferred contributions (note 4) 260,798 401,450

Fund balances:
Unrestricted:
McPherson Playhouse Operating Fund - -
Royal Theatre Operating Fund - -
Invested in capital assets - capital asset fund 449,161 544,434

Internally restricted (note 5):
McPherson Playhouse Operating Reserve Fund 112,648 113,140
Royal Theatre Operating Reserve Fund 1,272,323 875,567
McPherson Playhouse Capital Fund 198,244 117,965
Royal Theatre Capital Fund 2,486,365 2,549,970
4,518,741 4,201,076

$ 9,200,669 $ 9,325,115

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

Director ' Director



THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances

Year ended December 31, 2023, with comparative information for 2022

McPherson Playhouse Royal Theatre Capital Combined
Operating Reserve Capital Operating Reserve Capital Asset Total Total
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund 2023 2022

Revenue (Schedule) $ 2,034,930 $ -3 - $ 3,391,666 $ -3 - $ - $ 5426,596 $ 4,133,999
Deferred contributions (note 4) - - 110,658 - - 218,994 - 329,652 174,851
Deferred revenue - - - - - - - - 16,035
Interest income - 5,417 5,000 - 41,894 105,275 - 157,586 55,722

2,034,930 5,417 115,658 3,391,666 41,894 324,269 - 5,913,834 4,380,607
Expenses (Schedule) (1,958,023) - - (2,775,779) - - - (4,733,802) (3,686,474)
Amortization of capital assets - - - - - - (106,277) (106,277) (112,580)
Building and equipment:

Owner (note 4) and externally funded - - (110,658) - - (218,994) - (329,652) (190,886)
Society funded - - (2,035) - - (424,403) - (426,438) (2,866)

(1,958,023) - (112,693) (2,775,779) - (643,397) (106,277) (5,596,169) (3,992,806)
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 76,907 5,417 2,965 615,887 41,894 (319,128) (106,277) 317,665 387,801
Fund balances, beginning of year - 113,140 117,965 - 875,567 2,549,970 544,434 4,201,076 3,813,275
Funding capital improvements - - (5,502) - - (5,502) 11,004 - -
Transfer of user fees to capital funds (note 5) (82,816) - 82,816 (261,025) - 261,025 - - -
Transfer to (from) reserve funds (from) to operating

funds (note 5) 5,909 (5,909) - (354,862) 354,862 - - - -

Fund balances, end of year $ -3 112,648 $ 198,244 $ - $ 1,272,323 $§ 2,486,365 $ 449,161 $ 4,518,741 $ 4,201,076

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2023, with comparative information for 2022

2023 2022
Cash provided by (used in):
Operations:
Excess of revenue over expenses $ 317,665 $ 387,801
Amortization of capital assets 106,277 112,580
Amortization of deferred contributions (329,652) (174,851)
Contributions received 189,000 190,000
Net change in non-cash working capital (note 6) (215,916) 2,268,654
67,374 2,784,184
Investing:
Net change in investments 1,150,862 (1,082,812)
Purchase of capital assets (11,004) (25,239)
1,139,858 (1,108,051)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,207,232 1,676,133
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,905,884 1,229,751
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 4,113,116 $ 2,905,884

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2023

The Royal and McPherson Theatres Society (the “Society”) operates and manages the McPherson
Playhouse on behalf of the City of Victoria (the “owner”) and Royal Theatre on behalf of the Capital
Regional District (the “owner”). The Society was incorporated under the Society Act of British
Columbia on March 3, 1977 and transitioned into the new Societies Act (British Columbia) on
June 28, 2017. The Society is a registered charity under the Income Tax Act and accordingly is
exempt from income taxes, provided certain requirements of the Income Tax Act are met.

1. Significant accounting policies:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Basis of presentation:

The financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
Public Sector Accounting Standards including the standards for government not-for-profit
organizations. The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies used in the
preparation of the financial statements.

Fund accounting:

Revenue and expenses related to operating the McPherson Playhouse are reported in the
McPherson Playhouse Operating Fund. Revenue and expenses related to operating the
Royal Theatre are reported in the Royal Theatre Operating Fund. The Capital Asset Fund
reports the revenue and expenses on capital assets owned by the Society.

The McPherson Playhouse Capital Fund and the Royal Theatre Capital Fund report revenue
and expenses related to capital expenses at the McPherson Playhouse and the Royal
Theatre respectively. Building and other capital costs are not recorded as assets because the
Society is the manager and not the owner of these venues. Fundraising amounts and capital
expenses, relating to these facilities, are recorded as revenue and expenses in these funds.

The McPherson Playhouse Operating Reserve Fund and the Royal Theatre Operating
Reserve Fund report assets held for the purpose of supporting day-to-day operations and
managing risk associated with unforeseen shortfalls or disruption.

Donations are reported in the appropriate fund designated by the donor.
Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with terms to maturity of three
months or less at the date of purchase.

Capital assets:

Purchased capital assets owned by the Society are recorded in the capital fund at cost.
Contributed assets are recorded in the capital fund at estimated fair value at the date of the
contribution. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. Pianos are amortized over 25 years, box office ticketing enterprise system and
website over 10 years, furniture and equipment over 5 years and office leasehold
improvements over 10 years. Building and leasehold improvements, including stage and front
of house equipment, are shown as expenses within the appropriate capital fund and not
capitalized, as the benefit of the asset accrues to the owner.
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THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2023

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued):

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

()

Revenue recognition:

The Society follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted
contributions are deferred and recognized as revenue of the appropriate fund in the year in
which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as
revenue of the appropriate fund when received or receivable if the amount to be received can
be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Revenue from production recoveries, box office, and theatre rentals are recognized once the
event has occurred.

Restricted investment income is recognized as revenue of the appropriate fund in the year in
which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted investment income is recognized in the
appropriate operating fund when earned.

Allocations:

Certain operations of the operating funds are conducted jointly. Revenue and expenses,
which are not directly attributable to either operating fund, are allocated equally between the
funds.

Contributed services:

The Society receives certain benefits from volunteers. Due to the difficulty in determining their
fair value, contributed services are not recognized in the financial statements.

Financial instruments:

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition and are subsequently
recorded at cost or amortized cost unless management has elected to carry the instruments
at fair value. Management has not elected to record any financial instruments at fair value.

Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Items requiring the use of estimates
include amortization of capital assets, valuation of gift certificate liabilities and the
collectability of accounts receivable. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Asset retirement obligations

On January 1, 2022, the Society adopted Canadian public sector accounting standard PS
3280 Asset Retirement Obligations. The new accounting standard addresses the reporting of
legal obligations associated with the retirement of certain tangible capital assets, such as
asbestos removal in retired buildings. The standard was adopted on the modified retroactive
basis at the date of adoption. The adoption of this standard did not have an impact on the
amounts presented in the financial statements.



THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2023

2. Investments:

Investments consist of bankers’ acceptances and term deposits bearing interest at rates varying
between 4.30% and 5.40% and maturity dates varying between 120 days and up to 18 months. It
is the Society’s intention to hold these assets on a long-term basis.

3. Capital assets:

2023

Accumulated Net book

Cost amortization value

Furniture and equipment $ 668,499 $ 635,248 $ 33,251
Box office ticketing enterprise system

and website 967,059 726,181 240,878

Pianos 188,568 134,236 54,332

Office leasehold improvements 241,418 120,718 120,700

$ 2,065,544 $ 1,616,383 $ 449,161

2022

Accumulated Net book

Cost amortization value

Furniture and equipment $ 657,495 $ 604,859 $ 52,636
Box office ticketing enterprise system

and website 967,059 681,973 285,086

Pianos 188,568 126,700 61,868

Office leasehold improvements 241,418 96,574 144,844

$ 2,054,540 $ 1,510,106 $ 544,434

The above tables only reflect those capital assets owned by the Society. Any building and other
capital costs incurred by the Society are recorded as expenses in either the McPherson
Playhouse Capital Fund or Royal Theatre Capital Fund in the year incurred.



THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2023

4. Deferred contributions and revenue:

Deferred contributions, received from the owners and reported in the McPherson Playhouse
Capital Fund and the Royal Theatre Capital Fund, pertain to restricted contributions for each
building.

The changes for the year in the deferred contributions balances reported in the McPherson
Playhouse Capital Fund and the Royal Theatre Capital Fund are as follows:

McPherson Royal
Playhouse Theatre
Capital Fund Capital Fund Total

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 264,852 $ 121,449 $ 386,301
Contributions 88,000 102,000 190,000
Amounts recognized to revenue (128,591) (46,260) (174,851)
Balance, December 31, 2022 224,261 177,189 401,450
Contributions 88,000 101,000 189,000
Amounts recognized to revenue (110,658) (218,994) (329,652)
Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 201,603 $ 59,195 $ 260,798

5. Internally restricted fund balances:

The Society levies a user fee for all patrons attending performances at each theatre. The Board
has internally restricted these resources to be expended subject to certain restrictions. These
funds are transferred from the operating funds to the corresponding capital fund. In 2023, the
Society transferred user fees totaling $82,816 (2022 - $54,854) to the McPherson Playhouse
Capital Fund and $261,025 (2022 - $176,416) to the Royal Theatre Capital Fund respectively.

In 2019, the Society formally established the McPherson Playhouse Operating Reserve Fund and
the Royal Theatre Operating Reserve Fund. The purpose of these Funds is to hold sufficient
reserves to help ensure the operational stability and resilience of the Society. The Board has
internally restricted these funds to be expended subject to certain restrictions. In 2019, the
Society transferred $505,202 from the McPherson Playhouse Operating Fund and $1,131,211
from the Royal Theatre Operating Fund to establish the Reserve Fund balances. In 2023, the
Society transferred $5,909 (2022 - $85,464) from the McPherson Playhouse Reserve Fund to the
McPherson Playhouse Operating Fund and $354,862 (2022 - $301,719) from the Royal Theatre
Operating Fund to the Royal Theatre Reserve Fund.



THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2023

6. Net change in non-cash working capital:

2023 2022
Accounts receivable $ 326 $ 116,712
Due from Capital Regional District 45,366 (2,215)
Inventory 538 (3,413)
Prepaid expenses 39,313 (23,011)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 387,316 (42,398)
Deferred revenue - (16,035)
Deferred ticket sales (688,775) 2,239,014

$ (215916) $ 2,268,654

7. Financial risks and concentration of credit risk:

It is management's opinion that the Society is not exposed to significant interest, currency or
credit risks.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
become due. The Society uses budgets to monitor actual and forecasted cash flows to ensure
operations are within resources available and sufficient cash is generated to sustain operations.
Liquidity risk is mitigated in part by maintaining adequate working capital and sufficient fund
balances. It is management’s opinion that the exposure to liquidity risk has not changed from
2022.

8. Pension plan:

The Society and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (the Plan), a jointly
trusteed pension plan. The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is
responsible for administering the Plan, including investment of the assets and administration of
benefits. The Plan is a multi-employer defined pension plan. Basic pension benefits provided are
based on a formula. As at December 31, 2022, the Plan has about 240,000 active members and
approximately 124,000 retired members. Active members include approximately 35 contributors
from the Society.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan
and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and
member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary's calculated contribution rate is based on
the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer
contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may
be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the
amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.



THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2023

8. Pension plan (continued):

The most recent actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2021 indicated a $3,761 million funding
surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. The next valuation will be as at
December 31, 2024 with the results available in 2025.

Employers participating in the Plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is
because the Plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the Plan in aggregate
resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to the
individual employers participating in the Plan.

The Society paid $149,099 (2022 - $141,216) for employer contributions to the Plan in fiscal
2023.

9. Remuneration paid to directors, employees and contractors:

Under the British Columbia Societies Act, the Society is required to disclose in the annual
financial statements all remuneration paid to directors and the annual remuneration paid to
employees and contractors receiving greater than $75,000.

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023, the Society paid total remuneration of nil (2022 -
nil) to directors. The Society paid $965,867 to 10 employees (2022 - $931,659 to 10 employees)
for services, each of whom received total annual remuneration of $75,000 or greater. No
contractors were paid a total annual remuneration of $75,000 or greater in either 2023 or 2022.

10. Commitments:

The Society is committed to an operating lease agreement for office premises from April 2019 to
March 2024. The Society renewed the lease in January 2024 for a term of two years from April
2024 to March 2026, with an option to renew for a further term of five years. Future minimum
lease payments of the current and renewed lease agreement are as follows:

2024 $ 51,274
2025 52,206
2026 13,052




THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2023

11. Government COVID-19 subsidies

12

The Society received the following subsidies which have been included in

McPherson Playhouse and Royal Theatre Operating funds:

revenue of the

2023 2022
Tourism and Hospitality Recovery Program (THRP)
Wage Subsidy $ - $ 234,612
Tourism and Hospitality Recovery Program (THRP)
Rent Subsidy - 13,682
$ - $ 248,294

Statement of Operations and Fund Balances comparative information:

The comparative information for the McPherson Playhouse and Royal Theatre operating funds is
presented in the Schedule of Operating Fund Revenue and Expenses. The comparative
information for the other funds is as follows:

2022
2022 McPherson Playhouse 2022 Royal Theatre Capital
Reserve Capital Reserve Capital Asset
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund
Revenue:
Deferred contributions
(note 4) $ - $ 128,591 $ - $ 46,260 $ -
Deferred revenue - - - 16,035 -
Interest income 3,485 1,148 10,066 41,023 -
3,485 129,739 10,066 103,318 -
Expenses:
Amortization of capital assets - - - - (112,580)
Building and equipment:
Owner (note 4) and
externally funded - (128,591) - (62,295) -
Society funded - (386) - (2,480) -
- (128,977) - (64,775) (112,580)
Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenses 3,485 762 10,066 38,543 (112,580)
Fund balances, beginning of year 195,119 74,524 563,782 2,348,075 631,775
Funding capital improvements - (12,175) - (13,064) 25,239
Transfer of user fees to
capital funds (note 5) - 54,854 - 176,416 -
Transfer of operating funds to
reserve fund (note 5) (85,464) - 301,719 - -
Fund balances, end of year $ 113,140 $ 117,965 $ 875,567 $ 2,549,970 $ 544,434
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THE ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY

Schedule of Operating Fund Revenue and Expenses

Year ended December 31, 2023, with comparative information for 2022

McPherson Royal McPherson Royal
Playhouse Theatre Playhouse Theatre
Operating Operating Total Operating Operating Total
Fund Fund 2023 Fund Fund 2022
Revenue:
Production recoveries $ 450,954 $ 1,175,550 $ 1,626,504 $ 274,820 $ 832,795 $ 1,107,615
Grants from owners 350,000 100,000 450,000 350,000 100,000 450,000
Box office charges 679,049 679,049 1,358,098 410,190 410,190 820,380
Rental income 173,845 587,229 761,074 109,160 501,945 611,105
User fee charges (note 5) 82,816 261,025 343,841 54,854 176,416 231,270
Concession sales 157,324 447,871 605,195 91,426 353,085 444 511
OnStage revenue 20,096 20,096 40,192 14,360 14,360 28,720
Interest income 63,398 63,398 126,796 23,025 23,025 46,050
Government COVID-19 subsidies (note 11) - - - 124,147 124,147 248,294
Other 57,448 57,448 114,896 73,027 73,027 146,054
2,034,930 3,391,666 5,426,596 1,525,009 2,608,990 4,133,999
Expenses:
Administration:
Salaries, contracts and benefits 616,033 616,033 1,232,066 464,603 464,603 929,206
Office 156,359 156,359 312,718 137,452 137,452 274,904
Professional fees 15,527 15,527 31,054 16,844 16,844 33,688
Conventions, conferences and travel 5,828 5,828 11,656 3,077 3,077 6,154
Administration and management fees 12,948 12,948 25,896 12,810 12,810 25,620
Bad debt expense (recovery) - - - - (330) (330)
Production expenses 417,393 920,371 1,337,764 295,495 678,120 973,615
Box office operations 308,936 308,936 617,872 279,238 279,238 558,476
Building operations 122,704 207,274 329,978 118,751 172,504 291,255
Building maintenance 165,718 251,859 417,577 140,951 166,469 307,420
Concession operations 104,515 244,432 348,947 60,172 169,738 229,910
OnStage expenses 30,792 30,792 61,584 24,860 24,860 49,720
Community services 1,270 5,420 6,690 1,366 5,470 6,836
1,958,023 2,775,779 4,733,802 1,555,619 2,130,855 3,686,474
Excess of revenue over expenses 76,907 615,887 692,794 (30,610) 478,135 447,525
Transfer of user fees to capital funds (note 5) (82,816) (261,025) (343,841) (54,854) (176,416) (231,270)
Change in operating funds before transfer from
operating reserve funds (note 5) $ (5,909) $ 354,862 $ 348,953 $ (85,464) $ 301,719 $ 216,255
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Appendix B

ROYAL & McPHERSON

FY 2023: ANNUAL REPORT

The Royal and McPherson Theatres Society manages the Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse on behalf of the
civic owners and residents of the region, with the goal of nurturing a lively cultural centre for our community and
delivering top-notch theatrical experiences with professional excellence.

VISION STATEMENT MISSION STATEMENT

Our community is enriched by sustainable theatres
that bring people together to share in the wonder
of performance experiences.

We connect artist and audience, and provide professional
stewardship of valued heritage theatres.

ROYAL THEATRE ‘- <
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ROYAL & McPHERSON

BOARD PRESIDENT REPORT

As | complete my term as a director and president of the Royal and McPherson Theatres Society, I'm delighted to report that 2023 was a very successful
year. 2023 was the first full year of uninterrupted operations in our industry since 2019, and one of our most active years in recent memory. The RMTS
employed twenty full-time and 208 casual staff members.

May of 2023 was the busiest month on record. 41,417 tickets were issued to forty-three performances, and 169 employees worked 10,245 hours. We
hosted the largest show run in RMTS history with twenty performances of the hit Broadway musical Come From Away. We also sponsored and hosted a
special gala for Pacific Opera Victoria’s retiring Artistic Director Timothy Vernon.

2023 was also a year of significant planning initiatives. Last spring, board and full-time staff engaged in strategic planning, completing a Strategic
Framework and Tactical Plan. This past fall full-time staff engaged in a Healthy Organization Pulse Check. This work will guide our society for the next
several years. Last spring three staff members achieved a Professional Certificate in Asset Management Planning from the Institute of Public Works
Engineering Australasia. This training lays the groundwork for transitioning to more proactive and long-term asset management planning, and better
alignment with practices of the CRD and the theatres’ municipal owners.

| would like to thank our funders: the Government of Canada through the Canada Arts and Culture Recovery Program for Professional Arts Presentation
Organizations, the City of Victoria, District of Oak Bay, and the District of Saanich. Individuals also supported our community’s performing arts and live
entertainment through donations to our society.

We are also grateful for the sophisticated and professional work of the Capital Regional District staff, whose expertise and diligence support our efforts
in countless ways. Thank you to all the artists, presenters, and audiences who gathered at the theatres to share their enthusiasm and passion for live arts
and entertainment.

On behalf of the Society, | thank Tom Burley who has completed his term on the board, providing sound and sage advice, in his thoughtful, well considered
manner over the last six years. | would also like to thank lan Alexander for his service. | welcome Valla Tinney and Catherine Arber who joined the board
this past year. | am grateful to my fellow board members whose many volunteer hours provide for the responsible governance and long-term
sustainability of the Society and the theatres.

Finally, | would like to express my gratitude to RMTS staff whose effective operations, strong financial stewardship, and loving maintenance of two
cherished historic theatres continue to bring people together to share in the wonder of unforgettable live performances.

The last six years have been a genuine highlight for me professionally and culturally, and | am so grateful for =
having had the opportunity to learn from, and work with, so many talented and dedicated professionals. —_—

Christopher Devlin
Board President
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ROYAL & McPHERSON

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REPORT

2023 was a very active year for our efforts offstage.

In April we began modernizing the CRD bylaws for the two theatres. Civic-owner funding has been frozen for twenty-five years, eroding support for
community access. Following the efforts of senior CRD staff and the support of the RMTS Advisory Committee, two amending bylaws have been
approved by the CRD board. Saanich Council has approved the amending bylaw for the Royal Theatre Service, and we anticipate engaging soon with the
councils of Oak Bay and Victoria to approve these game-changing bylaws.

Last summer at both theatres we installed new HVAC capacity for key electronic equipment, replaced ice machines, and installed touchless faucets.

We upgraded production equipment including stage monitor loudspeakers, stage LED lights, and new microphones. At the Royal Theatre we installed

a sophisticated video projector and completed a large multi-year project to upgrade the audience chamber’s HVAC system for reliable patron comfort.
We also commissioned a firm to inspect, engineer, and oversee the restoration of safe access to the theatres’ roofs. Employees and contractors can once
again access each theatre roof safely.

Last summer | led negotiations with the Victoria Symphony and the University of Victoria’s Farquhar Auditorium. The Victoria Symphony united ticketing
for two venues onto one platform, the Farquhar retained a key client, and the RMTS retained key revenue-generating scheduling flexibility. This
agreement is a testament to what organizations in the performing arts can achieve through mutual-interest collaboration.

This past fall the RMTS engaged in collective bargaining with IATSE local 168. It was challenging to reach an agreement with high inflation pressuring
employees and clients. All persisted, reaching a two-year agreement.

Three years ago | began pursuing the first-ever service agreement between the RMTS and the CRD for the operation of the McPherson Playhouse. This
past December, Christopher Devlin and | signed this new service agreement, and a renewed service agreement for the Royal Theatre. Both agreements
will provide clarity and stability for the next four years.

This year we said goodbye to Front of House Manager Jackie Adamthwaite, External Relations Specialist Ainslee Jessiman, and long-serving Technical
Director Blair Morris. We also welcomed new Front of House Manager Christine Richardson. At the CRD, our long-serving partner in capital projects Andy
Liu has retired, succeeded by Chaz Whipp.

I'd like to thank my many colleagues who regularly go the extra mile. This is the true magic of the RMTS -the many hours of extra behind the scenes work

that provide excellent service in connecting artists and audiences, and providing professional stewardship of

valued heritage theatres. Finally, | am grateful for the steadfast contributions of two departing board

members. Vice President Tom Burley’s ethically-grounded reasoning and carefully-considered insights have 7 Xm :_-;'

served as the board’s keel -moderating outcomes during stormy weather. President Chrisopher Devlin has /Vﬂ? :

tirelessly applied his strategic, tactical and relationship skills to lead the board through countless decisions, -

and to prepare a renewed board to provide sound governance for the Society in the years to come. Franz Lehrbass
Executive Director

UNS 203 2




ROYAL & McPHERSON

WELCOME TO THE THEATRES

The Royal and McPherson Theatres Society respectfully acknowledges that the McPherson Playhouse and the Royal Theatre
are located on the traditional territories of the Lekwungen peoples, now known as the Songhees and Esquimalt Nations.

ROYAL THEATRE ADMINISTRATION OFFICE

THE PEOPLE, THE PLACE, THE EXPERIENCE

For more than four decades, the Royal and McPherson Theatres Society (RMTS) has overseen the theatres on behalf of
the civic owners, benefiting the region’s citizens, visitors, and community. The RMTS manages all theatre operations for
the Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse, including administration, production, box office, front of house, and historic
building maintenance, to support 75 diverse companies that use the theatres each year, from large touring commercial
shows to local arts, cultural, and entertainment groups. In 2023, the RMTS staff served over 187,000 patrons, setting the
stage for an exceptional customer service experience, from ticket purchase through to the final curtain.

The RMTS offers the care and expertise needed to manage and preserve the renowned Royal Theatre and McPherson
Playhouse. Both over a century old, the theatres stand as the primary performing arts venues and significantly enhance
the cultural vibrancy of the community. We take pride in hosting a wide variety of esteemed and cherished performances
on the stages of the Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse.
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OUR TEAM

FULL-TIME STAFF MEMBERS

Jackie Adamthwaite Front of House Manager

Karen Ainey Manager of Information and Digital Technologies
Warren Busby Assistant Technical Director

Derek Cooper Box Office Administrator

Jamila Douhaibi Communication and Administration Specialist
Nancy Downer Finance Manager

Sheelagh Drever Payroll, Human Resources

Tom Heemskerk Assistant Technical Director

Kristen Iversen Assistant Front of House Manager

Ainslee Jessiman External Relations Specialist

Brian Johnson Custodian

Franz Lehrbass Executive Director

Anthony Le May Accountant

Darcy Lipsey Digital Content and Client Settlements
Blair Morris Technical Director

Mandy Niddrie Manager of Client Services
Melissa O'Shea Box Office Manager

Daniel Pedlow Assistant Technical Director
Christine Richardson Front of House Manager
Cameron Stewart Assistant Technical Director
Kathleen Stewart Custodial Supervisor
Vincent Swales Custodian

$1,537,000

$1,206,000 $2,293,000 $2,634,000




ROYAL & McPHERSON

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The RMTS is governed by a volunteer Board of Directors consisting of three Municipal Councillors, three to seven Elected
Directors and three to five CRD Appointed Directors. The Board works to maintain, preserve, and further develop the
Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse by providing governance and management of the organization’s resources.

2023 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Christopher Devlin, President David Bouchard Jenny McLeod
Tom Burley, Vice President Councillor Hazel Braithwaite Marilyn Palmer

Marcus Handman Treasurer Councillor Matt Dell Councillor Teale Phelps-Bondaroff
lan Alexander, Secretary Marley Gibbons Sarah Reid

Heather Burns, Member at Large lain Hooey Judy Scott

Catherine Arber Nathan Lampard Valla Tinney

DID YOU KNOW?

e The Royal & McPherson Theatres Society, previously known as the McPherson Foundation, has been the steward of
the Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse on behalf of their civic owners and the citizens of the region for over 46 years.

® During regular operations, the Society facilitates the use of approximately 75 groups per year and over 187,000
patrons annually.

® We are in the business of bringing people together at the historic Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse. These
venues have served the community for over 100 years, providing a home for the Capital Region to gather and
experience unforgettable local and touring arts and entertainment.
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

THE MONTH OF MAY BREAKS RECORDS!

In May 2023, the staff of the RMTS accomplished the
management of the most extensive show run in the
theatres history, which included two tech days and 20
performances of the Broadway show Come From Away
at the Royal Theatre.

This record-breaking Broadway run, in addition to

numerous other shows at the Royal Theatre and

McPherson Playhouse, made May 2023 the busiest

month on record. A total of 41,417 tickets were issued

for 43 performances. To support this achievement, 169 | -

employees collectively worked 10,245 hours, averaging . e :

330 hours per day during the month of May. CFA STAGE SET-UP CFA AUDIENCES CFA FINAL PERFORMACE

HIGHLIGHTS OFF THE STAGES

The COVID-19 pandemic did not impact performances and operations during the year, making it the first full year of
uninterrupted operations in our industry since 2019.

Union negotiations during the year for the RMTS/IATSE collective agreement (completed in January 2024).

Completed a Strategic Framework and Tactical Plan with board members and full-time staff.

Completed a Healthy Organization Pulse Check with full-time staff.

The RMTS continues to grow its capacity to maintain and renew the civic assets of the Royal Theatre and the McPherson
Playhouse. Through the Institute of Public Works Engineering Australasia, three RMTS staff members earned the
Professional Certificate in Asset Management Planning.
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ROYAL & McPHERSON

ROYAL THEATRE

Since 1913, the Royal Theatre, with its elegant 1416-seat capacity, has been
a prominent feature of the Capital Region’s skyline, serving as the largest
and most prestigious venue for performing arts on Vancouver Island.
Retaining its original Rococo/Renaissance Revival style decor, the theatre
seamlessly blends 19th-century architecture with 21st-century

technology. This unique fusion allows for a wide range of artistic and
entertainment events, from Broadway tours to drag shows, dance
performances to comedy acts, opera to jazz concerts, and symphony
orchestras to rock shows.

The Royal Theatre attained national historic significance in 1987 and was
formally recognized as a National Historic Site of Canada on May 12, 1988.
In 1990, the Historic Sites and Monuments Board of Canada presented the
Royal Theatre with a commemorative plaque.
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ROYAL THEATRE

Total Box Office Ticket Sales $1,614,912 $826,586 $4,824,722 $8,575,495
Total Tickets Issued 20,160 22,029 96,293 142,106
Total Ticketed Performances 27 19 12 131




ROYAL & McPHERSON

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

ROYAL THEATRE: 131 PERFORMANCES

299 Queen St West Film, Amadeus, Amanda Marshall, An Evening with Chris Botti, Andy Shauf, BADBADNOTGOOD, Ballet Edmonton, Being Robert
Schumann Spring, BodyTraffic, Boney M, Bonnie Raitt, Bruce Cockburn, Burton Cummings, Canada’s Best Karate, Chris de Burgh, Come From Away,
Cosi fan tutte, Current Swell, Dance Theatre of Harlem, Daniel Lapp’s 20th Anniversary, Danny Bhoy, Dansko Studios, Dara O Briain, Die Walkdire, Dirty
Dancing in Concert, Filipe DeAndrade, Gerry Dee, Gibney Company, Half Moon Run, Harry Potter & Literary Thrill, It’s Just Drag, Jason Isbell, Jens
Lindemann-Christmas Pops, Jinkx Monsoon, Joe Gatto, Jon and Roy Holiday Special, July Talk, Jurassic Park in Concert, Just for Laughs Comedy Tour,
Ken Lavigne, Kluxen & Kahane, Kluxen-Pictures at Exhibition, Lewis Black, Malpaso Dance Company, Maureen Beck, Menopause the Musical 2,
Movies and the Masters, Nat King Cole Songbook, New Year’s Day Celebration, Nurse Blake, O Christmas Tea, Ocie Elliott, Peter Pan, PIGS: Canada’s
Pink Floyd, Protégé Dance Project, Queen-It's A Kinda of Magic, Raffi, Ryan Adams, Salvation Army Toy Drive, Shostakovich Symphony No 9, Sin City
Illusions, Snarky Puppy, Snowed In Comedy Tour, Star Trek, Star Wars & Beyond, The Beaches, The Birds, The Doo Wop Project, The Gift of the
Nutcracker, The Sheepdogs, The Tenors, Tina Simply the Best, Ukrainian Shumka Nutcracker.

AMANDA MARSHALL KEN LAVIGNE CHRISTMAS OCIE ELLIOTT BRUCE COCKBURN
PHOTO: VICTORIA MUSIC SCENE PHOTO: VICTORIA SYMPHONY PHOTO: MACKENZIE DUNCAN PHOTO: ROB PORTER, RMS MEDIA

THE SHEEPDOGS ~ PHOTO: BALLET VICTORIA THE BEACHES ! SVAflaNARMY TOY DRIVE
PHOTO: RMS MEDIA PHOTO: VICTORIA MUSIC SCENE PHOTO: NADEN BAND
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ROYAL & McPHERSON
GROSS PROFIT PER DAY USED

$22,000
$20,000
$18,000
$16,000
$14,000
$12,000
$10,000
$8,000
$6,000
$4,000
$2,000
S-
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GROSS PROFIT PER DAY USED
ROYAL THEATRE
2023
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ROYAL & McPHERSON

ROYAL THEATRE:
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PERCENTAGE & NUMBER OF TICKETS
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ROYAL & McPHERSON

ROYAL ONSTAGE PRESENTS

NATIONAL GEOGRAPHIC LIVE AT THE ROYAL THEATRE

Our Royal OnStage National Geographic Live speaker series showcased top explorers renowned for their captivating
storytelling, visually striking imagery, and engaging videos that have captivated audiences of all generations since 2017.

This exclusive series provided a close and personal encounter, sharing tales of conservation, exploration, and adventure with
explorers, photographers, filmmakers, and scientists. In 2023, this inspirational series included two fascinating presentations.

MAUREEN BECK SR - FILIPE DEANDRADE
Improbable Ascent ey Lo . Untamed

Raised in poverty and surrounded
by addiction and abuse, Filmmaker
Filipe DeAndrade felt voiceless.

He related to animals, because
they too were voiceless, and he
fell in love with photography as a
way to tell their stories. Now the
star of Nat Geo’s digital series
Untamed works to save the ani-
mals that saved him. DeAndrade
one of her early adaptive climbing spoke about finding your passion
innovations even involved taping a in life and living it with intent. '
metal ladle to her arm. Before long she was leading a crew of passionate Along the way, he brought us face to face with lions, sharks, snakes,
adaptive climbers around the world, forging a path for a new generation. jaguars, jumping spiders, whales, and one of the rarest animals in the
world —a hawk moth caterpillar that resembles a venomous snake.

Maureen Beck loves to prove
people wrong. Born with one hand,
she tried rock climbing for the
first time after a camp counselor
told her she could skip it. Her love
of the sport was instantaneous,
but there was no guide for
climbing with one hand. Unfazed,
she decided to figure it out for
herself through trial and error —

THANK YOU TO OUR NATIONAL GEOGRAPHIC LIVE 2023 SEASON SPONSORS

J— v B C3 e b oo
(GFAX 1070) @ DOUBLE TR a M {ig\z}g%nent TIMES i COLONIST 1072
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[\ | RRLrE

Total Box Office Ticket Sales

Total Tickets Issued

Total Ticketed Performances

MCPHERSON PLAYHOUSE

$167,016

5,414

n

$186,984

4,882

$1,092,288

30,959

63

$1,822,299

45,844

87

12




ROYAL & McPHERSON

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

MCPHERSON PLAYHOUSE: 87 PERFORMANCES

Abba Revisited, ABRA Cadabra, Alan Carr, April Wine Live!, Australian Bee Gees Show, Brett Kissel, Carmanah, Completely Creedence, Dance Unlimited
Recital, Darcy & Jer, Dean Brody, Disney Descendants, Elevate Dance Centre, Frozen in Time, Glass Tiger, Herb Alpert, Holly Jolly Christmas, Hotel
California, Investors Group, Jeremy Dutcher, Joanne McNally, Joseph and the Amazing Technicolor Dreamcoat, Laila Biali, Led Zepagain, Legends in
Victoria, Matt Andersen, Michael Kaeshammer, Molly Johnson, Noah Reid, Out Innerspace, Passion and Performance, Postmodern Jukebox, Prince Again,
School of Rock, SMUS Fiddler on the Roof, Sona Jobarteh, Stevie and Friends, Take it to the Limit, The Addams Family, The Comic Strippers, The Country
Divas, The Irish Rovers, The Manhattan Transfer, The Rocket Man, The Spongebob Musical, The Wizard of Oz, Timothy Vernon Concert, Tom Cochrane,
Victoria Academy of Ballet, Walk Right Back, Walter Trout, Yellowpoint Christmas Spectacular.

WIZARD OF 0z
PHOTO: VOS MUSICAL THEATRE

PHOTO: YELLOWPOINT CHRISTMAS JOSEPH & THE AMAZING TECHNICOLOR DREAMCOAT YEAR END RECITAL
SPECTACULAR PHOTO: CANADIAN COLLEGE OF PERFORMING ARTS PHOTO: VICTORIA ACADEMY OF BALLET

13
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ROYAL & McPHERSON
GROSS PROFIT PER DAY USED

MCPHERSON PLAYHOUSE:

$22,000
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MCPHERSON PLAYHOUSE:

ATTENDANCE BY MUNICIPALITY

PERCENTAGE & NUMBER OF TICKETS
MCPHERSON PLAYHOUSE
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ROYAL & McPHERSON

STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK
VISION

Our community is enriched by sustainable
theatres that bring people together to
share in the wonder of performance

experience.

STRATEGIC PLANNING

MISSION

GOAL 2
STRONG COMMUNITY

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 3:
We must proactively
strengthen relationships to
achieve mutual goals in the
cultural life of our community.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 4:
We must engage with partners
to further reconciliation,
inclusion and accessibility.

Throughout 2023, the full-time staff and the Board of Directors actively engaged in the process
of formulating a Strategic Framework and Tactical Plan.

We connect artists and audiences, and
provide professional stewardship of
values heritage theatres.

GOAL 3
EFFECTIVE FUNDING

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 5:
We must develop a more
sustainable, adaptable,
diversified funding model.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 6:
We must work with partners
to build a more compelling
case for support.

VALUES

The People.
The Place.
The Experience.

GOAL 4
FLOURISHING VENUES

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 7:
We must strive to maintain and
improve our heritage buildings
to meet evolving needs, being
conscious of environmental
sustainability.

STRATEGIC PRIORITY 8:
We must take the lead in
planning and implementing
major capital projects, and
seeking all resources to fund
them.




ROYAL & McPHERSON

TECHNOLOGY HIGHLIGHTS

A YEAR OF PLANNING FUTURE TECHNOLOGY UPGRADES

The Box Office and Technology departments are gearing up for a major upgrade to Tessitura, which is the software used
to manage ticketing, fundraising, customer relationship management and marketing. This will be the largest update the
software has seen in a decade and offers a wealth of new features, enhancements, and improvements to the user
experience, including:

*Digital First Development Focus *Infrastructure Improvements *Modernized User Interface *Accessibility

SUCCESSFULLY MANAGING CUSTOMER EXPECTATIONS THROUGH COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY

Through our RMTS OnStage E-News, subscribers get a monthly event listing for shows at the

D Royal Theatre, McPherson Playhouse, and other venues in town. Our 18,000+ subscribers also

enjoy exclusive presale access and special promotions, keeping them engaged with Victoria’s arts
and entertainment scene!

Through our social media platforms, we keep our followers informed about show announcements,

— ticket availability, and seat releases. Our social media team crafts engaging posts such as Fun
Facts, Tech Tuesdays, Throwback Thursdays, ticket giveaways, blog features, and a variety of other
a content to ensure continuous interaction with our audience.

Social media campaigns kick off as shows go on sale through our Box Office, drawing in
enthusiastic audiences who quickly buy tickets. We leverage our high-volume sales technology to

l% promptly respond and facilitate fair ticket purchasing opportunities for all buyers. Moreover, our
B | BUY) virtual waiting room helps us keep waiting customers informed with live updates, managing their
g % expectations effectively. This service is highly valued by customers, as waiting for hours only to

reach a sold-out event can be frustrating for our eager audiences.

UNS 203 17



ROYAL & McPHERSON

CAPITAL PROJECTS

ROYAL THEATRE: MCPHERSON PLAYHOUSE:

® Completed HVAC replacement for the audience chamber. ® Replaced stage monitoring speaker system.
Replaced stage monitoring speaker system. e Heat pump installed for temperature control of equipment
New 4K projector with assorted lenses for scenic projection and racks.
presentations. ® Replaced stage lighting fixtures with LED and added
Purchased an assortment of new versatile microphones. additional stage moving light fixtures.
Replaced stage lighting fixtures with LED and added additional ® Added touchless faucets.
moving light fixtures.

In 2023, a complete replacement of the
stage monitor speaker systems at the
] I T Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse
were completed. The existing equipment
had been in service for over 20 years, far
surpassing it’s expected lifespan.

-
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Extensive demos were conducted by
multiple manufacturers with the contract
ultimately being awarded to d&b
audiotechik of Germany. Over several
months the system was installed and
commissioned by our Assistant Technical
Director, Head of Audio. The theatres now
benefit from state-of-the-art equipment
that will last for decades to come.
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ROYAL & McPHERSON

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Throughout the year, the Royal and McPherson Theatres Society strives to find opportunities to collaborate
with local organizations and give back to the community that so graciously supports us.

GALLERY AT THE MAC

The Gallery at the Mac once again filled the mezzanine lobby with
creativity, showcasing the talents of local visual artists, while delighting
audiences who attended performances at the McPherson Playhouse.
Exhibits in 2023 included Shawnigan Lake School, St. Michaels University
School, and in partnership with the Victoria Arts Council, Salish Weave
Collection. Salish Weave is a large private collection of contemporary
Coast Salish art that weaves together the distinctive art form, designs,
and style of established and emerging artists.

e RMTS COMMUNITY OPPORTUNITIES PROGRAM

The Community Opportunities Program gives local non-profit and charitable organizations the opportunity to use the
theatres for fundraising efforts. The RMTS supports their efforts by providing use of the theatres, rent free. In 2023,
the theatres welcomed Pacific Opera Victoria’s Timothy Vernon Celebration and the Salvation Army with the Naden
Band of the Royal Canadian Navy for their annual holiday toy drive.




ROYAL & McPHERSON

LOCAL PRESENTERS

Proudly supporting local organizations, the Royal and McPherson Theatres Society facilitates and prioritizes the use
of the Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse for the following non-profit groups. Please use the logo links below
to learn more about each of these organizations and how they enrich the cultural life of the community.

6,ﬂmm Victoria @%‘: @ ‘ ﬁ C 2/%/2127

CENROAY Community Living

PERFORNING VICTORIA SUN-L-I-M-I-T-E-D -
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https://www.communitylivingvictoria.ca/
https://pacificopera.ca/
https://salvationarmy.ca/
https://www.bvconservatory.org/
https://www.ccpacanada.com/
https://www.balletvictoria.ca/
https://www.danceunlimited.ca/
https://www.danskostudios.com/
https://www.passionandperformance.com/
https://protegedanceproject.com/
https://victoriaacademyofballet.ca/
https://www.shawnigan.ca/
https://veselkadancers.com/
https://jazzvictoria.ca/
https://vostheatre.ca/
https://victoriasymphony.ca/
https://www.wonderheads.com/
https://dancevictoria.com/
https://www.smus.ca/
https://www.elevatedancecentre.ca/
https://intrepidtheatre.com/
https://vcm.bc.ca/

ROYAL & McPHERSON

THANK YOU FOR THE SUPPORT

The symbiotic relationship among theatres, clients, performers, and audiences underscores the significance of
supporting local theatres, thereby nurturing the interconnected network of arts, culture, and entertainment within
the community. The RMTS expresses gratitude for the unwavering support extended by the community in 2023,
enabling us to take care of these cherished heritage theatres for future generations.

WE GRATEFULLY ACKNOWLEDGE THE CONTINUED SUPPORT FROM OUR MUNICIPAL FUNDING PARTNERS

The Royal Theatre receives a $100,000 operating grant contributed by Oak Bay, Saanich and Victoria.
The McPherson Playhouse receives a $350,000 operating grant from the City of Victoria.

RECOVERY FUNDING INDIVIDUAL DONORS TICKET SPONSOR

Canad'é' Thank you to the individual donors
for all your support as we recovered T 3 (GFAX 1070)
and rebuilt from the devastating @.V 107

Thank you to the Government impacts of the pandemic. Every
of Canada, Department of dollar donated ensured the day-to- Thank you to our Exclusive Television

Canadian Heritage, for an day operations and maintenance of and Radio Media Sponsors, Bell
operation grant in the amount of these loved local theatres Media through CTV Vancouver
$50,000 and administered through continued, enabling a vibrant future Island, CFAX 1070 and 107.3 Virgin
the Arts and Cultural Recovery of enriching experiences and Radio for all their support of live
Program for Professional Arts lasting memories at the theatres events in our community.

Presentation Organizations. for generations to come.

The Royal and McPherson Theatres Society extends a thank you to the City of Victoria

THANK YOU: for providing a permissive tax exemption for the McPherson Playhouse.
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ROYAL & McPHERSON

ROYAL & MCPHERSON THEATRES SOCIETY
2023 ANNUAL REPORT

McPHERSON PLAYHOUSE ADMINISTRATION OFFICE ROYAL THEATRE
3 Centennial Square #302-1005 Broad Street 805 Broughton Street
Victoria, BC V8W 1P5 Victoria, BC V8W 2A1 Victoria, BC V8W 1E5

250.361.0800
Box Office: 250.386.6121

www.rmts.bc.ca

LET'S GET SOCIAL!
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http://www.rmts.bc.ca
https://www.facebook.com/TheRoyalMcPhersonTheatres
https://www.instagram.com/royalmcphersontheatres/?hl=en

Appendix C

CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT

2025 BUDGET

Royal Theatre

ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRE
SERVICE COMMISSION REVIEW

October 2024



Service: 1.290 Royal Theatre Committee: Finance

DEFINITION:
The function of purchasing, maintaining, equipping, operating and selling the Royal Theatre in Victoria to the Capital Regional District. The
function is for the purpose of pleasure, recreation and community use and includes all facilities and concessions associated with the Royal
Theatre and a parking lot. Local Services Establishment Bylaw No. 2587, March 25, 1998.

SERVICE DESCRIPTION:
This is a service to provide funding for the support of the Royal Theatre in the City of Victoria as a community centre of art and education.
Ownership was transferred to the CRD in 1998. The service operates under an agreement with the Royal and McPherson Theatres Society
Board who manage the theatre in return for financial support.

PARTICIPATION:

City of Victoria, District of Saanich, and District of Oak Bay, apportioned 50% on converted value of land and improvements and 50% on the
basis of population (see bylaw for details).

MAXIMUM LEVY:

Greater of $580,000 or $0.00590 per $1000 of net taxable value of land and improvements.

Note: Grants in Lieu of Taxes paid to the Regional District will be held to the credit of the participant.
MAXIMUM CAPITAL DEBT:

NIL
COMMISSION:

Royal and McPherson Theatre Society reporting to a sub-committee of the Finance Committee.

FUNDING:




BUDGET REQUEST

FUTURE PROJECTIONS

ROYAL THEATRE 2024 2024 2025 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
BOARD ESTIMATED CORE ONGOING ONE-TIME TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL
BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET
OPERATING COSTS:
Third Party Payment 37,535 37,535 37,096 37,096 37,521 37,529 37,070 35,989
Insurance Costs 44,300 44,300 50,490 50,490 55,539 61,092 67,201 73,922
Standard Overhead Allocation 17,565 17,565 17,814 17,814 18,340 18,779 19,229 19,689
Arts Manager Allocation - - - 0 - - - -
Operating Cost - Other (Interest) 600 600 600 600 600 600 600 600
TOTAL OPERATING COSTS 100,000 100,000 106,000 106,000 112,000 118,000 124,100 130,200
*Percentage Increase 0.00% 6.00% 6.00% 5.66% 5.36% 517% 4.92%
CAPITAL / RESERVE
Capital Equipment Purchase 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 105,000 109,000 109,000 113,000
Transfer to Capital Reserve Fund 375,000 375,000 385,000 385,000 385,000 381,000 381,000 377,000
TOTAL CAPITAL COSTS 480,000 480,000 490,000 490,000 490,000 490,000 490,000 490,000
TOTAL COSTS 580,000 580,000 596,000 596,000 602,000 608,000 614,100 620,200
0.00% 2.76% 2.76% 1.01% 1.00% 1.00% 0.99%
FUNDING SOURCES (REVENUE)
Estimated balance C/F from current to Next year
Balance C/F from Prior to Current year
Revenue - Other - -
TOTAL REVENUE - - - - - - - -
REQUISITION (580,000) (580,000) (596,000) (596,000) (602,000) (608,000) (614,100) (620,200)




CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT
FIVE YEAR CAPITAL EXPENDITURE PLAN SUMMARY - 2025 to 2029

Service No. 1.290 Carry
Royal Theatre Forward 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 TOTAL
from 2024

EXPENDITURE

Buildings $112,000 $1,058,000 $1,043,000 $0 $0 $0 $2,101,000

Equipment $0 $345,000 $55,000 $0 $16,500 $0 $416,500

Land $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Engineered Structures $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Vehicles $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
$112,000 $1,403,000 $1,098,000 $0 $16,500 $0 $2,517,500

SOURCE OF FUNDS

Capital Funds on Hand $112,000 $112,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $112,000

Debenture Debt (New Debt Only) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Equipment Replacement Fund $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Grants (Federal, Provincial) $0 $0 $380,000 $0 $0 $0 $380,000

Donations / Third Party Funding $0 $375,000 $380,000 $0 $0 $0 $755,000

Reserve Fund $0 $916,000 $338,000 $0 $16,500 $0 $1,270,500
$112,000 $1,403,000 $1,098,000 $0 $16,500 $0 $2,517,500




CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT

5 YEAR CAPITAL PLAN

2025 -

2029

Service #:

Service Name:

1.290

Royal Theatre

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

PROJECT BUDGET & SCHEDULE

Capital
Project b Total Project Funding Carryforward
Expenditure Capital Project Title Capltal Project Description Asset Class 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 5 - Year Total
Number Budget Source from 2024
Type
20-03 New Add Balcony & Pit Railings |Add railings to ensure patron safety and comfort 75,000(|B Res 75,000 $ 75,000
2112 Renewal Repair Building Envelope Repairing building envelope of the 1914 structure. 2,293,000(B Res 375,000 93,000 $ 468,000
Renewal Repair Building Envelope Repairing building envelope of the 1914 structure. B Other 375,000 $ 375,000
21-13 Renewal Plan, Rebuild and Expand Orchestra Pit Plan, Rebuild and expand orchestra Pit to allow increased physical distancing of musicians and performers 115,000(B Cap 112,000 112,000 $ 112,000
24-01 Repour and refinish concret.e main floor and Repour and refinish concrete main floor and replacement of seats and aisle lights 700,000|B Other > 280,000 $ 280,000
of seats and aisle lights
24-01 Replacement Repour and refinish concretg mgln floor and Repour and refinish concrete main floor and replacement of seats and aisle lights. B Grant b 280,000 $ 280,000
replacement of seats and aisle lights
24-01 Repour and refinish concret.e main floor and Repour and refinish concrete main floor and replacement of seats and aisle lights. B Res — 140,000 $ 140,000
of seats and aisle lights
24-04 Renewal Wardrobe Department Upgrade Upgrade wardrobe department 83,000|B Res $ -
—
24-05 Restore Stage Surface Deep restoration and refinish of stage surface 59,000(B Res 59,000 $ 59,000
—
25-01 Replacement |Replace Seats and Aisle Lights in balcony Replace 20 year old seats in balcony 250,000|B Other 100,000 $ 100,000
—
25-01 Replacement |Replace Seats and Aisle Lights in Balcony Replace 20 year old seats in balcony. B Grant 100,000 $ 100,000
—
25-01 Replacement |Replace Seats and Aisle Lights in Balcony Replace 20 year old seats in balcony. B Res 50,000 $ 50,000
25-02 Replacement |Replace APs and UPS Replace wireless access points and back up batteries 15,000(E Res 15,000 $ 15,000
25-03 F Replace Lighting Fixtures Replace lighting fixtures with new supported system with energy efficient LED technology 135,000|E Res 135,000 $ 135,000
25-04 Replacement  [Replace Security Camera System Replace aging security camera system 32,000|E Res 32,000 $ 32,000
25-05 Replacement |Replace Main Electrical Panel Replace 22 year old water damaged main electrical panel 130,000(E Res 130,000 $ 130,000
25-06 Renewal Add new storage in bar and concession Add new storage in bar and concession for efficiency and security of inventory 12,000(B Res 12,000 $ 12,000
25-07 Replacement E:rpr:;ﬁl:eGreen Room and Dressing Room Replace chairs purchased in 2002 and reupholster modular couches 33,000|E Res 33,000 $ 33,000
25-08 Defer Emergency Repairs Unforeseen emergency repairs. 50,000(B Res 50,000 $ 50,000
26-01 Replacement |Replace Switches Replace network switches 55,000|E Res 55,000 $ 55,000
28-01 Replacement |Replace SRST Replace Cisco phone communications system 16,500 (E Res 16,500 $ 16,500
S N
S B
S B
Grand Total 4,053,500 $ 1,403,000 $ 1,098,000 16,500 $ 2,517,500




Service: 1.290 Royal Theatre

Add railings to ensure patron safety and

Project Number 20-03 Capital Project Title Add Balcony & Pit Railings Capital Project Description ' .

Project Rationale The addition of railings will ensure patron safety and comfort while moving to and from seats in the balcony area of the theatre.

Project Number 21-12 Capital Project Title Repair Building Envelope Capital Project Description S‘:'E?:It::f Euidinsiepicloncleiinellts
Project Rationale Flagged as immediate priority in Royal Theatre — Building Envelope Assessment Report prepared for the CRD Dec. 8, 2020 by Stantec Architecture Ltd. Repairing building envelope will ensure
the 1914 structure will remain stable and will reduce energy consumption

Plan, Rebuild and expand orchestra Pit to
Project Number 21-13 Capital Project Title Plan, Rebuild and Expand Orchestra Pit Capital Project Description allow increased physical distancing of
musicians and performers

Project Rationale Plan, rebuild and expand orchestra pit to align with professional standards of performing arts organizations.

Repour and refinish concrete main floor
and replacement of seats and aisle lights

Repour and refinish concrete main floor and

Project Number 24-01 Capital Project Title S
replacement of seats and aisle lights

Capital Project Description

Project Rationale Repouring and refinishing concrete main floor for improved safety, hygiene and cleaning protocols. Replacing the seats and lights for patrons comfort and safety. New seating will improve
cleaning protocols. Current seats reaching end of useful life.

Project Number 24-04 Capital Project Title Wardrobe Department Upgrade Capital Project Description Upgrade wardrobe department

Project Rationale Upgrade wardrobe department with electrical upgrade, extensive plumbing upgrades, dropped ceiling and drywall to accommodate two more stacked washers and dryers in order to meet clients'
requirements.

Project Number 24-05 Capital Project Title Restore Stage Surface Capital Project Description Deep restoration and refinish of stage surface

Project Rationale Deep restoration and refinish of stage surface to return to fixed level.

Project Number 25-01 Capital Project Title Replace Seats and Aisle Lights in balcony Capital Project Description Replace 20 year old seats in balcony

Project Rationale Replacing the seats and lights for patrons comfort and safety. New seating will improve cleaning protocols. Current seats are reaching end of useful life.




Service: 1.290 Royal Theatre

Replace wireless access points and back up

Project Number 25-02 Capital Project Title Replace APs and UPS Capital Project Description -

Project Rationale Replace APs and UPS to update the network infrastructure as required by CRD Information Technology replacement plan.

Replace lighting fixtures with new supported

Project Number 25-03 Capital Project Title Replace Automated Lighting Fixtures Capital Project Description i it ey e D ey

Project Rationale Original fixtures have not been supported by the manufacturer for over 7 years and parts are no longer available. New fixtures will have energy efficient LED technology and purchased as a system will ensure
consistent build quality, internal parts and firmware.

Project Number 25-04 Capital Project Title Replace Security Camera System Capital Project Description Replace aging security camera system

Project Rationale Current security camera system legacy equipment is not supported by current security monitoring company. Purchase of new CRD supplied cameras and supporting hardware provides longevity and support for
safety and security at the theatre.

Replace 22 year old water damaged main

Project Number 25-05 Capital Project Title Replace Main Electrical Panel Capital Project Description K
electrical panel

Project Rationale Main electrical panel has been damaged by water and is no longer reliable.

Add new storage in bar and concession for

Project Number 25-06 Capital Project Title Add new storage in bar and concession Capital Project Description __ . i .
efficiency and security of inventory

Project Rationale Adding new lockable storage cabinet in the bar and concession will improve efficiency and security of inventory.

Replace Green Room and Dressing Room
Furniture

Replace chairs purchased in 2002 and

Project Number 25-07 Capital Project Titl,
roject Number apital Froject Title reupholster modular couches

Capital Project Description

Project Rationale Replacing chairs purchased in 2002 and reupholstering modular couches in dressing rooms and green for improved artist comfort and service.

Project Number 25-08 Capital Project Title Emergency Repairs Capital Project Description Unforeseen emergency repairs.

Project Rationale Capital funds to accommodate any emergency repairs to the building.




Service: 1.290 Royal Theatre

Project Number 26-01 Capital Project Title Replace Switches

Project Rationale Replace switches in the network infrastructure as required by CRD Information Technology replacement plan.

Capital Project Description Replace network switches

Project Number 28-01 Capital Project Title Replace SRST

Project Rationale Replace Cisco phone communications as required by CRD Information Technology replacement plan.

Capital Project Description Replace Cisco phone communications system




1.290 Royal Theatre
Asset and Reserve Summary
2025 - 2029 Financial Plan

Asset Profile

Royal Theatre

Assets held by the Royal Theatre service consist of land, Royal Theatre built in 1913 as well as various equipment. Royal Theatre was renovated in 2003 and 2005.

Capital Reserve Fund Schedule

Reserve Fund: 1.290 Royal Theatre Capital Reserve Fund (Bylaw No. 2855)

Cost Centre: 101607 (PLO)

Capital Reserve Fund Est Actual Budget

Projected year end balance 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Beginning Balance 1,235,072 1,153,072 682,072 729,072 1,110,072 1,474,572
Planned Capital Expenditure (Based on Capital Plan) (517,000) (916,000) (338,000) - (16,500) -
Transfer from Operating Budget 375,000 385,000 385,000 381,000 381,000 377,000
Interest Income** 60,000 60,000

Total projected year end balance 1,153,072 682,072 729,072 1,110,072 1,474,572 1,851,572

** Interest should be included in determining the estimated ending balance for the current year. Interest in planning years nets against inflation which is not included.




Appendix D

CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT

2025 BUDGET

McPherson Theatre

ROYAL AND MCPHERSON THEATRE
SERVICES ADVISORY COMMITTEE REVIEW

October 2024



Service: 1.295 McPherson Theatre Committee: Finance

DEFINITION:

A local service established for the purpose of purchasing, maintaining, equipping and operating the McPherson Playhouse in Victoria,
British Columbia. Local Services Establishment Bylaw No. 2685, March 10, 1999.

SERVICE DESCRIPTION:
This is a service to provide funding for the support of the McPherson Theatre in the City of Victoria. The service operates under
an agreement with the Royal and McPherson Theatres Society Board who manage the theatre in return for financial support.
This building operation was transferred to the CRD for ease of administration with the Royal & McPherson Theatres Society and

to recognize the benefits of one organization operating the two theatres (one ticket system, ability to move acts between if
financially beneficial, etc.)

PARTICIPATION:
The City of Victoria is the only participant.
MAXIMUM LEVY:
The maximum amount that may be requisitioned under section 816(1) of the Municipal Act (Section 803 of the Local Government Act) for
the annual cost of the local service will be:
(a) for capital expenditures including but not limited to, the renovation, reconstruction or rebuilding of a performing arts theatre, machinery
and equipment, reserve fund transfer and annual debt servicing payments. The maximum amount will be $400,000.
(b) for annual operating expenditures which may also include expenditures of a nature referred to in (a) above, the maximum amount will
be $350,000.
MAXIMUM CAPITAL DEBT:
None
COMMISSION:

Royal and McPherson Theatre Society reporting to a sub-committee of the Finance Committee.

FUNDING:




BUDGET REQUEST

FUTURE PROJECTIONS

McPHERSON THEATRE 2024 2024 2025 2025 2025 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
BOARD ESTIMATED CORE ONGOING ONE-TIME TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL
BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET
OPERATING COSTS:

Third Party Payments 306,282 306,282 306,081 - - 306,081 304,808 303,856 302,882 301,888

Standard Overhead Allocation 34,959 34,959 34,911 - - 34,911 35,958 36,677 37,411 38,159

Arts Manager Allocation 7,565 7,565 7,814 - - 7,814 8,040 8,273 8,513 8,759

Interest Charge 300 300 300 - - 300 300 300 300 300
TOTAL OPERATING COSTS 349,106 349,106 349,106 - - 349,106 349,106 349,106 349,106 349,106
*Percentage Increase 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
CAPITAL / RESERVE

Capital Equipment Purchases 90,000 90,000 90,000 - - 90,000 90,000 94,000 94,000 98,000

Transfer to Reserve Fund 346,233 346,233 346,233 - - 346,233 346,233 342,233 342,233 338,233
TOTAL CAPITAL / RESERVES 436,233 436,233 436,233 - - 436,233 436,233 436,233 436,233 436,233
TOTAL COSTS 785,339 785,339 785,339 - - 785,339 785,339 785,339 785,339 785,339
FUNDING SOURCES (REVENUE)

Estimated balance C/F from current to Next year - - - -

Balance C/F from Prior to Current year - -

Grants In Lieu of Taxes (35,339) (35,339) (35,339) - - (35,339) (35,339) (35,339) (35,339) (35,339)
TOTAL REVENUE (35,339) (35,339) (35,339) - - (35,339) (35,339) (35,339) (35,339) (35,339)
REQUISITION (750,000) (750,000) (750,000) - - (750,000) (750,000) (750,000) (750,000) (750,000)
*Percentage increase over prior year requisition 0.0% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%




FIVE YEAR CAPITAL EXPENDITURE PLAN SUMMARY - 2025 to 2029

CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT

Service No. 1.295 Carry
McPherson Theatre Forward 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 TOTAL
from 2024
EXPENDITURE
Buildings $0 $554,000 $238,000 $190,000 $0 $0 $982,000
Equipment $0 $122,000 $44,000 $0 $16,500 $0 $182,500
Land $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Engineered Structures $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Vehicles $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
$0 $676,000 $282,000 $190,000 $16,500 $0 $1,164,500
SOURCE OF FUNDS
Capital Funds on Hand $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Debenture Debt (New Debt Only) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Equipment Replacement Fund $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Grants (Federal, Provincial) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Donations / Third Party Funding $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Reserve Fund $0 $676,000 $282,000 $190,000 $16,500 $0 $1,164,500
$0 $676,000 $282,000 $190,000 $16,500 $0 $1,164,500




CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT
5 YEAR CAPITAL PLAN

2025 - 2029
Service #: 1.295
Service Name: McPherson Theatre
PROJECT DESCRIPTION PROJECT BUDGET & SCHEDULE
Capital
Project Funding Carryforward
Expenditure Capital Project Title Capital Project Description Total Project Budget | Asset Class 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 5 - Year Total
Number Source from 2024
Type
21-13 Renewal Repair Building Envelope and Restore Fagade |Repair building envelope and restore fagade $ 1,163,000B Res $ 300,000 | $ 238,000 | $ 190,000 $ 728,000
22-06 Renewal Recoating of Fibreglass Fagade Recoating of fibreglass fagade $ 26,0008 Res $ -
22-07 Renewal Repair Stand-alone canopies Repair stand-alone canopies $ 5,000B Res $ -
24-02 Replacement |Replace Architectural Detail Lighting Replace tungsten and quartz architectural lights with LED technology $ 20,0008 Res $ -
24-05 Replacement |Remove Concrete Canopies Remove concrete canopies $ 40,0008 Res $ -
25-01 Replacement [Replace APs and UPS Replace wireless access points and back up batteries $ 15,004E Res $ 15,000 $ 15,000
25-02 Replacement  (Replace Outdoor Digital Sign Replace outdoor digital sign with new hardware and new LED panels $ 81,00QE Res $ 81,000 $ 81,000
25.03 Replacement |Balcony Lighting Pipes and LED Fixtures Upgrade "Lgﬁ‘r:::;:\;::\wny lighting positions including fall protection to meet safety and seismic regulations and automated| s 204,0008 Res s 204,000 s 204,000
25-04 Replacement |Replace Security Camera System Replace aging security camera system $ 26,00 Res $ 26,000 $ 26,000
25-05 Defer Emergency Repairs For Unforeseen Emergency Repairs $ 50,0008 Res $ 50,000 $ 50,000
26-01 Replacement (Replace Switches Replace network switches $ 44,00QE Res $ 44,000 $ 44,000
28-01 Replacement [Replace SRST Replace Cisco phone communications system $ 16,504E Res $ 16,500 $ 16,500
B N
B N
B N
Grand Total $ 1,690,501 $ 676,000 $ 282,000 $ 190,000 $ 16,500 $ 1,164,500|




Service: 1.295 McPherson Theatre

Repair Building Envelope and Restore

Project Number 21-13 Capital Project Titl
roject Number apital Projec IeFagade

Capital Project Description Repair building envelope and restore fagade

Project Rationale Flagged as immediate priority in McPherson Playhouse — Building Envelope Assessment Report prepared for the CRD Dec. 8, 2020 by Stantec Architecture Ltd. Repairing building envelope will
ensure the 1913 structure will remain stable and will reduce energy consumption. Restoring the 1913 facade will include point work on the bricks, gutter replacement and refinishing the fiberglass
stonework around the historic wooden doors.

Project Number 22-06 Capital Project Title Recoating of Fibreglass Fagade Capital Project Description Recoating of fibreglass fagade

Project Rationale Flagged as immediate priority in McPherson Playhouse — Building Envelope Assessment Report prepared for the CRD Dec. 8, 2020 by Stantec Architecture Ltd. Recoating the fibreglass fagade
will reduce shredding and breaking down.

Project Number 22-07 Capital Project Title Repair Stand-alone canopies Capital Project Description Repair stand-alone canopies

Project Rationale As indicated in the 2022 McPherson Playhouse Detailed Seismic Assessment by Stantec Consulting Ltd., develop plan to remove concrete roof slabs and replace with a lightweight steel
structure which will reduce seismic weight of the canopies by 80%.

Replace tungst d i hitectural

Project Number 24-02 Capital Project Title Replace Architectural Detail Lighting Capital Project Description Ii::t:f:it:rl]i;iZCahnno?;gj zarchitectura

Project Rationale Replace tungsten and quartz architectural lights with LED fixtures for reduced heat load, reduced electrical consumption and brighter, higher quality of light for patron comfort and safety in the
audience chamber

Project Number 24-05 Capital Project Title Remove Concrete Canopies Capital Project Description Remove concrete canopies

Project Rationale As indicated in the 2022 McPherson Playhouse Detailed Seismic Assessment by Stantec Consulting Ltd., the current concrete canopies are deficient under current seismic loads and will
become a safety risk. In preparation of replacing with a lightweight steel structure, the concrete roof slabs must be removed.

Replace wireless access points and back up

Project Number 25-01 Capital Project Title Replace APs and UPS Capital Project Description . .

Project Rationale Replace APs and UPS to update the network infrastructure as required by CRD Information Technology replacement plan.

. . . ) L . . . ... Replace outdoor digital sign with new

P t Number 25-02 Capital Pi t Title Repl Outd Digital Si Capital Pi 't D t

roject Number apital Project Title Replace Outdoor Digital Sign apital Project Description | -~ W LED B

Project Rationale The current sign is degrading and the LED modules and connectivity through the network controller are failing. The new LED panels have a much longer lifespan. A new sign will provide information on upcoming
events.




Service: 1.295 McPherson Theatre

Upgrade the balcony lighting positions
including fall protection to meet safety and
seismic regulations and automated lighting
fixtures

Balcony Lighting Pipes and LED Fixtures

Project Number 25-03 Capital Project Title Upgrade

Capital Project Description

Project Rationale Upgrade the balcony hanging lighting positions including engineered fall protection to meet safety and seismic regulations and replace lighting fixtures with energy efficient automated fixtures so the fixtures can
be accessed remotely.

Project Number 25-04 Capital Project Title Replace Security Camera System Capital Project Description Replace aging security camera system

Project Rationale Current security camera system legacy equipment is not supported by current security monitoring company. Purchase of new CRD supplied cameras and supporting hardware provides longevity and support for
safety and security at the theatre.

Project Number 25-05 Capital Project Title Emergency Repairs Capital Project Description For Unforeseen Emergency Repairs

Project Rationale Capital funds to accommodate any emergency repairs to the building.

Project Number 26-01 Capital Project Title Replace Switches Capital Project Description Replace network switches

Project Rationale Replace switches in the network infrastructure as required by CRD Information Technology replacement plan.

Project Number 28-01 Capital Project Title Replace SRST Capital Project Description Replace Cisco phone communications system

Project Rationale Replace Cisco phone communications as required by CRD Information Technology replacement plan.




1.295 McPherson Theatre
Asset and Reserve Summary
2025 - 2029 Financial Plan

Asset Profile
McPherson Theatre

Assets held by the McPherson Theatre service consist of new upgrades to McPherson Theatre built in 1914 as well as various equipment.

Capital Reserve Fund Schedule

Reserve Fund: 1.295 McPherson Playhouse Capital Reserve Fund (Bylaw No. 3270)

Cost Centre: 101899 (PLO)

Capital Reserve Fund Est Actual Budget

Projected year end balance 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Beginning Balance 2,583,224 2,712,633 2,482,866 2,547,099 2,699,332 3,025,065
Planned Capital Expenditure (Based on Capital Plan) (332,000) (676,000) (282,000) (190,000) (16,500) -
Transfer from Operating Budget 346,233 346,233 346,233 342,233 342,233 338,233
Interest Income* 115,176 100,000

Total projected year end balance 2,712,633 2,482,866 2,547,099 2,699,332 3,025,065 3,363,298

* Interest should be included in determining the estimated ending balance for the current year. Interest in planning years nets against inflation which is not included.
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Making a difference...together

REPORT TO HOSPITALS AND HOUSING COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 6, 2024

SUBJECT Provincial Rental Protection Fund Overview and Analysis

ISSUE SUMMARY

This report provides an overview of the Rental Protection Fund.

BACKGROUND

On September 11, 2024, the Board approved the following Motion with Notice:

“That staff report back to the Hospitals and Housing Committee about options and
opportunities with respect to the province’s Rental Protection Fund.”

In January 2023, the Province of British Columbia announced the creation of a $500 million (M)
Rental Protection Fund (RPF) aimed at protecting tenants and preserving existing rental housing.
The RPF provides one-time capital grants to non-profit housing organizations to purchase existing
residential rental buildings and ownership co-operatives listed for sale. The RPF aims to protect
individuals and families living in unsubsidized housing with below-market rents. These units are
often in older buildings or apartments that have lower rents due to location, age, or length of
tenure. The program is designed to ensure the long-term availability of these affordable units.

The RPF’s objective is to help keep people in their homes by stemming the net loss of affordable
rental housing. The RPF aims to safeguard affordable rental homes for the long term, eliminating
the need for ongoing operating subsidies while ensuring long-term stability for tenants. By
securing existing below-market rental housing, the RPF helps address the needs of low- to
moderate-income households, reduces pressure on the limited rental market, and protects
existing affordable housing.

The following types of organizations can access the RPF:

o Non-profit societies incorporated under the BC Societies Act

e Housing cooperatives incorporated under the BC Cooperative Associations Act

e Indigenous housing providers operating as non-profits

o Charitable organizations incorporated under the Canadian Not-for-Profit Corporations Act

The RFP application process consists of three stages:

e Stage 1 — Applicant Pre-Qualification: This stage ensures that applicants meet specific
financial and operational criteria, including capacity, experience, and mission alignment.
The evaluation assesses the organization’s readiness to acquire, own, and operate
additional affordable housing. Pre-qualification is required before advancing.

e Stage 2 — Property Pre-Qualification: Applicants must submit an inquiry to the RPF
providing high-level property details to confirm alignment with the Fund’s Eligible
Properties Criteria. This step must be completed before proceeding to the detailed due
diligence and underwriting required for the Stage 3 Acquisition Proposal.
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Hospitals and Housing Committee — November 6, 2024
Provincial Rental Protection Fund Overview and Analysis 2

e Stage 3 — Acquisition Proposal: To submit a complete proposal, applicants must have
conducted thorough due diligence. Contributions from the Fund must be combined with
long-term mortgage financing secured by the applicant. Therefore, applicants must
advance their underwriting significantly and obtain a commitment from their preferred
lender before submitting at this stage.

As of October 2024, the RPF has announced the acquisition of three buildings, totaling 81 units,
in the capital region:

e 860 Carrie Street in Esquimalt: A 16-unit apartment building acquired by Lu'ma Native
Housing Society.

e 430 Michigan Street and 1500 Chambers Street in Victoria: Two apartment buildings, with
a combined total of 68 units, acquired by the Greater Victoria Housing Society.

As the Capital Region Housing Corporation (CRHC) is a non-profit housing provider incorporated
under the Business Corporations Act, which is not included in the list of eligible applicants, staff
have engaged the RPF and are awaiting confirmation that the CRHC is eligible. In the meantime,
housing staff have submitted a combined CRD and CRHC Stage 1 application for pre-qualified
status under the RPF. Achieving pre-qualified status will enable the CRD and CRHC to seek and
acquire properties that meet the RPF’s eligibility criteria in a more effective and timely manner.

IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

CRD staff estimate the approximate cost of the necessary due diligence for acquiring an individual
property could exceed $150 thousand (k), with additional consultant support for coordinating
activities potentially adding another $25k to $50k.

I's important to note that prior to receiving acquisition approval through the RPF, the CRD or
CRHC would need to secure funds to place a deposit on the property. This deposit may be
unrecoverable if the RPF does not approve the final application. For example, when the CRHC
purchased the Hockley House property in 2021 for approximately $31M, the deposit was $500K.
Similarly, deposits for properties under the RPF could reach into the hundreds of thousands of
dollars, exceeding the costs typically associated with due diligence.

The RPF requires applicants to maintain the asset for a minimum of 20 years and keep rents at
affordable levels. This requirement can pose potentially significant risks for applicants, particularly
depending on the level of deferred maintenance and types of buildings involved. For example, in
a townhome context, a high number of building envelopes relative to a small number of homes
may strain the ability of the asset to cash flow debt obligations, cover administrative costs, and
fulfill maintenance requirements over the 20-year timeframe as required by the RPF. Additionally,
while purchasers may redevelop a property with approval from the RPF, such redevelopment
must result in an increase in affordable rental units.

The CRHC Five Year Major Capital Expenditure Plan which was approved by the CRHC Board
in December 2023, does not include any resource allocation to support costs associated with
undertaking due diligence work that is outside of those projects contained within the Plan. For
reference, the 2024-2028 Plan contained a total of 804 homes in construction or pre-construction
and an additional 717 homes that were to be included in new grant funding applications. The
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Hospitals and Housing Committee — November 6, 2024
Provincial Rental Protection Fund Overview and Analysis 3

CRHC also successfully secured funding commitments for 593 of the 717 home applications
submitted. The CRHC does not have sufficient operational reserves currently to place additional
funds at-risk by undertaking unplanned due diligence work or to place deposits on prospective
properties.

Service Delivery Implications

The RPF is eligible for the acquisition of buildings, not individual units, and is specifically designed
for self-contained units, rather than single-room occupancy (SRO) units. The fund supports the
acquisition of existing, occupied properties, rather than new developments, and targets those at
risk of redevelopment or significant rent increases. Properties must contain a minimum of five
units (four in rural and remote municipalities) and primarily consist of residential space, with
commercial use not permitted to exceed 25% of the total floor space.

Eligible properties should be freehold and of a scale and geography that is operationally efficient
and aligned with the applicant organization’s capacity. Properties must not currently be owned by
a government entity (federal, provincial, or municipal) and should not be bound by Operating
Agreements or reliant on Operating Subsidies/Agreements once acquired.

Additionally, to be eligible under the RPF, eligible properties should have a significant number of
units attainable to middle-income British Columbians. Properties that have experienced high
turnover in recent years may indicate that significant rent increases have already occurred, which
could impact the eligibility of an acquisition.

Applicants to the RPF are expected to secure long-term, first-mortgage financing for acquisition
and/or renovation costs. Acquisitions should align with the applicant’s current portfolio and
experience - demonstrating project management and operational capabilities with similar
properties. Additionally, operational, and administrative expenses should reflect reasonable
operating expense ratios, considering the size, age, condition, and operational history of the
buildings.

In terms of the minimum necessary due diligence work for Stage 3, the following would likely be
required:

¢ Independent Appraisal e A Tenant & Turnover Strategy

¢ Building Condition Assessment ¢ Asset management plan

e Letter of intent from lender e Proforma and cashflow analysis
o Affordability Strategy

In addition to these documents, the CRD or CRHC would likely also require:

o Remote Access to Archaeological e Site Survey
Data (RAAD) Report e Water Assessment
e Geotech Report e Title Search
e Environmental Assessment Phases 1 e First Nation Engagement

and 2
Applications to the RPF entail a range of service delivery implications and operational

requirements that must be addressed as part of the due diligence process. This work involves
considerable costs and will require substantial staff resources.

PPS/RH 2024-12
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CONCLUSION

The launch of the $500M RPF presents an opportunity for eligible housing entities to enhance
their ability to protect existing homes with below-market rent levels. As of November 2024, a total
of 84 homes in the capital region have been protected through three separate acquisitions
undertaken by two societies. From the CRD and CRHC’s perspective, advancing efforts to
undertake the necessary due diligence on prospective acquisitions would require substantial
resources and would impact available staff resources that are currently supporting the delivery of
the CRHC’s Major Capital Plan.

RECOMMENDATION

There is no recommendation. This report is for information only.

Submitted by: |Don Elliott, BA, MUP, Senior Manager, Regional Housing

Concurrence: |Kevin Lorette, P. Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services
Concurrence: |Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer, GM Finance & IT
Concurrence: |Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

PPS/RH 2024-12
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REPORT TO THE JUAN DE FUCA LAND USE COMMITTEE
MEETING OF TUESDAY, OCTOBER 15, 2024

SUBJECT Development Permit with Frontage Exemption for Lot 1, District Lot 17,
Renfrew District, Plan VIP57304 — 17176 Osprey Place

ISSUE SUMMARY

An application has been made for a Riparian Development Permit with a request for an exemption
from the statutory requirement that the minimum frontage on the highway must be 10% of the
perimeter of the lot, pursuant to Section 512 of the Local Government Act (LGA), for the purpose
of creating a three-lot subdivision.

BACKGROUND

The 2.46 hectare (ha) subject property is located at 17176 Osprey Place in Port Renfrew
(Appendix A). The parcel is zoned Tourism Commercial-One (TC-1) under the Comprehensive
Community Plan for Port Renfrew, Bylaw No. 3109. The lot is within the Port Renfrew Fire
Protection Local Service Area and is serviced by the CRD’s Port Renfrew Water Service Area
and onsite septic. The applicant has submitted an application for a three-lot fee simple subdivision
(SU000724) (Appendix B). The TC-1 zone regulations specify a minimum parcel size of 0.4 ha if
each parcel can be connected to either a community water or sewer system. The parcels as
proposed, meet the minimum lot requirement.

There is currently a single-family dwelling and several accessory buildings located on the
property. The survey shows a driveway access that roughly bisects the parcel from Osprey Place
to the accessory buildings located near the easternmost boundary of the lot (Appendix B); the
driveway access has since been extended through the panhandle to the Parkinson Road frontage.

The property is partly designated as a Riparian and a Sensitive Ecosystem Development Permit
Area (DPA) by the Comprehensive Community Plan for Port Renfrew, Bylaw No. 3109. A
development permit is required as part of the subdivision process. Proposed Lot 3 is a panhandle
configuration and does not meet the statutory requirement specified by Section 512 of the LGA
that one-tenth of the perimeter of a lot fronts on a public highway. The owner has requested an
exemption to reduce the frontage requirement for Lot 3 from 59.97 m (10% of the lot perimeter)
to 16.3 m (2.7% of the lot perimeter). Development Permit with Frontage Exemption DV000075
is included as Appendix C for consideration.

ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1

The Land Use Committee recommends to the CRD Board:

That Development Permit with Frontage Exemption DVV000075, for Lot 1, District Lot 17, Renfrew
District, Plan VIP57304, to authorize a three-lot subdivision and to reduce the statutory frontage
requirement for proposed Lot 3 from 59.97 m (10% of the lot perimeter) to 16.3 m (2.7% of the lot
perimeter), be approved.

Alternative 2
That Development Permit with Variance DVO00075 be denied.

DV000075
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IMPLICATIONS

Legislative Implications

The Comprehensive Community Plan for Port Renfrew, Bylaw No. 3109, designates development
permit areas (DPAs) and outlines development permit guidelines. The property is located within
the Riparian and Sensitive Ecosystem DPA and a development permit is required prior to
subdivision or alteration of land. CRD Delegation of Development Permit Approval Authority
Bylaw No. 3462, gives the General Manager, Planning and Protective Services, the authority to
issue a development permit; however, the delegated authority does not include development
permits that require a variance, as stated in Section 5(a) of the bylaw.

Section 512 of the LGA outlines requirements for minimum parcel frontage on a highway. If a
parcel being created by a subdivision fronts on a highway, the minimum frontage on the highway
must be the greater of 10% of the perimeter of the lot or the minimum frontage that the local
government bylaws provide. The Port Renfrew Comprehensive Community Development Plan,
Bylaw No. 3109, does not specify a minimum frontage requirement. Therefore, the requirement
specified by Section 512 applies. A local government may exempt a parcel from the statutory or
bylaw minimum frontage provided for in Section 512(1). Proposed Lot 3 does not meet the
requirement; therefore, a frontage exemption is required.

Public Consultation Implications

There is no statutory public notification requirement for requests for local governments to grant
frontage exemptions pursuant to Section 512 of the LGA. Capital Regional District Bylaw
No. 3885, Juan de Fuca Development Fees and Procedures Bylaw, does not include public
notification requirements for adjacent property owners for frontage exemptions; however, Bylaw
No. 3885 specifies that the CRD Board may request referral to any persons, organizations and
authorities that may be affected by an application. The frontage exemption request will be
included on the Land Use Committee agenda, which will be posted on the CRD website. Any
comments received from the public will be presented at the October 15, 2024, Land Use
Committee meeting. There are no requirements for public consultation if a local government is
considering a development permit.

Land Use Implications

Development Permit:

A Riparian Assessment Report was submitted by Jessica Harvey, R.P.Bio., and Julie Budgen
R.P.Bio, of Corvidae Environmental Consulting, dated December 8, 2020. The Report addressed
the Riparian Areas Protection Regulations (RAPR) and Riparian DP guidelines (Appendix D) for
the proposed subdivision. The Report identified two unnamed streams and a roadside ditch, which
is considered a stream under the RAPR. The watercourses drain roughly from south to north
towards the western boundary of the parcel, into a culvert under Powder Main Road and
eventually into Snuggery Cove. The Riparian Assessment Area (RAA) is comprised of mature,
second growth forest and the watercourse is considered fish bearing. The Report established a
Streamside Protection and Enhancement Area (SPEA) of 10 m for each watercourse. The
Sensitive Ecosystem designation for this parcel is directly overlapped by the Riparian designation.

The Report confirmed that the driveway and all structures are outside of the SPEA, that no further
development is proposed within the RAA, and advised that any future works within the RAA would
require additional assessment. The proposal is not anticipated to affect stormwater flow or
drainage, and the report stated that there are no floodplain concerns at this site. The Report was
approved by the Province on January 29, 2021. A copy of the Report is appended to the draft
permit. The recent extension of the access driveway from the eastern portion of the parcel through
the panhandle to Parkinson Road is located outside of the designated Riparian Development
Permit Area. As such, it is not required to be assessed.
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Frontage:
Section 512 (1)(a) of the LGA specifies that the minimum frontage on the highway must be greater

than 10% of the perimeter of a lot that fronts on a highway. Proposed Lots 1 and 2 meet this
requirement; however, Lot 3, which requires 59.97 m of frontage, is proposed to have only 16.3 m
(2.7% of the lot perimeter) in a panhandle configuration fronting onto Parkinson Road. The
applicant has requested a frontage exemption to allow the proposed lot layout.

The Port Renfrew Comprehensive Community Development Plan does not outline any criteria for
considering frontage requirements or panhandle lots; however, the future subdivision potential
should be considered since there is no minimum lot size specified for the TC-1 zone when the
parcel is connected to both community water and community sewer systems. The panhandle will
not impact the future subdivision of proposed Lots 1 and 2, since both have adequate frontage
on Osprey Place. Should proposed Lot 3 be subdivided in the future to create more than one
additional parcel, the panhandle would likely need to serve as a common access as part of a
bareland strata. Staff do not anticipate that the proposed frontage reduction will adversely impact
adjacent properties since the panhandle configuration and driveway access currently exist as part
of the parent parcel, and the proposed lot boundaries along the panhandle allow for the separation
of private yards from the driveway. Therefore, staff recommend approval of development permit
with frontage exemption DVO00075.

CONCLUSION

The applicant has requested a Riparian Development Permit and an exemption from the statutory
requirement that 10% of the perimeter of a lot front onto a public highway for a 3-lot subdivision
on Parkinson Road in Port Renfrew. If the Land Use Committee and Regional Board concur, the
frontage requirement of proposed Lot 3 would be reduced from 59.97 m (10% of the lot perimeter)
to 16.3 m (2.7% of the lot perimeter). If the Permit is approved by the Board, the Corporate Officer
will issue the Permit and register a Notice of Permit on Title.

RECOMMENDATION

The Land Use Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That Development Permit with Frontage Exemption DVO00075, for Lot 1, District Lot 17, Renfrew
District, Plan VIP57304, to authorize a three-lot subdivision and to reduce the statutory frontage
requirement for proposed Lot 3 from 59.97 m (10% of the lot perimeter) to 16.3 m (2.7% of the lot
perimeter), be approved.

Submitted by: | lain Lawrence, MCIP, RPP, Senior Manager, JdF Local Area Services

Concurrence: | Kevin Lorette, P.Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services

Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENTS

Appendix A: Subject Property Map
Appendix B: Plan of Proposed Subdivision
Appendix C: Permit DV0O00075

Appendix D: Development Permit Guidelines




Report to the LUC — October 15, 2024

DV000075

Appendix A: Subject Property Map
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Appendix B: Plan of Proposed Subdivision

PROPOSED SUBDIVISION PLAN OF LOT 1, DISTRICT LOT 17,
RENFREW DISTRICT, PLAN VIP57304.
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Appendix C: Permit DVO00076
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CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT WITH FRONTAGE EXEMPTION NO. DV000075

This Development Permit with Frontage Exemption is issued under the authority of Sections 490 and
512 ofthe Local Government Act and subject to compliance with all of the bylaws of the Regional District
applicable thereto, except as specifically varied or supplemented by this Permit.

This Development Permit with Frontage Exemption applies to and only to those lands within the
Regional District described below (legal description), and any and all buildings, structures, and other
development thereon:

PID: 018-467-822;
Legal Description: Lot 1, District Lot 17, Renfrew District, Plan VIP57304 (the “Land”)

This development permit with frontage exemption to reduce the statutory frontage requirement for
proposed Lot 3 from 59.97 m (10% of the lot perimeter) to 16.3 m (2.7% of the lot perimeter), authorizes
a three-lot subdivision (the “development”) on the Land, located within the development permit areas
established under the Comprehensive Community Plan for Port Renfrew, Bylaw No. 3109, Section 6.5
(Riparian), and 6.6 (Sensitive Ecosystems), in accordance with the plans submitted to the CRD and
subject to the conditions set out in this Permit.

The conditions under which the development referred to in section 3 may be carried out are as follows:
a) Thatthe components ofthe development occur as identified on the Subdivision Plan, prepared
by Summit Land Surveying, dated December 3, 2020; and
b) That the development comply with the report prepared by Jessica Harvey, R.P.Bio., and Julie
Budgen R.P.Bio, of Corvidae Environmental Consulting, dated December 8, 2020 (the
“Riparian Assessment Report”).

Notice of this Permit shall be filed in the Land Title Office at Victoria as required by Section 503 of the
Local Government Act, and the terms of this Permit (DV000075) or any amendment hereto shall be
binding upon all persons who acquire an interest in the land affected by this Permit.

If the holder of a permit does not substantially start any construction permitted by this Permit within 2
years of the date it is issued, the permit lapses.

The land described herein shall be developed strictly in accordance with the terms and conditions and
provisions of this Permit, and any plans and specifications attached to this Permit which shall form a
part hereof.

The following plans and specifications are attached to and form part of this Permit:

Appendix 1: Subdivision Plan
Appendix 2: Riparian Assessment Report

9. This Permitis NOT a Building Permit.

RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE BOARD, THE day of , 2024.

ISSUED this day of , 2024

Corporate Officer
Kristen Morley
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Appendix D: Riparian Development Permit Guidelines

Development or alteration of land will be planned to avoid intrusion into and minimize the impact on the
Riparian DPA.

Modification of channels, banks or shores must not result in harmful alteration, disruption or destruction
of natural features, functions and conditions that support fish life processes within

. the Riparian DPA. Any proposed modification of channels, banks or shores first requires the submission

of a Notification or Approval under the BC Water Sustainability Act.

. The removal of gravel and soil from streams is prohibited unless an approval under the BC Water

Sustainability Act is obtained.

Proposed plans of subdivision will avoid stream crossings where possible and demonstrate the presence
of building areas outside of the SPEA.

Stream crossings will be avoided, but where this is not possible, bridges are preferred rather than
culverts, and any works will be sited to minimize disturbance to banks, channels, shores and vegetative
cover, and submission of a Notification under the BC Water Sustainability Act is required.

. Culverts may be designed to encourage in-stream storage of water to allow the unrestricted passage of

fish in both directions at all life stages.

. Construction at a certain time of year and using methods that minimize the impacts on rare and sensitive

species may be required.
To minimize encroachments into the Riparian DPA, variances for the height and location of buildings
and structures may be considered.

. As a condition of the issuance of a development permit, compliance with any or all conditions

recommended in a report by a QEP, prepared in accordance with the RAR, will be considered by the
CRD and may be included in a development permit, including submission of a post-development report
prepared by a QEP, as required by the RAR.

Development permits may include requirements for environmental monitoring and when required, these
monitoring reports must be prepared by a QEP.

All of the measures specified by a QEP necessary to maintain the integrity of a SPEA will be considered
by the CRD for inclusion as a condition in a development permit.

. Development permits will not be issued until the CRD has been notified by the Riparian Areas Regulation

Notification System (RARNS) that the Province has received a riparian areas assessment report.

. Where a QEP has required the planting of native vegetation to reduce the risk of erosion, restore the

natural state of the site, improve water quality, or stabilize slopes and banks, a landscaping plan of the
re-vegetation may be required.

. In situations where a SPEA would reduce the density of development permitted by the zoning bylaw, a

QEP is required to provide recommendations on how the permitted density of development could be
accommodated with the least possible impact on fish habit.
An applicant may be required to provide an explanatory plan of a SPEA.

. For all or part of land within a SPEA that has been identified by a QEP, property owners may wish to

consider dedicating the land back to the Crown, gifting the land to a nature conservation organization or
registering a conservation covenant.

. All new developments or modifications to existing developments including site works, gardening,

landscaping and other related residential activities should be designed and implemented to maintain the
quantity and quality of water and to avoid the entry of pollutants or nutrient rich water flowing into streams
and wetlands.

Development will be designed to avoid any increase in the volume and peak flow of runoff and a drainage
plan and temporary silt mitigation measures may be required in support of this guideline.

Plantings of native vegetation may be required to reduce the risk of erosion, restore the natural state of
the site, improve water quality, or stabilize slopes and banks.

. Where necessary or desirable, a buffer zone to remain free of development may be specified and

protection measures for retention and management of vegetation in these areas may be established.
The boundary of the SPEA shall be permanently marked or fenced to avoid encroachment prior to,
during and after construction.
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REPORT TO PERFORMING ARTS FACILITIES SELECT COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 6, 2024

SUBJECT Options for Full Regional and Sub-Regional Performing Arts Facilities
Services

ISSUE SUMMARY

The Performing Arts Facilities Select Committee has directed staff to generate options for new
services, in both full regional and sub-regional models, that could increase support for existing
and potential new performing arts facilities with regional impact.

BACKGROUND

On September 4", 2024, PAFSC passed a motion:

That staff develop options for regional and sub-regional services that would scale up support for
existing and potential additional performing arts facilities with regional impact, including options to
ensure value for all participating jurisdictions.

Staff are outlining five options for new CRD services that would scale up support for performing
arts facilities with regional impact (details on service design in Appendix A).

One option is the Full Regional Performing Arts Facilities Service as developed in 2021, which
is feasible and fully designed. The other four options include a new service delivery feature, the
Theatre Rental Grants program, that would allow schools and arts groups in participating
jurisdictions to have greater access to CRD regional theatres through rental subsidies.

The next step would be to engage an external consultant to compare these five options and
evaluate each one in terms of its costs, benefits, sustainability, alignment to community needs,
and value proposition for each participating jurisdiction and for the region as a whole.

Conversely, PAFSC could direct staff to develop one of the five options with a detailed costing by
jurisdiction and a full service plan. Staff would bring back a comprehensive report on that chosen
option, which could then be recommended by PAFSC to the CRD Board.

ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1
The Performing Arts Facilities Select Committee recommends to the CRD Board:

1. That staff initiate an RFP to engage a consultant for the purposes of undertaking a cost-
benefit analysis of the five proposed service options, in terms of their sustainability and
direct value proposition to each participating jurisdiction and to the region as a whole.

2. That the resulting report from this analysis be presented to the CRD Performing Arts
Facilities Select Committee in the first half of 2025 with recommendations on next steps.

Alternative 2

That staff develop Option X (one of the five options) with a draft bylaw, service plan and cost for
each participating jurisdiction, reporting back to the Performing Arts Facilities Select Committee
with a recommendation to advance that option for consideration by the CRD Board.
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Alternative 3
That this report be referred back to staff for additional information.

IMPLICATIONS

Alignment with Board and Corporate Priorities

In the current CRD Corporate Plan (2023-2026), initiative 10b-2 states the CRD will “Scale up
regional support for performing arts facilities within the region.” This could be achieved by new
sub-regional or full regional service options or by increased investment in existing services that
support performing arts facilities with regional impact.

Financial Implications

Estimates for the proposed new service options are included in Appendix B. These estimates are
based on current funding models for existing facilities in Budget 2025, financial statements from
the Saanich Peninsula Memorial Park Society (aka Mary Winspear Centre, which includes the
Charlie White Theatre) from 2023, and the financial model for the Major Capital Fund and
Planning Grants from the 2021 proposed Full Regional Performing Arts Facilities Service.

The estimates for the Theatre Rental Grant program are based on subsidizing 50-75% of the full
cost of renting the three regional theatres for local educational and non-profit arts groups with the
aim of significantly increasing the usage rate at both facilities.

All new service options include 1.0 FTE in additional staffing. This new position would be
dedicated to two areas: external grant-writing and support to the Theatre Rental Grant program.
Staff would pursue funding opportunities through provincial and federal grant programs for major
infrastructure support in collaboration with local governments and/or non-profit clients. The CRD
could access substantially more external funding for regional theatres, especially capital projects,
by having additional staffing resources focused on identifying and pursuing these opportunities.
In addition, this staff member would support applicants, the adjudication process, and evaluation
of outcomes for the Theatre Rental Grant program.

On October 30", 2024, Initiative Business Case 10b-2.1 was approved as part of the provisional
budget. This allocated $132,000 to a Feasibility Fund to support the work of the PAFSC as part
of Budget 2025. Up to $50,000 of this fund were estimated as necessary to support the work of a
consultant for research, analysis, and/or consultation and production of a report.

Service Delivery Implications

Parallel to the work of the PAFSC, the CRD has continued to advance amending bylaws that
would scale up support on an incremental basis for existing services that support the service
delivery of performing arts facilities with regional impact.

On September 11, 2024, the CRD Board adopted amending Bylaw No. 4560 to modernize the
Royal Theatre Service. This amending bylaw came from a 2023 recommendation from the Royal
and McPherson Theatres Services Advisory Committee. The adoption of Bylaw No. 4560 will
allow for the first funding increase to this facility in 25 years to occur in CRD’s Budget 2025.

The City of Victoria continues to review amending Bylaw No. 4561 to modernize the McPherson
Playhouse Service bylaw (see Table 1 for current status).
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Table 1. Council Consent Status for Amending Bylaws

Not yet
4560 (Royal Theatre) | Approved Approved considered Adopted
Under review
4561 (McPherson Not applicable | Not applicable Not yet by City of
Playhouse) considered Victoria

These amending bylaws remove the fixed maximum amount for each service, allowing greater
budgeting flexibility that will enable the CRD to ensure the long-term sustainability of these
facilities. This is another incremental way to scale up support for performing arts facilities.

On October 16™, 2024, the Royal and McPherson Theatres Services Advisory Committee
endorsed the staff recommendation to increase the budget of the Royal Theatre Service from
$580,000 (for the past 25 years) to $596,000 in Budget 2025.

CONCLUSION

The Performing Arts Facilities Select Committee directed CRD staff to generate options for new
sub-regional and full regional services that could scale up support for performing arts facilities
with regional impact in a way that provides value to all participating jurisdictions. CRD staff have
proposed five options, three sub-regional and two full regional, for new services as well as
recommending that the next step would be to hire an external consultant to undertake a full
analysis of these options in terms of their costs, benefits, and sustainability.

RECOMMENDATION

The Performing Arts Facilities Select Committee recommends to the CRD Board:

1. That staff initiate an RFP to engage a consultant for the purposes of undertaking a cost-
benefit analysis of the five proposed service options, in terms of their sustainability and
direct value proposition to each participating jurisdiction and to the region as a whole.

2. That the resulting report from this analysis be presented to the CRD Performing Arts
Facilities Select Committee in the first half of 2025 with recommendations on next steps.

Submitted by:|Chris Gilpin, MPA, Manager Arts & Culture

Concurrence: [Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer, GM Finance & IT
Concurrence: |Kristen Morley, J.D., General Manager, Corporate Services & Corporate Officer
Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENTS

Appendix A: Concept Paper on New Service Options to Support Performing Arts Facilities with
Regional Impact

Appendix B: Financial Estimates on New Service Options to Support Performing Arts Facilities
with Regional Impact

Appendix C: Presentation on New Service Options
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concept Paper

Topic: Options for a new Performing Arts Facilities Service

Service Area: Arts & Culture

e

Executive Summary
Staff are proposing five options for a new CRD service that would scale up support for performing arts facilities
with regional impact. One option is to revisit an updated version of the 2021 full regional policy. The other four
options include a new service delivery feature, the Theatre Rental Grants program, that would allow schools and
arts groups in participating jurisdictions to have greater access to CRD regional theatres through rental subsidies.

Recent Decisions

On September 4, 2024, PAFSC approved a motion:

That staff develop options for regional and sub-regional services that would scale up support for existing and
potential additional performing arts facilities with regional impact, including options to ensure value for all

participating jurisdictions.

The emphasis in this direction was to find new features for services that could provide tangible benefits to
participating jurisdictions beyond the existing benefit of providing cultural offerings for all to enjoy.

Options for a New CRD Performing Arts Facilities Service

Staff are proposing five options for a new service, including two full regional and three sub-regional (Table 1).
The financial implications of each approach are estimated in Appendix B.

Table 1: Overview of New Service Options

Option A Option B Option C Option D Option E
Full Regional - Full Regional - Sub-Regional - Sub-Regional - Sub-Regional -
Updated 2021 with Theatre 13 Munis / 6 Munis / 4 Munis /
Model Rental Grants 3 Theatres 3 Theatres 2 Theatres
Plan Planning Grants Planning Grants Planning Grants N/A N/A
Develop Maintenance Maintenance Maintenance Maintenance Maintenance
(Royal / Mac / (Royal / Mac / (Royal / Mac / (Royal / Mac / (Royal / Mac)
C. White) + Major | C. White) + Major | C. White) C. White)
Capital Reserve (Capital Reserve
Fund Royal / Mac / Royal / Mac / Royal / Mac / Royal / Mac / Royal / Mac
C. White C. White + Theatre | C. White + Theatre | C. White + Theatre | + Theatre Rental
Rental Grants Rental Grants Rental Grants Grants
Participants | All Al 13 municipalities | 6 municipalities 4 municipalities
Approval Full Regional AAP | Full Regional AAP | Sub-Regional AAP | Council Consent Council Consent

Royal = Royal Theatre, Mac = McPherson Playhouse, C. White = Charlie White Theatre in Sidney




Theatre Rental Grants Program

PAFSC emphasized that staff bring back new ideas that provide tangible benefits to participating jurisdictions. A
Theatre Rental Grants program could fulfill this directive, support local arts groups, and generate substantial
revenue for operating (through concessions) and capital (through building improvement fees on tickets).

/‘
-Regional Theatres have high operational costs that result in

unavoidable high labour fees for rentals.
Policy Problem =< -Rental costs have become unaffordable for many local groups.

-Fewer rentals by local groups has resulted in lower usage rates
at regional theatres, especially the McPherson Playhouse.

-Add Theatre Rental Grants program to subsidize rental costs for

local groups located in participating jurisdictions.

Policy Solution - . e
! < - Prioritize regional distribution and new users.

-Report on # of shows activated, change in usage rate (KPIs).

-More local groups have affordable access to regional theatres.

-Increased earned revenues for theatres (multipier effect).
Outcome =< (i )

-Signficantly higher usage rates at regional theatres (more
economic impact, greater variety of cultural offerings).

-

The Theatre Rental Grants program was originally proposed by external consultants in 2014 (Barlow, 2014, p.
24) and is based on a similar program delivered by the City of Vancouver that has proven to be successful in
creating higher usage rates at their civic theatres and more affordable access by local educational and arts non-
profit organizations. Also, the Theatre Rental Grant program was requested through a joint letter dated August
30, 2024 by the local arts community, including groups based in Esquimalt, Victoria, and Oak Bay.

Many local arts groups and schools have indicated they would use the Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse if
a Theatre Rental Grants program could make these facilities more affordable. In evaluating grant applications,
the priorities of a Theatre Rental Grants Program would be:

a) Regional (or sub-regional) distribution of grants (only groups in participating jurisdictions are eligible)

b) Projects that increase the usage rate at regional theatres (new applicants and new projects)

The Theatre Rental Grants program is proposed at the level of $350,000 for Options B, C, and D (where it would be
subsidizing rentals to three theatres) and at $250,000 for Option E (where it would be subsidizing two theatres).

1 Barlow, ). and Ginder, J., “A Strategic Business Planning Study for the Royal & McPherson Theatres Society”. Barlow & Associates. (December 2014).




Initial estimates are that a $350,000 program could subsidize 60-80 shows at 50-75% of the full cost of the
theatres, which has the potential to increase the number of shows by local arts and educational groups by over
200% at the three regional theatres. Similarly, a $250,000 program could subsidize 40-55 shows at 50-75% of
the full cost, which would still double the number of shows by local groups at the Royal Theatre and McPherson
Playhouse. In both scenarios (5350k or $250k), the number of local groups using the McPherson Playhouse
would increase over 300%, raising its usage rate from 25-35% to 50-700%.

The Theatre Rental Grants program would be delivered by (RD staff in collaboration with theatre operators? and
- importantly - only arts and educational organizations in participating jurisdictions could apply to this program.
For example, if Oak Bay is in the new service, then the Canadian College of Performing Arts (in Oak Bay) could
apply for productions at the McPherson to be subsidized. Conversely, schools and local arts groups who are
located in non-participating jurisdictions (in the case of a sub-regional service) would not be eligible to apply to
the Theatre Rental Grants program for subsidized access to the regional theatres included in the service.

In short: if a jurisdiction contributes to a new service with a Theatre Rental Grants program, then groups in that
jurisdiction have subsidized access to CRD regional theatres; if a jurisdiction does not contribute, then groups in
that jurisdiction must pay a much higher rate to access CRD regional theatres. This provides a direct tangible
benefit to participating jurisdictions.

Service Design Details & Rationale

OPTION A: Full Regional Performing Arts Facilities Service — Update of the 2021 Version

In 2021, the proposed Performing Arts Facilities Service responded to the Stage One Report and
Recommendations (PDF), recommending a more coordinated approach to supporting performing arts facilities
with regional impact with functions to Plan, Develop, and Support.

This version includes updated funding amounts for the Royal Theatre and Charlie White Theatre based on
information from the local governments that fund those facilities. Also, the FTE requirement has been reduced by
0.2 FTE from the original proposal due to a review of the staffing capacity of the Arts & Culture division.

e Plan: 3 planning grants function to support feasibility studies, consultations, or other planning activities.
e Develop: there are three main aspects to the Develop function:
o Major Capital Reserve: $1M/year would be allocated to a reserve fund for major capital projects,
such as new construction or large-scale redevelopment.
o Minor Capital Funding: funding for building maintenance, accessibility, and asset management
would be provided at the levels in current local government arrangements.

2 This model of delivery - local government staff collaborating with 37 party theatre operators - has proven to be feasible
and successful by the City of Vancouver's well-established Theatre Rental Grants program.



https://www.crd.bc.ca/docs/default-source/arts-pdf/stageone.pdf?sfvrsn=24503cc_6
https://www.crd.bc.ca/docs/default-source/arts-pdf/stageone.pdf?sfvrsn=24503cc_6

o 1.0 FTE would be added to the Arts & Culture Division to support the new service in coordinating
grant delivery and securing grants from senior levels of government for capital projects.
e Sypport Three existing facilities would be included in the proposed policy for operating support: the
Royal Theatre (CRD-supported), the McPherson Playhouse (CRD-supported), and the Charlie White
Theatre (supported by inter-municipal agreement between North Saanich and Sidney).

The new service would be governed by the CRD Board for the first year, while a new commission or committee
model was reviewed by Governance Committee. If a commission or committee model was recommended and
endorsed, that would be implemented in year two of the new service.

OPTION B: Full Regional Performing Arts Facilities Service — with Theatre Rental Grants
This full regional option is the same as Option A but also includes the Theatre Rental Grants program.

OPTION C: Sub-Regional Performing Arts Facilities Service - 13 Municipalities / 3 Theatres

This sub-regional option is more focused on supporting existing regional theatres. It includes the Theatre Rental
Grants program and support for all three regional theatres. However, it does not include STM/yr Major Capital
Reserve to support new builds. Planning grants would still be available for groups or municipalities looking to do
feasibility studies, consultations, or even architectural design. There is at least one group actively involved in the
planning process for a regional theatre based on the Westshore.

This option excludes the Electoral Areas from the participating area of the new service. The rationale for this is
that Electoral Areas receive significantly less benefit from existing regional theatres than municipalities do, due
to their geographic position and lack of proximity to these venues. This could change over time, depending on
where new facilities were developed.

OPTION D: Sub-Regional Performing Arts Facilities Service - 6 Municipalities / 3 Theatres
This sub-regional option is similar to Option C; however, it does not include Planning Grants and has a smaller
group of supporting municipalities, namely: Esquimalt, North Saanich, Oak Bay, Saanich, Sidney, and Victoria.

This option is mainly focused on municipalities where there is a high degree of established benefit due to
proximity supporting existing regional theatres. The Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse benefit the four
core municipalities, while Sidney and North Saanich receive the majority of the benefit from the Charlie White
Theatre.

OPTION E: Sub-Regional Performing Arts Facilities Service — 4 Municipalities / 2 Theatres

This sub-regional option is exclusively focused on supporting the two existing regional theatres that are already
part of CRD services: the Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse. This option would unify these existing
services, which have different participating areas, into a single service and add the Theatre Rental Grants
program. It would not include planning grants, a Major Capital Reserve, nor support for Charlie White Theatre.




The majority of local audience members of the Royal Theatre and of the McPherson Playhouse come from one of
the four core municipalities: Esquimalt, Oak Bay, Saanich, and Victoria. While these regional theatres provide
cultural offerings that are accessed by residents across the region, the benefit is concentrated in the jurisdictions
in closest proximity to these facilities, similar to the situation with CRD recreational facilities.

This option simplifies the governance structure and service delivery for the two biggest regional theatres, while
also significantly increasing their usage rate through the Theatre Rental Grants program. Key feature: only local
arts and educational groups in Esquimalt, Oak Bay, Saanich, and Victoria would have subsidized access to the
Royal Theatre and McPherson Playhouse through the Theatre Rental Grants program.




Appendix B

Financial Estimates on New Service Options to Support Performing Arts Facilities with Regional Impact

PLAN DEVELOP FUND COST BYLAW DESIGN
Maj Mi Th Full Regi |
Service Option Planning Ca:Ji:arl Ca;:i:)arl Minor Capital Minor Capital Staffing Operating Operating Operating Ree:tt: Total Cost . zflona Participants Approval
Grants Reserve (Royal) (McPherson) (C. White) (1.0 FTE) (Royal) (McPherson) (C. White) e Estimate Sub-Regional Process
Current Services / Status Quo SO SO $490,000 $400,000 SO SO $106,000 $350,000 SO SO $1,346,000 | Sub-Regional Mixed N/A
OPTION A: Full Regional - 2021 Model Updated $120,000 | $1,000,000 | $490,000 | $400,000 $50,000 $100,000 | $106,000 | $350,000 | $410,000 30 $3,026,000 | Full Regional All Ful iigp'onal
OPTION B: Full Regional + Theatre Rental Grants $120,000 $1,000,000 $490,000 $400,000 $50,000 $100,000 $106,000 $350,000 $410,000 $350,000 $3,376,000 | Full Regional All Ul F;Zgl::onal
OPTION C: Sub-Regional - 13 Munis / 3 Theatres $120,000 SO $490,000 $400,000 $50,000 $100,000 $106,000 $350,000 $410,000 $350,000 $2,376,000 | Sub-Regional 13 Munis Sub—'I:nglonaI
Esquimalt,
N. Saanich,
. . . Oak Bay, Council
OPTION D: Sub-Regional - 6 Munis / 3 Theatres SO SO $490,000 $400,000 $50,000 $100,000 $106,000 $350,000 $410,000 $350,000 | $2,256,000 | Sub-Regional - e
Sidney,
Victoria
Esquimalt,
. . . Oak Bay, Council
OPTION E: Sub-Regional - 4 Munis / 2 Theatres SO SO $490,000 $400,000 SO $100,000 $106,000 $350,000 SO $250,000 | $1,696,000 | Sub-Regional i N —
Victoria
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Recent CRD Board Decision

On September 11, 2024, the CRD Board adopted amending Bylaw No. 4560

COUNCIL CONSENT STATUS FOR AMENDING BYLAWS

BYLAW SAANICH OAK BAY VICTORIA RESULT

4560 (Royal Theatre) Approved Approved Not yet Adopted
considered

4561 (McPherson Playhouse) Not applicable Not applicable Not yet Under review by
considered City of Victoria



Direction from Select Committee

On September 4th, 2024, PAFSC passed a motion:

That staff develop options for regional and sub-regional services
that would scale up support for existing and potential additional
performing arts facilities with regional impact, including options to

ensure value for all participating jurisdictions.



Theatre Rental Grant Program

)

Regional Theatres have high
operating costs = unavoidable
high labour fees for rentals

Rental costs now unaffordable
for many local groups

Fewer local rentals = lower
usage rates at regional
theatres (esp. McPherson)

Subsidize rental costs for local
groups in participating areas

Prioritize regional distribution
and new users

Report on KPIs: # of shows
activated & usage rate change

)

POLICY PROBLEM POLICY SOLUTION POLICY OUTCOME

Affordable access to regional
theatres for local groups

Increased earned revenues for
theatres (multiplier effect)

Significantly higher usage

rates at regional theatres =
greater economic impact &
variety of cultural offerings



Theatre Rental Grant Program

A $350,000 program has the potential to:

/\ 0o O
= 0 o o
alala)

Subsidize Prioritize new Increase number of Win for audiences
60-80 shows rental groups local groups using all thru more shows
at 50-75% of and regional three theatres and Win for local arts
the full cost distribution in doubling the usage thru more access
with labour the grant process rate at McPherson Win for theatres

thru more revenue

@



Regional and Sub-Regional Service Options

OPTION A OPTION B OPTION C OPTIOND OPTION E

Full Regional - Full Regional - with  Sub-Regional - Sub-Regional - Sub-Regional -

Updated 2021 Model Theatre Rental Grants  13Munis /3 Theatres 6 Munis /3 Theatres 4 Munis /2 Theatres
PLAN Planning Grants Planning Grants Planning Grants N/A N/A

Maintenance Maintenance Maintenance Maintenance Maintenance

(Royal, Mac, C. White) (Royal, Mac, C. White) (Royal, Mac, C. White) (Royal, Mac, C. White) (Royal, Mac)
DEVELOP B B

Major Capital Reserve  Major Capital Reserve

Royal, Mac, C. White  Rovyal, Mac, C. White  Royal, Mac, C. White  Royal, Mac, C. White  Royal, Mac
FUND + + + +
Theatre Rental Grants Theatre Rental Grants Theatre Rental Grants Theatre Rental Grants

PARTICIPANTS  All All 13 municipalities 6 municipalities 4 core municipalities
APPROVAL Full Regional AAP Full Regional AAP Sub-Regional AAP Council Consent Council Consent

: @rdm



Staff Recommendation

1. That staff initiate an RFP to engage a consultant for the purposes of
undertaking a cost-benefit analysis of the five proposed service options,
in terms of their sustainability and direct value proposition to each
participating jurisdiction and to the region as a whole.

2. That the resulting report from this analysis be presented to the CRD
Performing Arts Facilities Select Committee in the first half of 2025 with
recommendations on next steps.
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REPORT TO PLANNING AND PROTECTIVE SERVICES COMMITTEE
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2024

SUBJECT Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning
Application RZ000284

ISSUE SUMMARY

To consider whether the proposed Bylaw No. 4598, “Shirley-Jordan River Official Community
Plan Bylaw No. 5, 2018, Amendment Bylaw No. 2, 2024“, and Bylaw No. 4599, "Juan de Fuca
Land Use Bylaw, 1992, Amendment No. 162, 2024" are consistent with the 2018 Regional Growth
Strategy (RGS).

BACKGROUND

Section 445 of the Local Government Act (LGA) requires that all bylaws adopted by a regional
district board after the board has adopted a RGS be consistent with the RGS. Since the proposal
includes an amendment to the Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan (OCP) and the Juan
de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, a determination of consistency with the RGS must be made prior to
first reading.

The 3.3 ha subject property (the “Land”) is located in the community of Jordan River on the
northern side of West Coast Road (12036 West Coast Road). The property is currently designated
Pacific Acreage (PA) in the Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan, Bylaw No. 4001 (the
“‘OCP”) and the application is to change the subdivided property to a CO (Commercial)
designation with an amendment to support smaller minimum lot sizes. The Land is zoned C-1A
Neighbourhood Commercial under the Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992, Bylaw No. 2040 (the
“Zoning Bylaw”). The Land is outside of the flood inundation area in Jordan River identified by BC
Hydro.

The applicant’s primary objective for this application is to improve the viability and access to rural
commercial land within Jordan River. The proposal includes a country market, a micro-brewery
with ancillary onsite store, and a picnic area, lounge and special events area that serves the
community, supports local tourism, and provides opportunities for local ownership of commercial
lands. The community values expressed by the OCP identify goals and objectives for servicing
rural areas, supporting local employment opportunities, and promoting opportunities for
pedestrian connectivity to reduce motor vehicle trips to address potential impacts to the
environmental and enhance local character.

For additional information, please refer to the staff report to the Juan de Fuca Land Use
Committee (JdF LUC) of Tuesday October 15, 2024 attached as Appendix A.

ALTERNATIVES

Alternative 1

The Planning and Protective Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District
Board:

That proposed Bylaw No. 4598, “Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 5, 2018,
Amendment Bylaw No. 2, 2024” and Bylaw No. 4599, “Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992,
Amendment No. 162, 2024” be considered in relation to the 2018 Regional Growth Strategy
(Bylaw No. 4017) and be accepted in accordance with the requirements of section 445 of the

PPS/RSP-2024-15



Planning and Protective Services Committee — October 16, 2024
Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application
RZ000284

Local Government Act.

Alternative 2

The Planning and Protective Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District
Board:

That proposed Bylaw No. 4598, “Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 5, 2018,
Amendment Bylaw No. 2, 2024” and Bylaw No. 4599, “Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992,
Amendment No. 162, 2024” be considered in relation to the 2018 Regional Growth Strategy
(Bylaw No. 4017) and not be accepted in accordance with the requirements of section 445 of the
Local Government Act.

Alternative 3
That this report be referred back to staff for additional information based on Planning and
Protective Services Committee direction.

IMPLICATIONS

Alignment with Board & Corporate Priorities

Capital Regional District (CRD) Corporate priority 8a is focused on managed growth, keeping
approved plans current and monitoring for effectiveness. In the Juan de Fuca Electoral Area, this
includes reviewing referrals of proposed OCP amendments and assessing for RGS consistency.
This is an important part of ensuring ongoing effectiveness of growth management in the region.

Climate Implications

The proposed commercial development will improve access to rural commercial land within
Jordan River. The proposal also includes a village gathering place that serves the community,
supports local tourism, and provides opportunities for local ownership of commercial lands. The
proposed development has the potential for a reduction in car trips for local residents who would
otherwise need to drive to more distant locations for shopping and recreation.

Environmental Implications

On March 19, 2024 the JdF LUC received a staff report that included an environmental
assessment and preliminary groundwater assessment. These studies can be found in Appendix A
of this report.

A Qualified Environmental Professional (QEP) confirmed that there are no wetlands or
watercourses on the land or within 50m of its boundaries. It was also determined that the property
does not occur within or in proximity to a Riparian Assessment Area or a Riparian Development
Permit Area.

The initial proposal included a groundwater study; however, comments received from Pacheedaht
First Nation (PFN) expressed concern regarding potential impacts to local water availability with
particular interest in Bliss Spring. In response, the applicant submitted an additional groundwater
study. The supplementary assessment focused on quantity and quality testing from the well to be
used by the brewery, which is located at an elevation above Bliss Spring. Anticipating that the
brewery will likely have the highest water demand, findings from this assessment confirmed that
the immediate aquifer is capable of meeting a maximum potential demand of 350,000 litres per
year. Additional information can be found in Appendix B of this report.

PPS/RSP-2024-15



Planning and Protective Services Committee — October 16, 2024
Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application
RZ000284

First Nations Implications

The subject property is located within the asserted traditional territory of the Pacheedaht and
T’'Sou-ke First Nations and each Nation was invited to participate in the land use review process
to better inform consideration of the proposal.

PFN stated concerns on potential impacts to the delivery of emergency services and the aquifer
that the local area relies on. The PFN encouraged the applicant to respond by providing
information on the Bliss Spring water resource and address pedestrian accessibility to the site.

T’Sou-ke First Nation is to be informed and involved in any archaeological findings identified
during the construction on the property and that an archaeological chance and find procedure
should be implemented during the construction.

Regional Growth Strategy Implications

CRD Regional Planning staff have reviewed the proposed OCP amendment and Land Use Bylaw
amendment and believe that they are consistent with the 2018 Regional Growth Strategy.

RGS Objective 1.1 — Managing and Balancing Growth, provides a description of regional land use
designations including that of the Rural/Rural Residential Policy Area that applies for the property
in question. This definition states that: “Commercial uses are local serving and such uses and
other employment opportunities result in minimal impact on the surrounding community and to
the environment. Low-impact tourism uses complement rural character.”

The application aligns with this definition of rural commercial uses as it will be primarily serving
the local community while providing employment opportunities. While not intended to become
future urban areas requiring extensive services, commercial uses serving the local community by
providing employment opportunities in a rural context can be supported if impacts to the local
community and environment are minimal.

RGS Objective 1.2 — Protect the Integrity of Rural Communities, seeks to avoid the creation of
future urban areas through development that complement rural form, density, and character. The
application proposes onsite well and septic systems, which support a rural scale of development
rather than an urban scale seen in neighbouring incorporated communities where community
level services are available. The proposed rural servicing will require permitting and licensing at
the time of development.

RGS Objective 5.1 — Realize the Region’s Economic Potential, includes the economic
development consideration to: “/Find] ways to expand and diversify the economy of formerly
resource-dependent communities in Sooke and the Juan de Fuca Electoral Area, such as through
low-impact recreation and tourism.” The proposed land use aligns with this objective.

CROD staff are of the opinion that the proposed OCP amendment is consistent with the direction
provided by the RGS, and that this application does not alter the Shirley-Jordan River OCP’s work
towards the overall goals and objectives expressed by the community’s long-term collective
vision. The amendment does not impact the OCP’s alignment with the RGS.

Service Implications

Implications for CRD services are not expected as the land is not located within community water,
sewer or fire protection local service areas. Covenant CA5916759 is registered on the title of the
property and requires that all buildings and structures be equipped with an automatic sprinkler
system that fully meets the requirements of the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA).

PPS/RSP-2024-15



Planning and Protective Services Committee — October 16, 2024
Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan Amendment and Rezoning Application
RZ000284

Social Implications

Should the proposal proceed, a public hearing pursuant to Part 14, Division 3 of the LGA will be
required subsequent to the amendment passing second reading by the CRD Board. Property
owners within 500m of the subject property will be sent notice of the proposed bylaw amendment
and a public hearing will be advertised in the local paper and on the CRD website.

CONCLUSION

The purpose of Bylaw Nos. 4598 and 4599 is to amend the Shirley-Jordan River Official
Community Plan, Bylaw No. 4001, by redesignating a 3.3 ha portion of the subject property from
Pacific Acreage (PA) to Commercial (CO) with amendments, and amend the Wildwood Terrace
Neighbourhood Commercial (C-1A) zone of the Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992, Bylaw
No. 2040, by permitting additional commercial uses and a smaller average and minimum parcel
size to facilitate subdivision. The proposed bylaws are consistent with the RGS.

RECOMMENDATION

The Planning and Protective Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District
Board:

That proposed Bylaw No. 4598, “Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 5, 2018,
Amendment Bylaw No. 2, 2024” and Bylaw No. 4599, “Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992,
Amendment No. 162, 2024” be considered in relation to the 2018 Regional Growth Strategy
(Bylaw No. 4017) and be accepted in accordance with the requirements of section 445 of the
Local Government Act.

Submitted by:|Patrick Klassen, RPP, MCIP, Senior Manager, Regional Planning
Concurrence: |Kevin Lorette, P. Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services
Concurrence: | Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer

ATTACHMENT

Appendix A: Staff Report to the Juan de Fuca Land Use Committee of Tuesday October 15,
2024: Zoning Bylaw & Official Community Plan Amendment Application for Lot A
Section 4 Renfrew District Plan EPP131465; PID: 032-229-046

PPS/RSP-2024-15



Appendix A

REPORT TO THE JUAN DE FUCA LAND USE COMMITTEE
MEETING OF TUESDAY, OCTOBER 15, 2024

SUBJECT Zoning Bylaw & Official Community Plan Amendment Application for Lot A
Section 4 Renfrew District Plan EPP131465; PID: 032-229-046

ISSUE SUMMARY

The landowner has submitted an application to redesignate a 3.3 ha portion of the subject property from
the Pacific Acreage to the Commercial land use designation and amend the Commercial designation
policies; and to amend the Wildwood Terrace Neighbourhood Commercial (C-1A) zone to permit additional
commercial uses and facilitate subdivision.

BACKCROUND

The 3.3 ha subject property (the “Land”) is located in the community of Jordan River on the northern side
of West Coast Road. The Land is zoned C-1A under the Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992, Bylaw
No. 2040 (the “Zoning Bylaw”) (Appendix A). The property is currently designated Pacific Acreage in the
Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan, Bylaw No. 4001 (the “OCP”) and is subject to the Commercial
and Industrial development permit (DP) area. The Land is not located within community water, sewer or fire
protection local service areas. Covenant CA5916759 is registered on the title of the property and requires
that all buildings and structures be equipped with an automatic sprinkler system that fully meets the
requirements of the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA).

The Land was the subject of a zoning bylaw amendment in 2021 to adjust the WT-4/C-1A zone boundary
and permit a country market and micro-brewery with ancillary onsite store, picnic area, lounge and special
event area. Development permit DP000378 was approved and in October 2022, and is awaiting issuance
to address the form and character of a proposed microbrewery.

The landowner (the “applicant”) has submitted an application to amend the C-1A zone for the purpose of
permitting a subdivision to create a commercial bare land strata and to include additional neighbourhood
commercial uses with changes to the siting and development requirements. The application includes an
OCP amendment to remove the 3.3 ha lands from the PA designation, which primarily supports rural
residential, agricultural and small-scale neighbourhood commercial uses, and add it to the Commercial
designation with an amendment to support smaller minimum lot sizes. At its meeting of March 19, 2024,
the Juan de Fuca Land Use Committee (the “LUC”) recommended referral of proposed Bylaw No. 4598 &
4599 to the Shirley-Jordan River Advisory Planning Commission (the “APC”); CRD departments;
Pacheedaht First Nation; T'Sou-ke First Nation; BC Hydro; BC Parks; District of Sooke; Island Health; the
Ministry of Forests — Archaeology Branch; Ministry of Water, Land and Resource Stewardship — Water
Protection Section; Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure; RCMP; and the Sooke School District # 62.

In response to the comments received during the referral process the applicant has modified the setbacks
in the amendments proposed for the C1-A zone (Appendix B) to provide space for a public trail offered as
a community amenity contribution. The applicant has also updated the concept plan (Appendix C) and
provided a subdivision plan from SU000770 (Appendix D), an environmental assessment (Appendix E),
and a groundwater assessment to supplement the initial report (Appendix F). The proposal includes a
village gathering place that serves the community, supports local tourism, and provides opportunities for
local ownership of commercial lands. Staff have prepared Bylaw No. 4598 for the proposed amendments
to the OCP (Appendix G) and Bylaw No. 4599 for the proposed amendments to the C1-A zone
(Appendix H) in accordance with the applicant’s proposal.
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ALTERNATIVEDS

Alternative 1

The Land Use Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

1. That the referral of proposed Bylaw No. 4598, “Shirley - Jordan River Official Community Plan Bylaw
No. 5, 2018, Amendment Bylaw No. 2, 2024"; and proposed Bylaw No. 4599, “Juan de Fuca Land Use
Bylaw, 1992, Amendment Bylaw No. 162, 2024"; to the Shirley-Jordan River Advisory Planning
Commission; Pacheedaht First Nation; T'Sou-ke First Nation; CRD departments; BC Hydro; BC Parks;
District of Sooke; Island Health; Ministry of Forests — Archaeology Branch; Ministry of Water, Land and
Resource Stewardship — Water Protection Section; Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure; RCMP;
and Sooke School District # 62 be approved and comments be received,;

2. That proposed Bylaw No. 4598 be read a first and second time;

3. That proposed Bylaw No. 4599 be read a first and second time;

4. That in accordance with the provisions of Section 469 of the Local Government Act, the Director of the
Juan de Fuca Electoral Area, or Alternate Director, be delegated authority to hold a Public Hearing with
respect to Bylaw No. 4598 and Bylaw No. 4599;

5. That prior to the adoption of proposed Bylaw No. 4599, the landowner provides an amenity contribution
by registering a statutory right-of-way adjacent to West Coast Road in favour of the Capital Regional
District for the purpose of establishing a public trail; and that staff be directed to ensure that all
conditions are satisfied towards completion and registration.

Alternative 2

The Land Use Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board:

That proposed Bylaw No. 4598, “Shirley - Jordan River Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 5, 2018,
Amendment Bylaw No. 2, 2024"; and proposed Bylaw No. 4599, “Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992,
Amendment Bylaw No. 162, 2024” not proceed.

IMPLICATIONDS
Legislative Implications

The APCs were established to make recommendations to the Land Use Committee on land use planning
matters referred to them related to Part 14 of the Local Government Act (LGA). The Shirley-Jordan River
APC considered the application at its meeting on April 23, 2024.

Should the proposal proceed, a public hearing pursuant to Part 14, Division 3 of the LGA will be required
subsequent to the amendment passing second reading by the CRD Board. Property owners within 500 m
of the subject property will be sent notice of the proposed bylaw amendment and a public hearing will be
advertised in the local paper and on the CRD website.

Regional Growth Strategy Implications

The RGS designates the subject property as Rural/Rural Residential, which includes lands used for rural
and rural residential purpose. While not intended to become future urban areas requiring extensive
services, commercial uses serving the local community by providing employment opportunities in a rural
context can be supported if impacts to the local community and environment are minimal.

Section 445 of the LGA requires that all bylaws adopted by a regional district board after the board has
adopted a regional growth strategy (RGS) be consistent with the RGS. Since the proposal includes an
amendment to the OCP, the bylaw will be considered by the Planning and Protective Services Committee
and the CRD Board for determination of consistency with the RGS prior to first reading.

First Nations Implications

The subject property is located within the asserted traditional territory of the Pacheedaht and T'Sou-ke First
Nations. Each nation was invited to participate in an application review process with staff and the applicant
to better inform consideration of the proposal.

Referral Comments

Referrals were sent to 12 agencies, CRD departments, Juan de Fuca Electoral Area Parks and Recreation
Advisory Commission and to the Shirley — Jordan River APC. Comments received are summarized below
and included in Appendix I.
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Pacheedaht First Nation stated concerns on potential impacts to the delivery of emergency services and
the aquifer that the local area relies on. The PFN encouraged the applicant to respond by providing
information on the Bliss Spring water resource and address pedestrian accessibility to the site.

T'Sou-ke First Nation requested to be informed and involved in any archaeological findings identified during
the construction on the property and that an archaeological chance-find procedure should be implemented
during the construction.

The RCMP expressed that they had no comments or concerns on the proposal.

Ministry of Forests - Archaeology Branch stated that there are no known archaeological sites recorded on
the subject property, and there is no available modelling for archaeological potential in the immediate area.
Should archaeological or cultural features be identified during construction, a permit under the Heritage
Conservation Act will be required.

Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure stated that they have no objections or concerns. However, the
proposed bylaws will require Ministry approval in accordance with Section 52 the Transportation Act.

CRD First Nations Relations stated that while there are registered archaeological sites within ~570 m of the
property, a Provincial Heritage Conservation Act permit is not required prior to development. However, First
Nations Relations explained that there could be significant delays in acquiring a permit if archaeological
deposits, features, or materials are identified during development, and recommended prior consultation
with a qualified professional Archaeologist.

CRD Protective Services confirmed that the subject property is not located within a fire service area and
acknowledged the sprinkler fire suppression covenant registered on title.

The Juan de Fuca Community Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission reviewed the application at its
meeting on April 23, 2024, and provided the following recommendation by resolution:

MOVED by Commissioner McAndrews, SECONDED by Commissioner Sloan that the Juan de Fuca
Electoral Area Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission state to the Juan de Fuca Land Use Committee
that the Commission’s interests are affected by the proposal (RZ000284) and that the Commission supports
the continued safe trail connectivity and recreation in the community including connecting backcountry trails
and active transportation routes.

The Shirley-Jordan River Advisory Planning Commission met on April 23, 2024, to consider the application
with 14 members of the public in attendance and made the following motion:

MOVED by Fiona McDannold, SECONDED by Vivi Curutchet that the Shirley-Jordan River Advisory
Planning Commission recommends to the Juan de Fuca Land Use Committee support for Zoning and
Official community Plan Amendment application RZ000284.

Official Community Plan Context and Policy Implications

The applicant’s primary objective for this application is to improve the viability of and access to rural
commercial land within Jordan River. The Shirley-Jordan River OCP designates the subject property as
Pacific Acreage, which supports 2.0 ha residential parcels, agriculture uses, and small-scale neighborhood
commercial activities. In order to support an average lot size of 0.4 ha and a minimum of 0.2 ha, this
application proposes an OCP amendment to redesignate the subject property from Pacific Acreage to
Commercial, and to update the corresponding policies. The proponent’s land use analysis provided during
the initial application (Appendix J) suggested that the proposed C-1A zone amendments are better suited
to Commercial designation, which supports small-scale commercial; civic, institutional, tourism, recreation,
silviculture; community parks; and light industrial uses. However, the Commercial designation currently
ap